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COSH was first established in 1987. It is a statutory body vested with functions, as set
out in the “Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health Ordinance” (Cap. 389), to protect
and improve the health of the community by:

1. Informing and educating the public on the harm of smoking and its adverse effects
on health;

2. Conducting and coordinating research into the cause, prevention and cure of
tobacco dependence;

3. Advising the Government, community health organizations or any public body on
matters relating to smoking and health.

Under such a charter, COSH has taken up the role as an active player and commentator
on all issues relating to tobacco control. We aim to act within our charter in response
to the changing local environment as it affects the promotion of tobacco and the

epidemic caused by smoking.
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Mr Antonio KWONG, a qualified solicitor, is a
businessman. He joined COSH in 2009 and was
appointed as COSH Chairman in 2014. He is the
Chairman of the Information & Research Committee
and Legislation Committee, and also a member of the
Executive Committee, Community Liaison Committee
and Education & Publicity Committee.
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Ms Yolanda NG Yuen-ting, MH
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Ms Yolanda NG is currently an eCommerce Director
and actively involved in public services and community
cultural groups. She joined COSH in 2008 and is the
Chairman of the Executive Committee and Community
Liaison Committee, and also a member of the Education
& Publicity Committee, Information & Research
Committee and Legislation Committee.
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Dr Amy CHIU is the Controller,
Regulatory Affairs of Department of
Health. She joined COSH as an ex-
officio member in 2018.

Z 8 Member
EWiEELE
Dr Tony HA King-hang
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Dr Tony HA is the Chief Manager of
Primary and Community Services,
Hospital Authority. He joined COSH in
2019.
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Ms Ada HO is an entrepreneur, she
founded a social enterprise and non-
profit organization. She joined COSH
in 2014 and is a member of the
Education & Publicity Committee.
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Dr Daniel HO is an Associate Professor
in the School of Public Health, The
University of Hong Kong. He joined
COSH in 2017 and is a member of
the Education & Publicity Committee,
Community Liaison Committee,
Information & Research Committee
and Legislation Committee.
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Ms HSU Siu-man
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WUFENMAZEES  BAHER
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Ms HSU Siu-man is the Coordinator
(Services) and a registered social
worker in youth organization.
She joined COSH in 2014 and is a
member of the Education & Publicity
Committee.
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Dr David LAM Tzit-yuen
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Dr David LAM is a surgeon and the
Vice President of The Hong Kong
Medical Association. He joined COSH
in 2018 and is a member of the
Community Liaison Committee.
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Dr Haston LIU is a dentist and also the
Immediate Past President of Hong
Kong Dental Association. He joined
COSH in 2018 and is a member of the
Education & Publicity Committee.

Z & Member

HEAEBE
Dr Loletta SO Kit-ying
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Dr Loletta SO is a Consultant in
Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern
Hospital. She joined COSH in 2018
and is a member of the Education &
Publicity Committee and Information
& Research Committee.

ZE N # Members of COSH

Z 8 Member

B8 L E MH K E M+t
Mr Teddy TANG
Chun-keung, MH, JP
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Mr Teddy TANG is a secondary school
principal and the Chairman of The
Hong Kong Association of the Heads
of Secondary Schools. He joined
COSH in 2018 and is a member of the
Education & Publicity Committee.
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Mr Henry TONG is the Managing
Director of an enterprise and the
Chairman of Committee on Home-
School Co-operation. He joined
COSH in 2018 and is a member of the
Education & Publicity Committee and
Information & Research Committee.
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Mr Richard TSANG Lap-ki
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REHEREBEZESERM
TRZEEEZES -

Mr Richard TSANG is the Chairman of
a public relations consultancy group.
He joined COSH in 2016 and is the
Chairman of the Education & Publicity
Committee and also a member of the
Executive Committee.
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Dr Stewart TUNG Yuk, JP

BIREEIR AT BN
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Dr Stewart TUNG is a Consultant in
Tuen Mun Hospital. He joined COSH
in 2018 and is a member of the
Education & Publicity Committee.
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BIZR > M2018FEMAZESE
BEEARAREZESEZE -

Dr Kelvin WANG is the Associate
Professor in the School of Nursing,
The University of Hong Kong. He
joined COSH in 2018 and is a member
of the Information & Research
Committee.

Z & Member
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Ms Sandy WONG
Hang-yee, JP
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NB e FZETR207EMAZE
g RAHAREBEZESTEN

Ms Sandy WONG is Consultant Solicitor
at a law firm and the Past President
of Hong Kong Federation of Women
Lawyers. Ms Wong is actively involved
in public service. She joined COSH in
2017 and is a member of the Education
& Publicity Committee and Legislation
Committee.

ZE N # Members of COSH
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Prof Samuel WONG
Yeung-shan
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(HB) R204FNMAZESE -
RAEAMMREESES -

Prof Samuel WONG is the Director
of The Jockey Club School of Public
Health and Primary Care, and also
the Associate Dean (Education) of
Faculty of Medicine of The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He joined
COSH in 2014 and is a member
of the Information & Research
Committee.
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Protecting public health has topped the priority list of Hong Kong
Council on Smoking and Health (“COSH”) over the past three
decades. Targeting different sectors of the society, we publicized
the hazards of tobacco and encouraged smokers to quit smoking
through publicity and education programmes. Following the
achievements of last year, COSH continued our unremitting
efforts on promotion of harms of alternative smoking products
in view of their rapid global growth. COSH also collaborated with
various sectors to advocate the Government and the Legislative
Council for strengthening the tobacco control policies including a
total ban on alternative smoking products to avoid the epidemic.
This year, the global pandemic of Coronavirus Disease 2019
(COVID-19) posed serious threats on public health. COSH stepped
up the publicity works on health risks of using tobacco products
to raise public awareness on virus prevention and encourage
smoking cessation. We worked together to fight against the virus
and build a smoke-free city.

EfE REERE MH
Antonio KWONG Cho-shing, MH
Chairman
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FEEHRE Chairman’s Report

Hong Kong is one of the regions with the lowest smoking rate
in the world. The gradual decrease in the smoking rate since the
early 1980s is the result of effective tobacco control measures
and great efforts of various sectors of the society over the
years. However, we must be united, remain vigilant and speed
up tobacco control development to encounter the emerging
threats posed by the tobacco industry, in order to contain the
proliferation of tobacco use and safeguard public health.

According to the latest Thematic Household Survey Report No. 70
of the Census and Statistics Department, the prevalence of daily
cigarette smokers aged 15 or above in 2019 was 10.2% which
is equivalent to around 637,900 persons, a slight increase from
10.0% in 2017. Besides, the survey also revealed that the numbers
of people using electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes) and heat-
not-burn (HNB) tobacco products increased significantly. It was
alarming that a school-based survey on smoking conducted
by the School of Public Health of The University of Hong Kong
revealed some primary and secondary school students who have
never smoked had ever used these products and started smoking.
In this regard, the efforts in curbing the tobacco epidemic
must continue to be strengthened. In the previous year, COSH
launched various innovative programmes via multiple channels
to spread smoke-free messages to all walks of life.

L/}
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BRARZREZEREEDRENE T £8
SR2019FEM EZ200 R BEZREMN] 2
EHESE BP0 5ERWEHERE -
WEFFE K2 HEERRAERFERE
BT)\5 [ RHREE | SBEREE - HiE 7,000
SR FEMETEMNBAERENZTE
o BEEERMNRESEREEMAM - FI]
MERYBF2ERLZEREER - TEQ/NE
RFIT3E - BB R [ BZE2.0]Facebook & & [A]
NRANTBERE S EEREE & A fE F R R R
EBHEENRR  (REETRAONMLEEERR

o ZESTELMBEMEEREH [RE
BEAE WiEt] RIRUEE - & - BE] > Al

EEERBEEERNEBEMMAEREALR
HREALTHRRABREERNBEE - KEH
PHBHR (@] [HFE] & [E] TP
ANEEEmR  BEREEMNLE -

AELTFEUNEHRERENESSEHE -
Z B 25 2019 F 2020 FE S B &7 {2 5 A H R
AR IR EZIE - WA [ EEF s ] AEE -
B —EENEEEREIDEESETL - &
F@BLE¥s EREEMMENEEEY
RETMRBEMEEEER  UEBIIEWREA
TEBREFELZTEELEEING  HEHE
RIRBEATHE  BESEHEE([FAE] &
BEGHIBS0MAR - EBUNMAL - Bt - 2
REBEBEKAEIERM - XI5 T#1,500%4
MEMAK A [EEFEE| €8 EP[—A
— B E 0 Duck ] JESNE BB 2HE 70/ N2 B
R R EBIE15000N2EER  BEE
CEEREEEEE—HAE -

To enhance public awareness on the hazards of alternative
smoking products, COSH introduced “Smoking Hazards 2.0"
Health Education and Publicity Programme in 2019. Around 20
roving health promotion exhibitions were held and eight sessions
of health seminars were conducted for secondary schools,
universities, social centres and public health organizations.
The latest information on the hazards, misleading claims and
marketing strategies of e-cigarettes and HNB tobacco products
were shared among some 7,000 citizens to solicit their support for
a total ban. A designated Facebook page “Smoking Hazards 2.0"
was set up to inform public on the risks and myths, as well as to
enhance the online interaction with mass public.

Besides, two new Announcements in the Public Interest (APIs)
were launched. “Smoking Harms. Don't be Cheated!” revealed the
promotional tactics of tobacco industry targeting both smokers
and non-smokers on using alternative smoking products. Another
APl “Quit and Go for a New Life" reminded public that all forms
of smoking products are hazardous to health and encouraged
citizens to "cut off’, “let go” and “break up” with tobacco to live
smoke-free.

Following the success of the publicity campaign on replacing
smoking by doing exercises last year, COSH launched a publicity
programme with the theme of “Smoke-free Channel”in 2019-
2020. The programme aimed to encourage people developing
healthy hobbies to replace smoking behavior and remind them
to stay away from all forms of tobacco. The public could share
smoke-free messages with family and friends as well as support
smokers to kick the habit through various activities such as
street promotion, short videos, online platform and promotional
events organized by different schools and organizations. More
than 50 companies, non-governmental organizations, hospitals,
schools and organizations supported the programme and over
1,500 people joined the “Smoke-free Channel”. “Share Smoke-free
Messages Together with B.Duck” Activity received overwhelming
response and attracted more than 15,000 entries from 70 primary

schools.
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FEEHRE Chairman’s Report

To enhance social awareness and create a supporting atmosphere
for smoking cessation, COSH collaborated with the School of
Nursing and School of Public Health, The University of Hong
Kong to launch the 10" “Quit to Win" Smoke-free Community
Campaign. With the support of the 18 District Councils and
district organizations, around 140 community-based recruitment
and promotional activities were held across the territory, reached
about 55,000 citizens and recruited more than 1,000 smokers to
join the smoking cessation contest. Winners of the contest shared
their successful quit stories in videos, interviews and events as
ambassadors and inspired smokers to strengthen their quit will.

Meanwhile, COSH organized the “Hong Kong Smoke-free
Leading Company Awards 2019 (the Awards), together with the
Occupational Safety and Health Council and Radio 1 of Radio
Television Hong Kong. Over 80 major commerce chambers
and associations supported and encouraged corporates to
strengthen their roles in promoting a smoke-free culture and
assisting their employees and members of the public to live
smoke-free. The Awards scaled a new height with more than 530
companies participating, over 130,000 employees from a wide
variety of industries were benefited, including banking, property
management, retail, logistics, transportation, construction and
government departments, etc.

L/}
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To further reduce the smoking rate in Hong Kong, preventing
smoking uptake among children and teenagers is as critical as
encouraging current smokers to quit. COSH was devoted in
smoke-free education for children and teenagers to reject the
first cigarette. Over the past two decades, the “School Interactive
Education Theatre Programme” had delivered over 2,000
performances reaching about 570,000 students and teachers.
In the school year of 2019 to 2020, the programme was co-
organized by the Education Bureau and supported by Ocean Park
Hong Kong. COSH introduced a brand-new drama “Smoke-free
Detective Adventure”in collaboration with iStage Theatre. During
the school suspension due to the epidemic of COVID-19, COSH
echoed “Suspending Classes without Suspending Learning” by
launching an online version of the drama performance with an
interactive learning platform which allowed primary students to
enrich their smoke-free knowledge and motivated them to share
the messages with their families.

With about 200 teenagers enrolled, the “Smoke-free Teens
Programme” 2019-2020 provided trainings on tobacco control,
the harms of smoking, leadership and project management skills
for teenagers through workshops, training camps and summer
internship. Afterwards, the trained Smoke-free Teens organized
about 60 innovative activities in schools and community to spread
smoke-free messages. In addition, “Smoke-free New Generation”
health talks were conducted in more than 80 kindergartens,
primary schools and secondary schools during the school year of
2019 to 2020 and attended by over 15,000 students.

To accommodate the needs of senior citizens, COSH continued
the “Elderly Smoking Cessation Promotion Project”in 2019-2020.
Through health talks, workshops, media promotion and “Smoke-
free Elderly Ambassadors’, the importance of living smoke-free
was disseminated to some 2,000 elderlies. They were encouraged
to share the messages with family and friends.
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FEEHRE Chairman’s Report

COSH had serious concerns on the alternative smoking
products available in the market in recent years and welcomed
the Government’s proposal of the Smoking (Public Health)
(Amendment) Bill 2019 (the Bill) for a total ban on these products.
COSH had been actively lobbying the Legislative Council and
different sectors of the community for support by hosting press
conference with local and international tobacco control experts,
organizing a joint rally, and also initiating a signatory campaign
with various medical associations, tobacco control organizations,
academia and non-governmental organizations. Over 110,000
signatures were collected in supporting the Bill. COSH expressed
deep regret and disappointment at the decision of the Bills
Committee to discontinue its scrutiny work on the Bill. However,
the related advocacy works and media coverage aroused public
awareness on the issue. COSH would continue to strengthen
publicity and education as well as solicit public support until the
Government resumes the legislation work.

Notwithstanding the challenges ahead, Hong Kong must take
a bold step in tobacco control and carry out decisive measures
to further reduce the smoking prevalence to a single digit. A
blueprint and time schedule should be set for the Tobacco
Endgame goal. At last, | would like to express my deepest
gratitude to COSH Council members for their active involvement
and the Secretariat staff for their hard work throughout the year.
| would also like to thank the Government, public organizations,
academia and education institutes, district and non-governmental
organizations, media and the mass public for their usual support
in tobacco control. We will continue our efforts and unite every
sector in the community to ban smoking completely and strive
for a smoke-free Hong Kong. We wish everyone good health in
Hong Kong.
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Prevent Hazards of Alternative Smoking
Products via Education and Publicity
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To curb the spread of alternative smoking products in Hong Kong, COSH had
been advocating for a total ban on electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes) since
2015. The Government put forward the Smoking (Public Health) (Amendment)
Bill 2019 (the Bill) to prohibit the import, manufacture, sale, distribution and
advertisement of alternative smoking products including e-cigarettes, heat-
not-burn (HNB) tobacco products and herbal cigarettes, which demonstrated
the Government'’s determination to safeguard public health. Through multi-
pronged measures, COSH raised public awareness on alternative smoking
products and united different sectors to support the legislation. In 2019 to 2020,
COSH stepped up efforts on education and promotion to publicize the harms
of alternative smoking products in the community. The “Smoking Hazards 2.0
Health Education and Publicity Programme was launched and a designated
Facebook page “Smoking Hazards 2.0" was set up. While the latest information
on the hazards of alternative smoking products, misleading claims and
marketing strategy of tobacco industry were shared, COSH targeted to educate
the public especially the youth and keep them away from all kinds of tobacco
products, as well as solicit their support for a total ban on alternative smoking
products.
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Educate the Children and Youth to Stay Away
from Mutated Tobacco Harms

According to the Thematic Household Survey Report No. 70
released by Census and Statistics Department, there were more
than 20,000 daily users of e-cigarettes and HNB tobacco products,
which is equivalent to 3.2% of daily smokers and a 2.5-fold
increase as compared to 2017. Besides, a school-based survey on
smoking was conducted by the School of Public Health of The
University of Hong Kong during October 2018 to July 2019. It was
found that the ever use rates of HNB tobacco products among
primary school students and secondary school students were
0.8% and 2.3% respectively, while the ever use rates of e-cigarettes
were 1.4% and 7.7%. The above figures reflected the alarming
situation of market penetration by the alternative smoking
products in Hong Kong. COSH worried that these products
would renormalize smoking beahviour and become a gateway
to smoking for children and youth. Smokers are also exposed to a
wider range of choices instead of considering smoking cessation
which is a major setback in public health.

Alternative smoking products have novel designs and trendy
packaging. For instance, e-cigarettes are marketed with over
10,000 flavours like candy, fruits and mint which create an illusion
of harm reduction that appeal to curious teenagers as these
flavours dilute the bitterness of conventional cigarettes. Sellers
are selling e-cigarettes and HNB tobacco products in popular
places among youth such as shopping malls, consignment
stores and social media platforms. They are labelled as “adjustable
intensity”, “healthier choice’, “/multiple flavors’, and “no nicotine
and non-addictive” By sponsoring young influencers or celebrities
and creating a buzz on social media with videos, photos and
messages using e-cigarettes and HNB tobacco products, tobacco
industry markets these products as trendy items to attract non-
smokers especially teenagers for the first attempt.
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If the youth starts the smoking habit, or being dependent on
nicotine, they would be more likely to smoke conventional
cigarettes. Researches showed that if teenagers had ever used
e-cigarettes, their possibility of smoking conventional cigarettes
would be four times higher than never smokers of e-cigarettes,
becoming a gateway to smoking. Some of the alternative
smoking products look like stationery or high-tech gadgets which
are easy to hide or have less smoke, parents and teachers may not
be aware of usage among students which tempted them to try.

Therefore, COSH launched a series of education programmes
to reveal the hazards of alternative smoking products on
children and youth. Health seminars of “Smoking Hazards 2.0"
Health Education and Publicity Programme were conducted
for secondary schools and universities to introduce the harms
and global prevalence of using e-cigarettes and HNB tobacco
products. The seminars also informed students on the deceptive
tactics deployed by tobacco industry and welcomed social
workers, parents and community organizations to join in order
to raise their awareness and prevent the youth from uptaking. A
set of online teaching kit, including a teaching plan, PowerPoint,
worksheets and game sheets are available for download. This set
of resources is specially designed for educators to provide useful
information on the health risks of alternative smoking products
for the public, especially among the young generation.

Meanwhile, COSH also penetrated the related information into
different education and publicity programmes, such as the health
talks for “Smoke-free New Generation”, the “School Interactive
Education Theatre Programme” and the “Smoke-free Teens
Programme”. Students from kindergartens, primary schools and
secondary schools were equipped with knowledge on the health
risks associated with e-cigarettes and HNB tobacco products to deter
them from lighting the first cigarette. They were also encouraged
to spread the smoke-free messages among their families, peers and
mass public to raise awareness in the community.
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Promotion on the Mutation of Smoking
Hazards to Debunk Misleading Claims

World Health Organization emphasizes that there is no safe and
harmless tobacco product in the world. To downplay the health
risks and re-normalize smoking behavior, alternative smoking
products are marketed as “healthier’, “less harmful” or “harmless”.
In fact, these products release detrimental chemicals and
carcinogenic substances. Compare to conventional cigarettes,
an increasing number of researches found similar or even more
detrimental chemicals in alternative smoking products and
contain higher levels for certain chemicals that cause serious
health consequences, such as cardiovascular and respiratory
diseases.

As teenagers’ brain development is yet to be completed, they
are at higher risk of nicotine dependence that hinders their brain
development. In the US, where surge of e-cigarette use among
the youth, more than several thousands people had suffered
from e-cigarette or vaping product use associated lung injury, a
few tens of deaths also reported. Harms of alternative smoking
products should not be underrated. The medical profession
reaffirms that there is no safety level for exposure to carcinogenic
and harmful substances. Alternative smoking products are just
the mutation and continuation of conventional cigarettes.

In order to clarify the misleading claims and marketing strategy of
tobacco industry, as well as share the latest information about the
smoking hazards of e-cigarettes and HNB tobacco products with
the mass public, roving health promotion exhibitions of “Smoking
Hazards 2.0"Health Education and Publicity Programme were held
in shopping malls and the community. Public was invited to color
the smoke-free drawing and share on social media as a pledge to
say no to all forms of tobacco products through digital interactive
paper drawing game. They were encouraged to motivate family
and friends to live tobacco free.
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A designated Facebook page “Smoking Hazards 2.0" was created
to share the latest news and facts on alternative smoking
products, clarify the misconception, and reveal the tobacco
industry’s interference on public health and tobacco control
policies in an interactive and humorous way. The page also
fostered communications and interaction with the general public.

Two new Announcements in Public Interest (APIs) titled “Smoking
Harms. Don't be Cheated!” and “Quit and Go for a New Life"
were also launched by COSH in 2019 to raise public awareness
on the industry’s promotional tactics of alternative smoking
products targeting both smokers and non-smokers. The APIs also
encouraged people to “cut off’, “let go” and “break up” with any
means of tobacco products.

Use Proper Smoking Cessation Methods to
Embrace a Smoke-free Lifestyle

Evidence of alternative smoking products on smoking cessation
is limited and not conclusive at the moment. On the contrary, it is
found that users of alternative smoking products would become
dual users of both conventional cigarettes and alternative smoking
products. Data collected in Japan and South Korea have confirmed
the above trend. In 2017, 4.7% of adults in Japan were e-cigarette
or HNB tobacco product users, 72% of them smoked conventional
cigarettes at the same time. In 2018, 2.8% of young people in South
Korea had ever used HNB tobacco products, and 75.5% of them
smoked conventional cigarettes at the same time. In addition, many
studies also pointed out that dual users have a lower possibility of
quitting conventional cigarettes. Taking South Korea as an example,
studies have shown that no correlation is found between use of
HNB tobacco products and their intention to quit among adults.
Also, the chance of quitting among alternative smoking product
users is 80% lower than those who have never used alternative
smoking products, which proved that people are using alternative
smoking products whenever it is inconvenient to use conventional
cigarettes, but not for smoking cessation.
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Smokers should look for proper and effective methods of
smoking cessation for a complete stop on smoking instead of
using e-cigarettes and HNB tobacco products as an alternative.
The "Quit to Win" Smoke-free Community Campaign introduced
by COSH combined the features of smoking cessation contest,
media promotion, smoking cessation counseling and scientific
research to encourage smokers kicking the habit. OR Man-mo, the
champion of the 10™"Quit to Win" Contest, shared that he tried to
stop smoking by using e-cigarettes and HNB tobacco products
but the quit attempt failed. He even smoked more frequently
and used different tobacco products at the same time. Since he
joined the contest, he realized that all forms of tobacco products
increase health risks and are not effective smoking cessation tools.
After he received proper smoking cessation advices and used
Chinese acupuncture to cope with the withdrawal symptoms,
he quitted successfully. Mr Or’s experience and sharing were
videotaped and broadcast at television, online promotion and
social media platforms to urge smokers quit smoking by proper
ways and services.

Besides, COSH launched a publicity programme with the theme
of “Smoke-free Channel” to echo the World No Tobacco Day.
The programme aimed to remind people to say no to all forms
of tobacco products, motivate smokers to replace the habit by
healthy hobbies like doing exercise, listening to music, drawing
and dancing, as well as share smoke-free messages via the online
platforms. COSH also invited primary students to join the “Share
Smoke-free Messages Together with B.Duck” Activity to stay
smoke-free and deliver their wishes to their family and friends,
citizens, the Government and members of the Legislative Council.
They were encouraged to show their entries and urge family’s
support for a total ban on alternative smoking products.
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Impose a Total Ban on Alternative Smoking
Products Promptly to Nip it in the Bud

Majority of the public supported the Smoking (Public Health)
(Amendment) Bill 2019 (the Bill) for a total ban, including medical
and healthcare professionals, academia, parents and education
sector, youth and social service organizations, patient groups, etc.
According to the surveys conducted by youth service groups,
parents and teachers associations, 70%-90% of the respondents
agreed to ban alternative smoking products completely, which
reflected common consensus for the Bill. Despite the Bills
Committee discontinued its scrutiny work on the Bill, the related
publicity, education and advocacy works of COSH with wide
media coverage strengthened public awareness and support for
the total ban.

The health risks of alternative smoking products are crystal clear
to both smokers or non-smokers. To nip it in the bud, COSH
would continue to strengthen the publicity and education to
disseminate the hazards and solicit public support to lay the
foundation for the resumption of the legislation work in the
future.
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Publicity and Community Involvement Projects
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“Support to Enact a Total Ban on
E-cigarettes and Other New Tobacco
Products” Signatory Campaign

Rally on “Support to Enact a Total Ban on
Alternative Smoking Products”
Deputation Meetings on Smoking
(Public Health) (Amendment) Bill 2019
Smoke-free Videos from the School of
Communication, Hong Kong Baptist
University

“Smoke-free Channel”Publicity Campaign
“Enact a Total Ban on Alternative Smoking
Products Promptly” Press Conference
Kick-off Event of Smoke-free Publicity
Programme for World No Tobacco Day
"Smoke-free Life” Theme Song and Music
Video Promotion

The 10 "Quit to Win" Smoke-free
Community Campaign

Hong Kong Smoke-free Leading Company
Awards 2019

“Smoking Cessation Services Assemble”
Event

“Smoking Hazards 2.0"Health Education
and Publicity Programme

New APIs“Smoking Harms. Don't be
Cheated!”and “Quit and Go for a New Life”

Advocacy on Raising Tobacco Tax

“Raising Tobacco Tax Substantially

to Achieve Tobacco Endgame” Press
Conference

Promotion on the Correlation between
Smoking and Coronavirus Disease 2019
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2019/5/1
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Elderly Smoking Cessation Promotion
Project 2019-2020

Smoke-free Carnival in Sha Tin

“Togetherness, We are the Voice that Shine”
Sunday Carnival cum Open Day of the
New Voice Club of Hong Kong

Home-School Co-operation Carnival

Smoke-free Promotion Programmes of
MTR Corporation Limited

Smoke-free Promotion Campaign of
The Hong Kong Jockey Club

Hong Kong International Dental Expo and
Symposium 2019

Health Family Day of Christian Family
Service Centre

“Run For Passion” of the
Cancerinformation.com.hk Charity
Foundation

Central and Western District Health Festival
2019/2020

"Smoke-free Elderly Ambassadors”
Appreciation Ceremony

CLPP Safety, Health & Environment (SHE)
Day 2019
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Education and Youth Programmes
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Health Talks for “Smoke-free New
Generation”

“Smoke-free Teens Programme”2019-2020

School Interactive Education Theatre
"Smoke-free Detective Adventure”

HKU School of Nursing —
Nursing Programme

New Territories West Integrated Service,
The Salvation Army — Joint School Student
Leadership Training Scheme

Hospital Authority Convention 2019

HKU Youth Quitline — Smoking Cessation
Counselor Training Workshop
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Conferences and Visits

2i% Conferences

Fellowship Programme on Tobacco Control

2019/11/11-15 J7eiE B o 1 21|51 2] 2019 5010

The 20" National Symposium on Tobacco
FEZBIZEEMATSEETEFBEM  Control cum the 10™ Cross-strait,
ELESRPMEEER A Hong Kong and Macau Tobacco Control
Conference

2019/11/17-19

ZESEE Visits

. World No Tobacco Day 2019 cum the
BENBEERMEREEHE
2019/5/24 2019 WA ME B EMERIIRELEKE 10" Anniversary of Smoke-free &

(N T IE
AL Healthy Life Association of Macau

Health Promotion Branch, Department of

2019/10/9 BEBERITER
Health
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Publicity and Community Involvement Projects

% fEED
Publicity Projects

EREEELZEREER

ERSHEREEROFREECARELERTT -
AISILEERRNEBEZRT  TECER
BEI2EAXRILZEREESR ZEEMAE AzJﬁ
2019 FHHR H (2019 FIRIE (R REE) (155

FEOIEZR) (RPIER) - RERERLTE 1l7v<1§|J
BRAR UEILEND 8% 8 - p#A
EEXEREER  BRETFE  MESFRE

TEE S m (INEAE) R EARE o SLEGRERIAKIL
EREZE® JTE'JE%EWM@JZE:‘;‘ E1TH % &

S NN

ZEERFHEBZEETHNER - HE -

FTRIEZN T @%Hﬁ%%%ﬁiﬁ/\i%éﬁi
nigg BETRESRTES  BFER

B EE BERART @J&ii g [1EE20
SREEEREN] REHEEES - UFI
BATRIFGRIIES

éEA#mmié%é%K%%ﬁ%Eﬁﬁm
[fEEBRAEE | IR K*B R (60%) 3 %
FHEHZEFSEREER :/\2_ (#965%)
RRAEREZE Ezﬁﬁiﬁﬁi?ﬂlﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁ B
RETRRNNEZEERBMAL  EHEREH
BEHENFIRRERK 22 EF@EBE—
+ (56%) REMRENMEAZT IREBTR
i’]i‘i?—iﬁi\ﬁﬁﬂ: iﬁﬂ)}@Fuu °

Advocacy on a Total Ban on Alternative
Smoking Products

Use of alternative smoking products surged exponentially
around the globe and became an epidemic. COSH urged the
Government for a total ban to nip in the bud the proliferation of
alternative smoking products before they become popular to
safeguard public health. The Government proposed the Smoking
(Public Health) (Amendment) Bill 2019 (the Bill) to prohibit the
import, manufacture, sale, distribution and advertisement of
alternative smoking products in early 2019 including electronic
cigarettes (e-cigarettes), heat-not-burn (HNB) tobacco products
and herbal cigarettes, which was published in Government
Gazette. Legislative Council formed a Bills Committee to review
the Bill and several deputation meetings were held.

COSH proactively solicited public support for the Bill through
publicity, education, research and advocacy works including lined
up supporters to attend the deputation meetings, held a joint rally
with different sectors, invited experts to host press conference,
organized a signatory campaign, as well as launched the “Smoking
Hazards 2.0"Health Education and Publicity Programme.

COSH commissioned the School of Nursing of The University of
Hong Kong to conduct the Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey
in 2018 and revealed that 60% of citizens supported the total ban.
Also, about two-thirds (around 65%) of submissions to the Bills
Committee from different social sectors supported the Bill. Other
survey showed that 75% of responded parents agreed a total ban
on alternative smoking products while over half of the smoking
parents (56%) also supported.
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COSH expressed deep regret and disappointment at the decision
of the Bills Committee to discontinue its scrutiny work on the
Bill. However, the related advocacy works and media coverage
aroused public awareness on the issue. COSH would continue to
strengthen publicity, education and solicit public support. COSH
also urged the Government and Legislative Council to resume the
legislation work as soon as possible in the next Legislative Year to
stop the wide spread of alternative smoking products.

Deputation Meetings on Smoking (Public Health)
(Amendment) Bill 2019

Legislative Council had formed a Bills Committee to review the
Bill and held deputation meetings on 13, 25 and 27 April 2019
to invite public opinion on the Bill. Over 125 individuals and
representatives of organizations from different sectors, including
medical and healthcare professionals, academia, parents and
education sector, youth and social service organizations, patient
groups, etc, attended the meetings and expressed positive views
on the Bill.

Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman also attended the meeting to
emphasize the stance of COSH, submit the latest evidences on
the hazards of alternative smoking products, clarify the misleading
claims made by tobacco industry, and urge the Government and
Legislative Council to pass the Bill as soon as possible to safeguard
public health. Furthermore, among the written submissions
received by the Legislative Council, over 4,000 supported the
enactment of the total ban on alternative smoking products.
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Rally on “Support to Enact a Total Ban on Alternative
Smoking Products”

COSH organized a rally outside the Legislative Council, together
with over 100 representatives from different sectors, to reflect
the public support to enact a total ban on alternative smoking
products promptly. Petition letters were submitted to the
Government and members of the Legislative Council in order to
urge the passage of the Bill in order to prevent these products
from becoming popular.

Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman remarked, “We have to
emphasize that there is no safe and harmless tobacco product in
the world. It would be hazardous if alternative smoking products
are introduced in the market. To protect the health of the pubilic,
especially the next generation, the Legislative Council should
pass the Bill to enact a total ban promptly, in order to prevent its
epidemic in Hong Kong!

Participated Organizations:

Tobacco Control Groups

- Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health

- HKU Women Quit

- HKU Youth Quitline

- Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Integrated Centre on
Smoking Cessation

- United Christian Nethersole Community Health Service

Academia
- School of Nursing, The University of Hong Kong
- School of Public Health, The University of Hong Kong

Student Groups

- Asian Medical Students’ Association Hong Kong

- Medical Society, The Hong Kong University Students'Union

- Medical Society, The Student Union of The Chinese University
of Hong Kong

- Medical Students’' Subcommittee, Youth Committee,
The Hong Kong Medical Association

Medical and Healthcare Professionals
- The Hong Kong Academy of Nursing Limited
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Education Sector
- The Hong Kong Association of the Heads of Secondary Schools
- Lingnan Dr Chung Wing Kwong Memorial Secondary School

Youth Service Organizations
- Hong Kong Playground Association
- The Boys' & Girls'Clubs Association of Hong Kong

Patient Groups
- Hong Kong Alliance of Patients’' Organization Limited
- Hong Kong Patients' Voices

District Organizations and Chambers

- Golden Bauhinia Women Entrepreneur Association

- Hong Kong and Kowloon Chiu Chow Public Association

- Hong Kong Chiu Chow Chamber of Commerce

- Hong Kong New Emerging Technology Education Association
- Rotary Club of Central

- The Overseas Teo Chew Entrepreneurs Association

- Yau Tsim District Yin Ngai Society

“Support to Enact a Total Ban on E-cigarettes and Other
New Tobacco Products” Signatory Campaign

To gather public support and reflect the social aspiration for a
total ban on alternative smoking products, COSH co-organized
the "Support to Enact a Total Ban on E-cigarettes and Other New
Tobacco Products” Signatory Campaign with various medical
associations, tobacco control organizations, academia and non-
governmental organizations. Through community promotion and
signatory webpage, the campaign gathered support from the
public and educated them to say no to all smoking products. As
of March 2020, over 110,000 signatures were collected from the
members of public, organizations and companies which showed
the support of different sectors of the society for the total ban.
The signatories were submitted to the Legislative Council to urge
the Government and Legislative Council to enact the Bill promptly
and formulate a timeline for total ban of smoking.
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“Enact a Total Ban on Alternative Smoking Products
Promptly” Press Conference

COSH hosted a press conference on 23 May 2019 and invited
tobacco control experts to share the global trend and
suggestions for a total ban on alternative smoking products in
Hong Kong in order to urge the Legislative Council to pass the
Bill promptly. Speakers included Prof Judith MACKAY, Director,
Asian Consultancy on Tobacco Control and Senior Policy Advisor,
World Health Organization (WHO), Prof CHIA Kee-seng, Professor,
Saw Swee Hock School of Public Health, National University of
Singapore, Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community
Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewall Professor in Public Health, School
of Public Health, The University of Hong Kong, Dr Daniel HO,
Associate Professor, School of Public Health, The University of
Hong Kong and Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman.

Antonio KWONG remarked, “In view of the prevalence of using
alternative smoking products is still low but in a rapid growth,
Hong Kong should enact a total ban as soon as possible to nip
it in the bud. Majority of the public supported the total ban of
alternative smoking products, around 65% of submissions to the
Bills Committee from different social sectors supported the Bill.
Opportunity knocks but once, COSH urges the Legislative Council
to pass the Bill with no further delay to protect public health!
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Speakers indicated that smoking behaviour is marketed as
a trendy lifestyle globally. Similar to the promotion tactics of
conventional cigarettes in the past, tobacco industry sponsors
public events such as concert and auto racing around the world,
which is renormalizing smoking behaviour. Thus, WHO also
recommended that HNB tobacco products should be banned or
at minimum be subject to the same regulatory measures applied
to all other tobacco products. According to the modeling analysis
done in Singapore, alternative smoking products use may lead
to an initial decline in smoking prevalence but it will be reversed,
making the smoking prevalence increase finally.

COSH commissioned the School of Nursing of The University of
Hong Kong to conduct the Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey
in 2018 and revealed that the prevalence of e-cigarettes and
HNB tobacco products surged significantly in Hong Kong. The
prevalence of HNB tobacco product ever use surged from 0.9%
in 2017 to 2.1% in 2018 and prevalence of current e-cigarette use
(in past 30 days) had increased by two times from 0.2% in 2017
t0 0.7% in 2018. It is alarming that the rates are higher among the
youngsters (aged 15-29).

COSH urged the Government and Legislative Council to pass
the Bill with no further delay to safeguard public health. COSH
also advocated the Government to develop long-term tobacco
control policies to formulate a bold goal and timeline for a total
ban on smoking, in order to further lower the smoking prevalence
for a smoke-free Hong Kong.

Smoke-free Videos from the School of
Communication, Hong Kong Baptist
University

COSH collaborated with the School of Communication of The
Hong Kong Baptist University to invite students to produce nine
smoke-free videos featuring the harm of smoking and promotion
on smoke-free lifestyle. Since May 2019, videos had been
broadcast on campus, multiple online platforms and Smoke-
free Family Facebook page. The students could fully unleash their
potential and practice their filming knowledge in the production
of the videos as well as to raise awareness of tobacco hazards
with an aim to encourage smoking cessation for the well-being of
smokers and their family and friends.
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“Smoke-free Channel” Publicity Campaign

World Health Organization has designated “Tobacco and Lung
Health” as the theme of World No Tobacco Day (31 May) in 2019
with the aims to draw global attention on smoking hazards and
lung health, also join hands with stakeholders across multiple
sectors to beat the tobacco epidemic. COSH launched a publicity
programme with the theme of “Smoke-free Channel”. Variety of
promotional activities were held to encourage the mass public
to say no to all forms of tobacco products and share smoke-free
messages via the street promotion activities, online platform
and networks of different organizations. Smokers were urged to
develop healthy hobbies for replacing smoking to live smoke-free.

Kick-off Event

COSH, in collaboration with Radio 1 of Radio Television Hong
Kong (RTHK) organized a kick-off event on 31 May 2019 at Piazza,
Hong Kong Cultural Centre, Tsim Sha Tsui. Officiating guests
included Prof Sophia CHAN, Secretary for Food and Health, Dr
Constance CHAN, Director of Health, Brian CHOW, Controller
(Radio), RTHK, David HO, Head of Chinese Programme Service,
RTHK, Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman and Vienna LAI, COSH
Executive Director.
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Performers and artists joined hands to promote the benefits of
a smoke-free lifestyle through live music and art performances.
Performers included “Medipella”, an acapella group formed
by doctors, “E Major Ensemble”, a band of Tung Wah Group of
Hospitals, “Miracle”, band of Children’s Cancer Foundation and
Artkids Studio, Caritas Hong Kong. Artists Stephanie CHENG, Ken
HUNG and Mag LAM also spread smoke-free messages through
singing performances. Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of
Community Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewall Professor in Public
Health, School of Public Health, The University of Hong Kong and
quitters were also invited to demonstrate “Zero Time Exercise” for
reducing tobacco cravings and share quit tips.

Moreover, three promotional videos produced by COSH and RTHK
were premiered at the kick-off event, featuring the life stories of
FUNG Kam Hung, an amputee runner, Kenus MOK, a member
of Hong Kong roller sports team who had dyslexia, and Ernest
CHAU, a bike tour guide who successfully quitted smoking, which
brought to the audience the importance of perseverance when
facing difficult situations and encouraged the smokers never give
up quitting.

“Smoke-free Channel”

To enhance public awareness on World No Tobacco Day, COSH
sent invitations and over 50 companies, non-governmental
organizations, hospitals, schools and organizations supported and
promoted the programme across the territory during May to June
2019. Over 1,500 people joined the “Smoke-free Channel” and
said no to all forms of tobacco products, shared the smoke-free
messages among their families and friends in order to encourage
them to quit smoking by adopting healthy habits as replacement.
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Facebook Lucky Draw and Smoke-free WhatsApp
Stickers

A lucky draw promotion was held from 31 May to 30 June 2019
to encourage more people to join the “Smoke-free Channel” and
spread smoke-free messages with their families and friends via
social media for promoting a smoke-free lifestyle. A set of smoke-
free WhatsApp stickers featuring different healthy hobbies were
jointly designed by COSH and the Smoke-free Ambassador, B.Duck
to disseminate the idea of smoke-free lifestyle through daily mobile
or online chit-chat.

Shopping Mall and Street Promotion

Four sessions of shopping mall and street promotion activities
were organized from May to August 2019 across the territory to
encourage the public to join as a member of the “Smoke-free
Channel” B.Duck also attended to support and encourage the
citizens to develop healthy lifestyle.
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“Share Smoke-free Messages Together with B.Duck”
Activity

In addition, COSH invited all local primary schools students to join
the “Share Smoke-free Messages Together with B.Duck” Activity.
Students could design and colour a B.Duck worksheet and
pledge to stay away from cigarettes. They also wrote their smoke-
free wishes and messages for their families, friends, citizens, the
Government and members of the Legislative Council. Students
were encouraged to show their entries to families and friends to
promote the importance of a smoke-free family and motivate
smokers to kick the habit. The activity received overwhelming
response and attracted more than 15,000 entries from 70 primary
schools, reached around 57,000 students and their families.

Activity Website: www.smokefree.hk/channel

“Smoke-free Life” Theme Song and Music
Video Promotion

“Medipella”, an acapella group formed by eight medical
specialists, produced a theme song titled “Smoke-free Life" in
collaboration with COSH. Acappella rendition of the song carrying
memorable melody and lyrics delivered the messages about the
importance of a smoke-free lifestyle. The song highlighted the
smoking hazards and reminded the audience to stop smoking
immediately since it could not help relieve stress. The music video
of the song was also broadcast on multiple social media channels.
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The 10" “Quit to Win” Smoke-free Community
Campaign

COSH has been organizing the “Quit to Win” Contest since 2009
to motivate smokers to kick the habit. The contest provides an
alternative platform to assist smokers to combat the tobacco
cravings, in addition to cessation clinics, which mobilizes over
1,000 smokers to kick the habit every year.

To create a favorable social atmosphere for smoking cessation
and increase public awareness on tobacco control, COSH has
launched the “Quit to Win" Smoke-free Community Campaign
with the support from the District Councils, community
organizations and other supporting organizations since 2012.
The Campaign motivates smokers to quit and promotes the
smoke-free lifestyle through a series of district-based smoke-free
promotion activities, media promotion, counseling and scientific
research on smoking cessation.

With the continuous support from the 18 District Councils and
district working partners, COSH launched the 10™ “Quit to Win"
Smoke-free Community Campaign and organized around 140
recruitment and promotion activities across the territory. Together
with the support from Correctional Services Department (CSD),
The Hong Kong Jockey Club, Link Asset Management Limited,
CLP Power Hong Kong Limited, trade associations from catering,
construction and transportation industries, the Campaign
promoted smoke-free messages to a wide spectrum of the
society.

Smoking Cessation Counseling Trainings

Two sessions of Smoking Cessation Counseling Training were held
on 3 and 19 June 2019 in collaboration with the School of Nursing
and School of Public Health of The University of Hong Kong.
Nearly 70 staff members, volunteers and university students from
district working partners and supporting organizations joined
the trainings. The participants enhanced their tobacco control
knowledge, smoking cessation skills and acquired the know-how
in organizing recruitment sessions and smoke-free promotion
activities.
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Speakers included Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of
Community Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewall Professor in Public
Health, School of Public Health, The University of Hong Kong,
Vienna LAI, COSH Executive Director, Lawrence CHU, COSH
Senior Project Manager, Anita CHAN, experienced smoking
cessation nurse, Kevin LUK, smoking cessation nurse and
Matthew LAU, Smoking Cessation Research Team, School of
Nursing of The University of Hong Kong. Champion of the 9™
"Quit to Win" Contest, LAU Wai-ming was also invited to share
his successful quit story and tips. Through seminar, group
discussion and case studies, details of “Quit to Win” Smoke-
free Community Campaign, hazards of smoking, secondhand
and third-hand smoke, tobacco control in Hong Kong, skills in
smoking cessation counseling and motivational interviewing
were introduced to the participants.

“Smoking Cessation Services Assemble” Event

To mark the 10" anniversary of “Quit to Win" Smoke-free
Community Campaign in 2019-2020 and promote the cessation
services, COSH organized the “Smoking Cessation Services
Assemble” Event on 3 and 4 August 2019 at Amoy Plaza. The
event was collaborated with smoking cessation service providers,
including Pok Oi Hospital, The Lok Sin Tong Benevolent Society,
Kowloon, Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Integrated Centre on
Smoking Cessation, United Christian Nethersole Community
Health Service and Youth Quitline of The University of Hong
Kong. Information on smoking cessation services and smoke-free
healthy lifestyle was shared. Smokers could register for the free
smoking cessation services on site.

Prof Sophia CHAN, Secretary for Food and Health and Antonio
KWONG, COSH Chairman also supported the event and
exchanged experiences in tobacco control with the smoking
cessation service providers. Smoke-free Ambassador, B. Duck
appeared and called upon public support to live smoke-free and
remind family and friends to stay away from all tobacco products.
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Health check, exhibition and interesting game booths were held
at the event reaching about 2,000 citizens. Around 50 smokers
signed up for smoking cessation services and enrolled in the “Quit
to Win"Contest.

District Recruitment and Smoke-free Promotion Activities

From June to September 2019, COSH conducted over 80
recruitment sessions across the 18 districts in Hong Kong. With
the support from district working partners and supporting
organizations, around 60 smoke-free exhibitions and promotion
activities were also organized. The Campaign successfully
recruited over 1,000 smokers to join the smoking cessation
contest and disseminated smoke-free messages to around 55,000
members of public. Around 500 staff and volunteers of the district
working partners participated in organizing different smoke-free
exhibitions and promotion activities across the territory, including
health talks, district promotion, carnivals, drawing competition,
roadshow and outreach promotions to increase public awareness
on smoking hazards and tobacco control.
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B EERBH
District Working Partners
R BAERRInEHRA O
Central & Western Caritas Mok Cheung Sui Kun Community Centre
5 BEEREANENG - SWEREHEP O
Eastern The Hong Kong Society for Aged — Chai Wan District Elderly Community Centre
BES BES AR AR
Islands Hong Kong Outlying Islands Women'’s Association Limited
JUREM NEEEE
Kowloon City The Lok Sin Tong Benevolent Society, Kowloon
B HERTHRLERNTIHE
Kwai Tsing Kwai Tsing Safe Community and Healthy City Association
BE BEEEmEERES
Kwun Tong Kwun Tong Healthy City Steering Committee
Lt EES LSRR
Windshield Charitable Foundation Social Services
pir EEETHeEReTEFTTEM
North The Hongkong Federation of Youth Groups Jockey Club Cheung Wah Youth SPOT
[ EEHEEHS
Sai Kung Haven of Hope Christian Service
RIRGE1T
HKUST Connect
W H EEBTVFRBRFTEILBTOFINERLE TIEK
ShaTin Hong Kong Children and Youth Services Ma On Shan
Youth Outreaching Social Work Team
RIKES RHEREES KT SRR
Sham Shui Po Windshield Charitable Foundation Sham Shui Po Social Services
2] EAERELS
Southern Hong Kong Southern District Women’s Association
HEREZE2HEERAF
Southern District Healthy and Safe Association Limited
A3 ANBEEFHE
Tai Po Tai Po Youths Association
By ZETTRFEHRESRE®
Tsuen Wan Tsuen Wan Safe and Healthy Community Steering Committee
B9 BEERZEBBLURGETLFRBEPL
Tuen Mun Shan King Integrated Children and Youth Services Centre of Seventh-day Adventists
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Wan Chai

AL
Wong Tai Sin

SRS
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TLHA

Yuen Long
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The Neighbourhood Advice-Action Council Eastern/Wanchai District Youth
Outreaching Social Work Team

ERER

Our Lady of Maryknoll Hospital

BEAIIREEZ 2T

Wong Tai Sin District Healthy and Safe City

EEHE BT ELRERGE

United Christian Nethersole Community Health Service

RKEFB AR AR

Tin Shui Wai Women Association Limited
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“Quit to Win” District Recruitment and Smoke-free Promotion Activities

H 88 Date

2019/6/15

2019/6/16

2019/6/22

2019/6/22

2019/6/23

2019/6/23

2019/6/27 & 8/4

2019/6/29

2019/6/29-30

2019/6/30

2019/7/5

2019/7/6

i#h [ District ith 2 Venue

S EHEM
Tsuen Wan Citywalk
(=S FED —HA
Sai Kung MCP One

G2 i BT %5

Kowloon City Ching Long Shopping Centre
P BT ES
Tuen Mun Tmtplaza
NI |mAL P
Wong Tai Sin Upper Wong Tai Sin Estate
TTHA RIZERS
Yuen Long Tin Chak Shopping Centre
e ERES
Kwai Tsing Kwai Chung Plaza
W H REES
ShaTin Wo Che Plaza
Bz AZREY
Kwun Tong Domain Mall
B AR
Tuen Mun Kin Sang Shopping Centre
TTHA REES
Yuen Long Tin Yan Shopping Centre
BES = WP
Islands FuTung Estate
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Gl S
2019/7/6 & 8/11
Sai Kung Sheung Tak Plaza
5019/7/7 BB ] XX HE%
Kowloon City Homantin Plaza
2019/7/7 EESEE SR
Yau Tsim Mong Argyle Centre
2019/7/8 B BN BEEEE R
Kwun Tong MTR Kowloon Bay Depot
== = *iEI
2019/7/9 ol S
Kwai Tsing Maritime Market
2019/7/13 ok RRES
Tuen Mun Leung King Plaza
2019/7/13 & 8/14 R oo MLl
Yau Tsim Mong Haiphong Road, Tsim Sha Tsui
ibl& *E RS
2019/7/14
North Choi Yuen Plaza
2019/7/14 A R
Sham Shui Po Hoi Lai Shopping Centre
S019/7/15 ki) RIRERKNEH
Central & Western Queen’s Road Central, Central
2019/7/20 Dt ALY
ShaTin Ma On Shan Plaza
[BERS
2019/7/20 = A Fung Tak Shopping Centre
Wong Tai Sin FRSEAL[E AL
Tung Tau Community Centre
R i RSB A O
North Exit of Fanling MTR Station
50197/ NI B A
Tai Po Exit of Tai Po Market MTR Station
2019/7/25 il AT L
Wan Chai Hopewell Centre
ok EEERGRKEEMERIT L
2019/7/27 ’ ) HKJC Sham Shui Po Kweilin Street
Sham Shui Po .
Off-course Betting Branch
Tk EEERGXF HEBIRT
2019/7/28 ! , HKJC Mei Foo Lai Wan Road
Sham Shui Po _
Off-course Betting Branch
& ERIYER
2019/7/28-29 ® PR
Eastern Kornhill Plaza
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2019/8/1

2019/8/3

2019/8/3-4

2019/8/6

2019/8/10

2019/8/10

2019/8/11

2019/8/13

2019/8/17

2019/8/18

2019/8/21

2019/8/23

2019/8/24

2019/8/24

++:K§v%
=y

Tsuen Wan
WH
ShaTin
B
Kwun Tong
ByE
Kwun Tong
BES
Islands
e
Kwai Tsing
2]

Southern

i
ShaTin

B

Tuen Mun
S|
Tai Po

JURERK

Kowloon City
i)'

Central & Western
it

North

e
Sai Kung

EEERGEET BRI
HKJC Tsuen Wan Castle Peak Road
Off-course Betting Branch

(CEERS

Heng On Commercial Centre
NSRS

Amoy Plaza
BEESSEREBESIROTI

HKJC Kwun Tong Plaza

Off-course Betting Branch
BBHETT - RREP

Hong Kong Market - Yat Tung
ERER G REIRTI

HKJC Maritime Square

Off-course Betting Branch
BEFEERE

Aberdeen Promenade
RNEFTERERBR AR LM
Construction site of New World
Development Company Limited,

Tai Wai

3N

Exit of Tai Wai MTR Station

EEES

HAN.D.S

RIBEE™

Tai Po Hui Market
NBEBFERERARAF it
Construction site of New World
Development Company Limited,
Kowloon City

FERMERE

Bonham Strand, Sheung Wan
BEETENERHLROTI

HKJC Fanling Town Centre

Off-course Betting Branch
RERBFFAEFHE

Po Leung Kuk Ho Yuk Ching (1984)
College
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2019/8/25

2019/8/25

2019/8/25

2019/8/28 & 9/3

2019/91

2019/9/7

2019/9/8

2019/9/10

2019/9/10 & 9/22

2019/9/14

2019/9/15

2019/9/15

2019/9/17

2019/9/17

2019/9/19

=AU
Wong Tai Sin
R

Eastern

BES
Islands
IR
Sham Shui Po
=5

Kwai Tsing

&

Southern

ANiF
Tai Po

T
Wan Chai

H

ShaTin
JHREE

Yau Tsim Mong

=AU
Wong Tai Sin

i)'

Central & Western
B

Eastern

%5

Kwai Tsing

&AL
Wong Tai Sin

B

Tuen Mun

AZ P
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Tsz Wan Shan Shopping Centre

B R S

A

Exit of Shau Kei Wan MTR Station

FENEREE

Ma Wan Rural Committee

EaES

Fu Cheong Estate

EREERGEFERRIOTI
HKJC Kwai Fong Kwai Yi Road
Off-course Betting Branch

BRI SRR

Hoi Chu Court, Aberdeen
ERESFE NIBEST

HKJC Tai Po Plaza

Off-course Betting Branch

At

Mallory Street, Wan Chai

i R R i)

Paterson Street, Causeway Bay
EREERGLAD AERITE
HKJC Sha Tin Sha Kok Street
Off-course Betting Branch

k2 q=pillmuc|

Parkes Street, Jordan

BREFEIH

HKJC San Po Kong Shung Ling Street

] HEA /4
A SR ER T

Off-course Betting Branch
EEER AR EERII

HKJC Western Wh

itty Street

Off-course Betting Branch

BEERAH

Bk

Main Street East, Shau Kei Wan

2EABAY

Tai Wo Hau Estate, Tsuen Wan

EEEEEVE
HKJC Choi Wan

1REuk

Off-course Betting Branch
REFNERDF] - EEHEMR
CLP Power Hong Kong Limited -

Black Point Power Station
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2019/9/20

2019/9/21

2019/9/21

2019/9/21

2019/9/23

2019/9/24

2019/9/25

2019/9/28

2019/9/28

2019/9/29

2019/9/29

BUE

Kwun Tong
BES
Islands
JUBEL
Kowloon City
TCEA

Yuen Long

IR
Sham Shui Po

BEML

Kowloon City

Y H
ShaTin

5
R

Eastern

%5
Kwai Tsing
B
Kwun Tong
3]

Southern

MERETL

Nan Fung Commercial Centre
BRERIPENEES

Lai Shuk Ying Memorial Plaza, Yat Tung
Estate

ERES

Oi Man Plaza

RIREPFERES

Piazza, Tin Yuet Estate
hEBHARAT - RKY

CLP Power Hong Kong Limited -
Sham Shui Po
MEBNBR AT - ALEERE
CLP Power Hong Kong Limited -
Laguna Verde Ave, Hung Hom
hEBNHRAR - ARBE
CLP Power Hong Kong Limited -

On Lai Street, Sha Tin
EEERZABNGRERE MR
=SPTIN

The Hong Kong Society for the Aged -
Chai Wan District Elderly Community
Centre

BEAEDGLRRS HIRT
HKJC Kwai Chung Wing Fong Road
Off-course Betting Branch

SRS

Ping Shek Shopping Centre

FE () BES

Wah Fu () Shopping Centre
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“Quit to Win"” Contest

The 10" "Quit to Win" Contest successfully encouraged over 1,000
smokers to quit smoking through contest and prizes. Eligible
participants received smoking status assessment and brief
smoking cessation advice from counselors at the recruitment
sessions. The smoking cessation counselors from the School of
Nursing and School of Public Health of The University of Hong
Kong would follow up the quit status of the participants, and
assist them to quit by telephone interview at one month, two
months, three months and six months. To enhance the support
in quitting, participants received regular instant messages from
the counselors as well as other optional interventions, such as
phone counseling, multi-media messages, assistance from friends,
nicotine replacement therapy and incentive of using existing
cessation services.

The participants would also be referred to their preferred smoking
cessation service providers. Participants who quitted successfully
were invited to undertake a biochemical validation at the 3-month
follow-up. Validated participants were eligible to join the lucky
draw or invited to an interview to win fabulous prizes.
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To encourage persons in custody to quit smoking, COSH
collaborated with CSD and extended the “Quit to Win" Contest to
Lo Wu Correctional Institution, Stanley Prison, Tai Lam Correctional
Institution and Tong Fuk Correctional Institution. A total of 54
smoking inmates joined the "Quit to Win”Contest and determined
to quit for a smoke-free lifestyle.

To understand the needs of quitters, the School of Nursing
and School of Public Health of The University of Hong Kong
conducted a research study to evaluate the effectiveness of
the smoking cessation intervention as well as the Campaign.
According to the preliminary results, the self-reported quit rate
was 22.7% at 3-month follow-up and 24.7% at 6-month follow-up.

Winners of the 10" “Quit to Win” Contest:

Champion, OR Man-mo had smoked since he was primary five
and used to smoke 25 sticks of cigarette per day on average. For
the health of himself and his son, he determined to cut off. He had
tried to quit smoking by using electronic cigarettes and heat-not-
burn (HNB) tobacco products but failed. Both products neither
helped him quit smoking nor reduced tobacco consumption.
He even smoked more frequently and the worst scenerio was
that he smoked over 20 sticks of HNB tobacco products per day,
in addition to conventional cigarettes. Since he joined the "Quit
to Win" Contest, he received proper smoking cessation advices
and Chinese acupuncture which helped ease the withdrawal
symptoms. Having quitted smoking, Mr Or’s health condition
and temper were apparently improved. He had also developed a
healthy habit of jogging with his family after dinner.
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First runner-up, CHENG Chi-chung picked up smoking at 18 years
old when he studied abroad alone. After returning to Hong Kong,
he realized the tobacco control measures are stringent and there
is a strong social atmosphere for being smoke-free. He tried to
hide his smoking habit from his family and considered quitting.
However, Mr Cheng was still a social smoker until he realized that
his parents always worried about his health. To ease their worries
and maintain a healthy body, he determined to join the contest
particularly after an inspiring dialogue with “Quit to Win" helpers
at the recruitment booth. He commented that passionate care
and encouragement from helpers and the regular follow-up were
his key success factors for quitting.

Second runner-up, CHUNG Kin-yan has smoked for 13 years.
Ms Chung has two dogs and two cats, she determined to quit
for the concern of pets’ health. One of her dogs was getting old
and encountered health problems. The veterinarian advised her
to stop smoking to protect its health. One day, one of her dogs
grabbed her cigarette pack away when she was about to smoke.
She believed it was a sign of her pets’ complaint on her smoking
behaviour. This triggered her joining the 10" “Quit to Win" Contest.
She found her skin quality improved and had a better body
ascent after quitting. She also developed a habit of taking walks
together with her boyfriend and pets.

Campaign Website: www.quittowin.hk
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Hong Kong Smoke-free Leading Company
Awards 2019

To encourage businesses to promote smoke-free messages to
their stakeholders on a continuous basis, including employees,
customers and the general public, COSH has organized the "Hong
Kong Smoke-free Leading Company Awards” (the Awards) since
2011 to commemorate the leading companies and organizations
from different sectors that have implemented outstanding
smoke-free policies to protect the health of employees and the
general public in fostering an all-win situation for employees,
business sectors and the society.

In 2019, the fourth Awards was co-organized by COSH,
Occupational Safety and Health Council and Radio 1 of Radio
Television Hong Kong (RTHK), together with the support of over
80 major commerce chambers and associations across sectors
in Hong Kong. By uniting the enterprises and organizations, the
Awards aimed to encourage businesses to support smoking
cessation and spread smoke-free messages among employees,
customers and people from all walks of life, in order to strive for a
smoke-free Hong Kong.

Partnering with various smoking cessation service providers,
COSH provided smoking cessation services, health talks and
promotional collaterals to assist businesses in setting up smoke-
free workplaces and policies and organizing diverse activities
in order to encourage smokers to live smoke-free. Besides, two
workshops featuring street workout and mindfulness, were co-
organized by COSH and Radio 1 of RTHK to motivate smoking
employees to curb their tobacco cravings and videos were
produced for promotion.
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Prof Sophia CHAN, Secretary for Food and Health was the
Honourable Patron of the Awards. An independent Judging Panel
comprising of representatives from the Government, industry
and academia was formed, including Bonnie YAU, Executive
Director of Occupational Safety and Health Council, David HO,
Head of Chinese Programme Service, RTHK, Dr FUNG Ying, Head
of Tobacco and Alcohol Control Office, Department of Health, Prof
LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community Medicine & Sir Robert
Kotewall Professor in Public Health, School of Public Health, The
University of Hong Kong, Prof Patrick WONG, Chairman of Quit-
Winners Club, Prof Samuel WONG, Associate Dean (Education) of
Faculty of Medicine & Professor and Director of The Jockey Club
School of Public Health and Primary Care, The Chinese University
of Hong Kong and Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman.

The Awards in 2019 scaled a new height with more than 530
companies participating, a 10% increase as compared with the
Awards in 2016. Over 130,000 employees from a wide variety
of industries were benefited, including banking, property
management, retail, logistics, transportation, construction and
government departments, etc. After rounds of assessment and
meeting by the independent Judging Panel on 16 December
2019, two companies received the Triple Gold Awards for
their continuous commitment; 14 companies received the
Gold Awards, and two of them also received the Outstanding
Smoke-free Community Involvement Awards for recognition of
remarkable contribution in spreading smoke-free messages in
the community; 16 companies received the Silver Awards and
over 490 companies were awarded the Certificates of Merit in
recognition of their support to smoke-free culture. (Please refer to
page 160 to page 177 for the Awards list))
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A wide variety of smoke-free measures had been adopted,
such as smoking cessation reward schemes, creative smoke-
free graphic designs and interactive education events. Besides,
the businesses empowered non-smoking employees and their
family to encourage smokers to quit and create a supportive
atmosphere for smoking cessation. To conclude, management
support, substantial resources allocation and collaboration with
smoking cessation service providers were proven to be critical in
effective implementation of smoke-free policies.

The Awards list and awardees’ successful experiences of smoke-
free policy implementation were announced and promoted with
short videos, media coverage and an Awards booklet through the
Awards website and different online platforms.

Awards Website: www.smokefreeleadingcompany.hk
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“Smoking Hazards 2.0” Health Education and
Publicity Programme

Alternative smoking products, such as electronic cigarettes
(e-cigarettes) and heat-not-burn (HNB) tobacco products gained
popularity across the globe in recent years. These products are
claimed as “less harmful’, “"healthier” or even “harmless” products
by tobacco companies to downplay the health risks and re-
normalize the smoking behavior. They are also marketed in novel
designs with multiple flavours to lure the general public especially

youngsters to try and hence as a gateway to smoking.

In fact, an increasing number of researches found that alternative
smoking products could release detrimental chemicals and
cause serious health consequences, such as cardiovascular and
respiratory diseases. The medical professions stress that there is no
safety level for exposure to harmful and carcinogenic substances,
and e-cigarettes and HNB tobacco products are as harmful
as conventional cigarettes. World Health Organization also
emphasizes that there is no safe and harmless tobacco product
in the world. Therefore, alternative smoking products are just the
mutation and continuation of smoking hazards.

To reverse the rising trend of the alternative smoking products
and enhance public awareness, COSH organized roving health
promotion exhibitions, health seminars and set up a Facebook
Page to inform the public on the harms and hazards and clear the
misconception on these products since September 2019.
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Roving Health Promotion Exhibitions

To disseminate the correct information on alternative smoking
products, around 20 sessions of roving health promotion
exhibitions were organized in secondary schools, university,
shopping malls and community during September 2019 to March
2020. Through the exhibitions, over 7,000 number of public were
shared with the latest information about the smoking hazards of
e-cigarettes and HNB tobacco products, misleading claims and
marketing strategy of tobacco industry, so as to enhance public
understanding and support toward the legislation of a total
ban on alternative smoking products. Digital interactive paper
drawing game was set up at the exhibitions. The public colored
the smoke-free drawings and shared through social media as a
pledge to say no to all forms of tobacco products, and an appeal

to encourage family and friends to live a smoke-free lifestyle.
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Health Seminars

In order to strengthen awareness on alternative smoking products
in schools and the community, eight sessions of health seminars
were conducted at secondary schools, universities, social centres,
public health organizations from November 2019 to January
2020, reaching about 450 students, mass public and public health
practitioners. The health seminars introduced the trends of use,
the hazardous effects on using of alternative smoking products
and the deceptive tactics deployed by tobacco companies to
target the young generations.

In addition, a set of digital education resources including teaching
presentations, activity worksheets, game sheets and learning
materials was also developed for students to enhance their
e-learning on health risks associated with alternative smoking
products.

Facebook Page Promotion

A designated Facebook page “Smoking Hazards 2.0" was created
to foster communications with the general public, especially the
youngsters who were easily influenced by the online marketing
tactics of tobacco companies. Through interactive ways and
interesting perspectives, the Page shared the latest news and
information on alternative smoking products, debunked the
misconception on the use of these harmful products, and
revealed the tobacco industry’s interference on public health and
tobacco control policies.
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New APIs “Smoking Harms. Don’t be
Cheated!” and “Quit and Go for a New Life”

COSH produces Announcements in the Public Interest (APIs) every
year to promote the tobacco hazards and smoking cessation.
In view of the growing trend of alternative smoking products
being marketed as trendy products and targeted non-smokers,
particularly the youngsters in recent years, COSH launched two
new APIs titled “Smoking Harms. Don't be Cheated!”and “Quit and
Go for a New Life” in December 2019 and received wide public
support. The two APIs aimed to remind public not to try any
forms of smoking products and promote smoking cessation.

API"Smoking Harms. Don't be Cheated!" revealed the promotional
tactics of tobacco industry to tease both smokers and non-
smokers for trying new smoking products. It reminded the public
to stay alert as electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes) and heat-
not-burn (HNB) tobacco products also contained carcinogens
like conventional cigarettes. The other APl “Quit and Go for a
New Life" targeted to raise public awareness on the health risks
of cigarettes, e-cigarettes and HNB tobacco products. It also
encouraged people to “cut off’, “let go” and “break up” with any
means of smoking products to rebuild a healthy lifestyle.
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Advocacy on Raising Tobacco Tax

According to World Health Organization (WHO), raising tobacco
tax is the single most effective tobacco control measure which
can motivate smokers to quit smoking and prevent smoking
uptake in adolescents. WHO recommended to raise tobacco tax
to at least 75% of the retail price of tobacco products. Nearly 40
countries reached the suggested tobacco tax rate, and close to 60
countries reached 70% or above.

The Government announced “Towards 2025: Strategy and Action
Plan to Prevent and Control Non-communicable Diseases”in 2018.
Further reducing the smoking prevalence to 7.8% by 2025 is one
of the targets. However, the policy on tobacco tax remained at a
standstill in Hong Kong. The tobacco tax has been frozen for the
past five consecutive years and eight years of the last ten years.
Currently, tobacco tax in Hong Kong accounted for only around
64% of the retail price, which was below WHO's recommendation.
In addition, the decline in Hong Kong's smoking prevalence has
been slowed down in the last decade especially there was a slight
increase in 2019. It is necessary to step up tobacco control efforts,
particularly on raising tax, to reduce smoking prevalence.

According to COSH's Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey
conducted from September 2018 to March 2019, 79.6% of all
respondents supported raising tobacco tax next year, including
34.6% of current smokers. The survey also revealed that 84.5%
current smokers would reduce daily consumption or quit if the
retail price of cigarettes increases. They also suggested that the
cigarette retail price per pack should be set at a median price of
HK$100 to effectively motivate them to quit. (For details of survey
results, please refer to page 102.)

“Raising Tobacco Tax Substantially to Achieve Tobacco
Endgame” Press Conference

COSH, tobacco control groups, academia, medical and healthcare
professionals, parents and education sector, patient and quitter
groups jointly held a press conference on 14 January 2020 to urge
the Government to raise tobacco tax by 100% and also impose
subsequent annual tax hikes, in order to accelerate the reduction
in tobacco consumption to protect public health.
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Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman said, “Tobacco tax has been
frozen in most years over the past decade. The last substantial
tobacco tax increment was made far back in 2011. Despite the
WHO's recommendation that tobacco tax should be increased to
at least 75% of the retail price, the tax of major cigarette brands in
Hong Kong accounts for only around 64% of the retail price. We
advocate the Government to raise tobacco tax substantially by
100% in FY2020-2021, as well as to formulate the policy for annual
tax increase to reduce the smoking prevalence to 5% and achieve
Tobacco Endgame as soon as possible”

Currently, the retail price of a pack of major cigarette brands is
about HK$60, which is much lower than other developed regions.
Inflation and income growth can erode the effectiveness of
tax measures over time if the tax level does not increase. Local
evidence has shown that substantial tobacco tax increases
can significantly motivate smokers to refrain from smoking,
enhance their determination to quit and deter smoking uptake
in adolescents. Many countries have set a Tobacco Endgame
plan with schedule. For instance, New Zealand and Malaysia
aim to reduce the smoking prevalence to 5% by 2025 and 2045
respectively.

Speakers advocated the Government to raise tobacco tax by
100% in FY2020-2021 and impose subsequent annual tax hike.
They also urged the Government to strengthen the multi-
pronged tobacco control measures with defined schedules, in
order to lower the smoking prevalence to 5% or below in 2027
and achieve the Tobacco Endgame goal in Hong Kong.
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The press conference was jointly hosted by:

Tobacco Control Groups

- Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health

- Asian Consultancy on Tobacco Control

- Yan Chai Hospital

- Pok Oi Hospital

- The Lok Sin Tong Benevolent Society, Kowloon
- Tung Wah Group of Hospitals

SEE) Events

- United Christian Nethersole Community Health Service

- Christian Family Service Centre
- Clear the Air
- Po Leung Kuk

Academia

- Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine, The University of Hong Kong
- School of Public Health, The University of Hong Kong
- JC School of Public Health and Primary Care, The Chinese

University of Hong Kong
- School of Nursing, The University of Hong Kong
- School of Nursing, Tung Wah College

- The Nethersole School of Nursing, The Chinese University of

Hong Kong

Medical and Healthcare Professionals

- Hong Kong Academy of Medicine

- The Hong Kong Medical Association

- The Federation of Medical Societies of Hong Kong
- Hong Kong Doctors Union

- Hong Kong Dental Association

- Hong Kong College of Cardiology

- The Pharmaceutical Society of Hong Kong

- The Hong Kong Academy of Nursing Limited

- The Society of Hospital Pharmacists of Hong Kong
- Hospital Authority
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Parents and Education Sector

- Committee on Home-School Co-operation

- Hong Kong Aided Primary School Heads Association

- Hong Kong Subsidized Secondary Schools Council

- The Hong Kong Association of the Heads of Secondary Schools
- Life Education Activity Programme

Patient and quitter Groups

- The New Voice Club of Hong Kong

- Quit-Winners Club

- The Hong Kong Anti-Cancer Society

Other Acts

COSH, together with 79 organizations from medical, academia,
parents and teachers, patient and youth service sectors, sent an
open letter to the Financial Secretary in January 2020 to urge the
Government to raise tobacco tax substantially by 100% in FY2020-
2021, as well as to increase annual tax subsequently in order to
further decrease the smoking prevalence. COSH also urged the
Government to enact a total ban on alternative smoking products,
and formulate a comprehensive plan on Tobacco Endgame to
safeguard public health.

In the meantime, advertisements themed “Raising tobacco tax
substantially by 100%" were published in three local newspapers
including am730, Ming Pao and South China Morning Post on 16
January 2020 to raise public awareness and gather support for
raising tobacco tax. COSH expressed strong disappointment with
Government'’s decision to freeze tobacco tax again in FY2020-
2021 for the sixth consecutive year. Still, the media coverage
successfully raised the awareness of general public.



EEREE 2019 EikimSHHY
A%

BMEER  H2019EMNEEHEESES - W
BELRBERBOBERLEREES 14
& MREBEFBEIRIARE - (AR
FRTERDFIEMEE R 2415 < tbHD - B
RIRERRBEEME SN A E - AT EE O
& BEENREEERELREARES AR

ER209BMREEREHE RS A REL -
ZERFEBEMIER  BuEH - &
WMERRHEREREE MMRES [ RE
A LATER 2019 AR ER | 2R EMHE - I
EBERREAEKEIEINE E20198MRES AL
ERkshBEREOKEs  EHTETRAE
EEHETERARE  TEZARESZE
MATHENSEELEAEAEANER

Em BREEGHBE - EF&E  MAFEME
BEERmMMKES - ORER EHEXRBED

R - REEC RRARE

SEE) Events

Promotion on the Correlation between
Smoking and Coronavirus Disease 2019

According to the study of confirmed Coronavirus Disease 2019
(COVID-19) cases, smokers were 1.4 times more likely to have
severe symptoms of COVID-19, and approximately 2.4 times more
likely to be admitted to an Intensive Care Unit, need mechanical
ventilation or die compared to non-smokers. Since smokers could
not wear a surgical mask or avoid contacting with the mouth
and nose while smoking, it might increase the risk of spreading
COVID-19 and viral infection.

In view of the latest epidemic development of COVID-19 across
the globe, COSH debunked the misleading claim that “smoking
could help prevent COVID-19" and explained smoking increases
the risk of viral infection and getting severe symptoms through
press release, information update on websites, media coverage
and promotion via social media platforms. Citizens were
encouraged not to initiate smoking and smokers should stop
using any forms of tobacco products including conventional
cigarettes, electronic cigarettes, heat-not-burn tobacco products
and waterpipe tobacco immediately for reduction of disease risk,
in order to safeguard their health as well as their family.
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Elderly Smoking Cessation Promotion Project
2019-2020

COSH has been dedicated to promoting a smoke-free lifestyle.
Currently, there are 637,900 daily cigarette smokers in Hong
Kong, in which 26.3% aged 60 years or above. To cater the needs
of elderly smokers and invite them to live smoke-free, COSH
launched the Elderly Smoking Cessation Promotion Project 2019-
2020, with the aims to promote tobacco hazards, clarify the
misconceptions of smoking cessation and encourage the elderlies
to kick the smoking habit. The smoke-free messages were widely
spread among elderlies through health talks, workshops and
media promotion.

Health Talks

From April 2019 to January 2020, COSH conducted about 40
sessions of health talks at elderly centres across the territory to
promote smoke-free messages and encourage smoking cessation
among about 2,000 elderlies. They were also invited to share the
messages with their families and friends.

Radio Promotion

Besides, COSH collaborated with Commercial Radio to produce
radio segments and invite smoking cessation experts, successful
quitters and “Smoke-free Elderly Ambassadors” to share harms
of smoking, their quit stories and experiences of smoke-free
promotion. Audio clips were also broadcast at the programme
“Silver Age Club” to debunk the myths of smoking, promote
smoking cessation services and solicit public support for smoking
cessation.
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“Smoke-free Elderly Ambassadors” Workshops

With the support from New Territories West Elder Academies
Cluster (NTWEAC) and Asbury Methodist Social Service, Elderly
Smoking Cessation Promotion Project 2019-2020 recruited 42
“Smoke-free Elderly Ambassadors”to promote smoking cessation
among their peers. Workshops were held to enhance their
knowledge on hazards of smoking, quit tips and basic Chinese
medical healthcare. They also learnt to make social media images
to motivate others to quit smoking.

“Smoke-free Elderly Ambassadors” Appreciation Ceremony

“Smoke-free Elderly Ambassadors” Appreciation Ceremony
was held on 7 January 2020, to compliment the support and
participation of working partners and “Smoke-free Elderly
Ambassadors”. Officiating guests included Dr FUNG Ying, Head
of Tobacco and Alcohol Control Office, Department of Health,
Dr LAM Ching-choi, Chairman of Elderly Commission, Antonio
KWONG, COSH Chairman and Yolanda NG, COSH Vice-chairman.
Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community Medicine &
Sir Robert Kotewall Professor in Public Health, School of Public
Health, The University of Hong Kong, “Smoke-free Elderly
Ambassadors’, singers Andy LEUNG and On CHAN also attended
the event and called for public support to stay away from tobacco
through games and chit-chat sessions.
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Smoke-free Carnival in Sha Tin

LEE Chi-wing Sha Tin District Councilor’s Office organized a
Smoke-free Carnival at Bayshore Towers in Ma On Shan on 21
April 2019. COSH was invited to host a game booth to raise public
awareness on smoking hazards and smoke-free souvenirs were
distributed to over 500 citizens who joined the carnival.

“Togetherness, We are the Voice that Shine”
Sunday Carnival cum Open Day of the New
Voice Club of Hong Kong

The New Voice Club of Hong Kong assists laryngectomies
and laryngeal cancer patients in regaining their voice and
reintegrating into the community through promoting self-help
and mutual help spirit. The Club hosted the “Togetherness, We
are the Voice that Shine” Sunday Carnival cum Open Day on 28
April 2019 at Shek Kip Mei Estate. The Club arranged Chinese
medicine consultation, health talks and body checks for citizens
to understand their scope of services and facilities.

COSH was invited to set up an interactive game booth and
distribute smoke-free booklets to propagate the smoking hazards
and encourage public to quit smoking in order to lower the risk of
laryngeal cancer and other diseases. Over 100 participants joined
the event.
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Home-School Co-operation Carnival

Federation of Parent-Teacher Association, Kowloon City District
organized the Home-School Co-operation Carnival at Munsang
College on 1 May 2019. COSH was invited to deliver a health talk,
set up exhibition panel and host a game booth to introduce
tobacco control development in Hong Kong as well as smoking
hazards to over 300 participating parents and students.

Smoke-free Promotion Programmes of
MTR Corporation Limited

COSH co-organized smoke-free programmes with MTR
Corporation Limited to motivate smoking staff to quit smoking.
COSH was invited to set up exhibition panel and distribute
promotional publications at Kowloon Bay Depot and Ho Tung Lau
Depot on 8 July and 7 November 2019 respectively to raise staff
consciousness on health and wellbeing. COSH also conducted
the carbon monoxide breath tests and referred some smokers for
smoking cessation services.
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Smoke-free Promotion Campaign of
The Hong Kong Jockey Club

Since 2014, COSH has been working closely with The Hong Kong
Jockey Club to organize diversified smoke-free programmes
to advocate smoke-free culture in the community through its
extensive network. Smoke-free posters had been displayed
at all betting branches across the territory since January 2019
to encourage public to stay away from tobacco products.
Promotional booth was set up on 14 July 2019 at Tseung Kwan O
branch to educate the public on adverse effects of smoking
through interactive games. Smoking cessation referrals were also
provided for smokers to boost their determination.

Hong Kong International Dental Expo and
Symposium 2019

The Hong Kong Dental Association hosted the "Hong Kong
International Dental Expo and Symposium 2019” on 2 to 4
August 2019 at Hong Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre. To
enhance the collaboration on tobacco control works with dental
professionals, COSH was invited to set up an information booth
and distribute smoke-free publications for introducing COSH’s
education and publicity programmes and the tobacco control
works in Hong Kong. Participants were also urged to sign the
“Support to Enact a Total Ban on Alternative Smoking Products”
and pledge for joining “Smoke-free Channel’, to strive for a smoke-
free Hong Kong.
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Health Family Day of Christian Family Service
Centre

Christian Family Service Centre held a Health Family Day on
17 August 2019 at the Kwun Tong Headquarters, targeted to
promote a smoke-free and alcohol free lifestyle and arouse public
awareness on nutrition and physical exercises. Apart from game
booths, body checks such as cholesterol tests, glucose level and
BMI, medical consultation were available for the residents in Kwun
Tong. Registered nurses and nutritionists also provided diseases
and nutrition consultation. COSH was invited to host the “Smoke-
free Journey” interactive game booth to equip participants
with knowledge on smoking hazards. Around 500 residents
participated in the event.

“Run For Passion” of the Cancerinformation.
com.hk Charity Foundation

The Cancerinformation.com.hk Charity Foundation held the first
charity run named “Run For Passion” on 1 September 2019 at
Science Park, Pak Shek Kok. The Run aimed to raise funding for
cancer patients in need. COSH was invited to set up a game and
information booth to promote the importance of living smoke-
free and encourage participants to support their smoking family
members and friends to kick the habit, in order to minimize the
risk of smoking-related cancers. Booklets with smoking cessation
information were distributed at the event.
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Central and Western District Health Festival
2019/2020

To enhance health consciousness of the residents in Central
and Western District, the Steering Committee on Healthy City in
the Central and Western District collaborated with the Central
and Western District Office to organize the “Central and Western
District Health Festival 2019/2020" on 7 to 8 September 2019 at
Smithfield Sports Centre. A series of health exhibitions, game
booths, health talks, exercise demonstrations and free-of-
charge body checks were provided. The event attracted nearly a
thousand of participants.

Jacqueline LEUNG, COSH Senior Project Manager was invited to
join the opening ceremony. COSH also set up a booth to enhance
participants’ understanding on smoking hazards through
interesting games, smoke-free short videos and booklets. COSH
also urged the public to join the signatory campaign of “Support
to Enact a Total Ban on Alternative Smoking Products”.
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CLPP Safety, Health & Environment (SHE) Day
2019

CLP Power Hong Kong Limited annual event “Safety, Health &
Environment (SHE) Day” was held on 18 January 2020 at Black
Point Power Station in Tuen Mun. The event aimed to boost
participants’ awareness on safety, health and environment
through stage performances, game booths and exhibitions. Over
5,000 staff and their families participated in the event. COSH
was invited to host a game booth namely “Support Smoke-free
Hong Kong” and distribute smoke-free brochures and leaflets to
highlight the importance of a smoke-free lifestyle. Participants
were also invited to support a total ban on alternative smoking
products.
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Health Talks for “Smoke-free New Generation’

Delivering smoke-free messages to the next generation at an
early stage is critical to help them recognize the importance of
a smoke-free environment, deter them from lighting up the first
cigarette and motivate them to encourage family members and
friends to quit smoking. Since 1991, COSH has organized health
talks in kindergartens, primary schools, secondary schools and
tertiary institutions across the territory every year to educate the
children and teenagers on smoking hazards.

During the school year 2019 to 2020, COSH delivered health
talks in more than 80 schools, reaching over 15,000 students. The
health talks covered the harmful effects of smoking, secondhand
smoke, third-hand smoke and other alternative smoking products,
as well as the latest updates on tobacco control, such as tobacco
control policy in Hong Kong, smoking cessation services and
marketing tactics of the tobacco industry. COSH educators also
introduced COSH's programmes, broadcast promotional videos
and enhanced students interaction by question-and-answer
session.
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“Smoke-free Teens Programme” 2019-2020

Youngsters are the major force of tobacco control in Hong Kong.
COSH is devoted to smoke-free education to equip youngsters
with knowledge on smoking hazards and encourage them to live
a healthy lifestyle. The “Smoke-free Teens Programme” has been
organized annually since 2012 to instill knowledge of tobacco
control and smoking hazards in youngsters, provide opportunities
to develop various skills and organize smoke-free promotion
activities to be future leaders.

Over 2,400 Smoke-free Teens have been nurtured as tobacco
control pioneers under the Programme. The Programme
2019-2020 was co-organized by Education Bureau, about 200
youngsters aged 14 to 18, from 20 secondary schools and uniform
groups joined the Programme.

Smoke-free Training Camps

The leadership training camps were held during the summer
holiday in 2019. To prepare participants for organizing smoke-free
activities, COSH held a pre-camp briefing session cum workshop
and invited extreme marathon runner Steve LO and Ken LA|, the
co-founder of a STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering and
Mathematics) education organization. They shared the benefits of
replacing smoking by healthy habits and useful tips on planning
effective promotion activities with STEM elements.
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Four 2-Day-1-Night leadership training camps shared information
on smoking hazards and tobacco control measures with Smoke-fee
Teens. Diversified trainings and group activities further enhanced
participants’ skills on leadership, creative and critical thinking,
communication and problem solving, team building, programme
planning and smoking cessation counseling techniques.

Smoke-free Programmes in Schools and the Community

After completing the leadership training camp in summer,
the Smoke-free Teens applied their knowledge to hold about
60 innovative smoke-free programmes at schools and the
community between September and December 2019, reaching
over 10,000 citizens from all walks of life. Smoke-free Teens
demonstrated their enhanced skills by organizing different
activities including game booths and production of creative
short films. Street interviews were also conducted to collect
public opinions on tobacco control policies round the world and
encourage the mass public to adopt a smoke-free lifestyle.
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Smoke-free Teens Alumni Programme and Summer
Internship Programme

In order to sustain the Smoke-free Teens' pioneering role in
spreading smoke-free culture, participants were encouraged
to join the Smoke-free Teens Alumni and continue to promote
smoke-free messages by attending sharing sessions, assisting
game booths and exhibitions in the community and participating
in other tobacco control activities. Outstanding participants of
"Smoke-free Teens Programme” could also join the internship
programme to work in COSH during the next summer holiday.
The interns could learn about career planning by participating in
the smoke-free publicity programmes.

Showcase cum Sharing

Due to the epidemic of Coronavirus Disease 2019, the result
of “Smoke-free Teens Programme” 2019-2020 was announced
through online platforms and print media. Activity photos of
outstanding teams and their testimonial videos were uploaded

n “Smoke-free Teens Programme” website and Facebook page to
commend their efforts on promoting a smoke-free culture and to
share their successful experiences in organizing activities.
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The champion team, Christian Alliance S C Chan Memorial
College (Team 2) produced a series of creative videos named “Take
a closer look at smoking hazards from different perspectives’, with
participation of subject teachers and social workers. The videos
provided in-depth exploration of smoking hazards from different
angles. The team also set up game booths at school, promoted
the videos through social media platforms, liaised with other
schools to design and distributed greeting cards to encourage
smokers to quit smoking. A tailor-made survey was conducted for
evaluating the effectiveness of their activities. Through effective
promotional channels and constant review, the team'’s activities
spread smoke-free messages to around 1,800 individuals with
overwhelming response.

The first runner-up team, Lingnan Dr Chung Wing Kwong
Memorial Secondary School organized a series of creative smoke-
free activities with the theme of “Smoke-free, walk together,
including interactive game booths, street interviews, short films
and DIY greeting cards, Chinese writing competition and parents’
seminars. Around 2,300 people were reached while awareness
on hazards of smoking and alternative smoking products were
enhanced.
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ZEBERHSHEA2E ARLEEEH ©  The second runner-up team, Cotton Spinners Association
BE—wmTEES EREFE(LMEEWKA  Secondary School, produced a video with reference to a popular
FREGFRENEE WO EMIERLFE - variety show and highlighted the health consequences of
MEERERBE2EEEIE R4 smoking and the benefits of smoking cessation in a humorous

DE o way. Sharing videos by the principal and the team were also
promoted at social media platform.
FRABAUT Winner List:
BE : 5BEglins Lo 2 (FE K) Champion: Christian Alliance S C Chan Memorial College (Team 2)
E : EEERAET LSRR First runner-up: Lingnan Dr Chung Wing Kwong Memorial
TE  ghgpE Secondary School
Second runner-up: Cotton Spinners Association Secondary School
[ME E /T Teens EFX |
CBEFREEBLSTE Outstanding Smoke-free Teams:
-ECEAEHRE - Lok Sin Tong Leung Chik Wai Memorial School
- BEREEEEHEGREEPE - Queen’s College Old Boys' Association Secondary School
- The Association of Directors & Former Directors of Pok Oi
rEEE Hospital Limited Leung Sing Tak College

www.smokefree.hk/smokefreeteens
Programme Website:
www.smokefree.hk/smokefreeteens
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School Interactive Education Theatre
“Smoke-free Detective Adventure”

Since 1995, the “School Interactive Education Theatre Programme”
has been one of COSH’s major education and publicity
programmes to prevent youth smoking. Cooperating with schools
and local professional troupe, COSH encourages the students to
promote a smoke-free lifestyle with their families. The Programme
contributed over 2,000 performances, reaching almost 570,000
students and teachers over the years.

Key messages of tobacco control are delivered when students
enjoyed the interactive education theatre performance along
with music, stage effects and interesting presentations. Students
learn about the harmful effects of smoking, secondhand smoke,
third-hand smoke and alternative smoking products. They could
also understand the fallacies about smoking, how to say no to
secondhand smoke and the ways to encourage smoking family
members to kick the habit. Parents are also welcomed to attend
the performances.

The 2019-2020 Programme was co-organized by Education
Bureau. In collaboration with iStage Theatre for the first time,
a brand-new interactive drama titled “Smoke-free Detective
Adventure” was launched. With the support of Ocean Park Hong
Kong, a character Redd, was featured in the drama to spread
smoke-free messages. In addition, special credit was given to Prof
LAM Tai-hing, the professional consultant of the drama.
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The story was about Dr Healthy, a scientist who came from 2050,
found himself suffering from smoking related diseases after the
check-up by his medical robot Healthy 3.0, despite the fact that
he had never smoke. To find out the root cause, he travelled back
to 2019 with his favorite Redd by the time-travelling machine he
invented. In 2019, he met Hong Jai (his childhood), Bo Chu (his
best friend) and his parents. He was puzzled to find all smoking
hazards attributed to his family and friends. With the assistance
of all students, he detected the tobacco risks, convinced his
best friend to stay away from the temptation to smoke and
successfully encouraged his family member to quit smoking.
Audience actively participated in the interactive sessions with
actors, promised to reject the first cigarette and share smoke-free
messages with their families.

The premiere was held at the Jockey Club Auditorium, The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University on 10 October 2019, which
was attended by around 300 students, teachers and guests.
Honounble guests included Dr FUNG Ying, Head of Tobacco and
Alcohol Control Office, Department of Health, Dr Andy TAM, Chief
Curriculum Development Officer (MCNE), Education Bureau, Prof
LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community Medicine & Sir Robert
Kotewall Professor in Public Health, School of Public Health, The
University of Hong Kong, Candy LAW, Senior Marketing Manager,
Ocean Park Hong Kong, Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman and
Vienna LAI, COSH Executive Director. The Programme began its
tours across the territory afterwards.
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Apart from the drama performance, a “Smoke-free Teaching Kit"
was developed for teachers while a designated website, bring-
home educational materials and souvenirs were provided for
students to review the smoke-free information anytime. Through
the "Smoke-free Detective Tool and Slogan Design Competition’,
students were encouraged to utilize the knowledge they acquired
during the drama to spread the smoke-free messages in a creative
way.

Due to the school suspension in second term under the epidemic
of Coronavirus Disease 2019, COSH echoed “Suspending Classes
without Suspending Learning” by launching an online version
of the drama performance with an interactive learning platform,
which allowed primary students to enrich their smoke-free
knowledge and motivated them to share the messages with their
families at home. In total, over 20,000 students and teachers were
reached through touring and online version of the drama.

Programme Website: www.educationtheatre.hk

Z=5 Second runner-up
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HKU School of Nursing — Nursing Programme

School of Nursing of The University of Hong Kong endeavors
to provide professional nursing training and is a close working
partner of COSH over the years. Courses on tobacco control and
smoking cessation counseling are provided to enhance their
students’awareness and involvement in the works of curbing and
quitting tobacco use.

On 1 April 2019 and 30 March 2020, Lawrence CHU, COSH Senior
Project Manager was invited to give guest lectures to their Master
programme and delivered presentations titled “Tobacco Control
and Smoking Prevention Programmes in Hong Kong” to over
100 master students. Tobacco control measures and smoking
cessation services in Hong Kong, as well as COSH’s education,
publicity programmes and advocacy works were introduced. Mr
Chu also shared the challenges of tobacco control and role of
COSH in building a smoke-free Hong Kong.

New Territories West Integrated Service,
The Salvation Army - Joint School Student
Leadership Training Scheme

A group of teenage participants of “The 35" Joint School Student
Leadership Training Scheme” organized by New Territories
West Integrated Service of The Salvation Army visited COSH
on 26 April 2019 to understand how the alternative smoking
products imposed challenges on tobacco control in Hong Kong.
Participants shared their opinions on the total ban on alternative
smoking products. Lawrence CHU, COSH Senior Project Manager,
Jacqueline TSE and Fung WONG, COSH Project Managers
introduced COSH's advocacy works and the latest development
of tobacco control across the globe. COSH was also invited
to attend the graduation ceremony of “The 35" Joint School
Student Leadership Training Scheme”on 27 May 2019 at Lingnan
University to enjoy their smoke-free drama about the adverse
impacts of electronic cigarettes in Hong Kong.
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Hospital Authority Convention 2019

Hospital Authority hosted the “Hospital Authority Convention
2019"on 14 to 15 May 2019 at Hong Kong Convention and
Exhibition Centre, which aimed to facilitate the sharing of
knowledge and experience on clinical advances. COSH was
invited to set up an information booth to introduce COSH’s
education and publicity programmes as well as the tobacco
control development in Hong Kong. Smoke-free publications
and souvenirs were distributed to enhance the exchange and
collaboration on tobacco control with medical and healthcare
professionals.

HKU Youth Quitline — Smoking Cessation
Counselor Training Workshop

Established in 2005, the “Youth Quitline” is a youth-oriented
smoking cessation hotline introduced by the School of Nursing
of The University of Hong Kong to help smokers aged 25 or
below kick the habit. Over the years, the “Youth Quitline” has
been recruiting and nurturing many young smoking cessation
counselors.

COSH was invited to deliver a lecture at the Smoking Cessation
Counselor Training Workshop on 21 September 2019. Vienna
LAI, COSH Executive Director shared the smoking prevalence of
Hong Kong, tobacco control policies and COSH's role with the
participants. Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community
Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewall Professor in Public Health, School
of Public Health, The University of Hong Kong also delivered a
lecture on hazards of smoking and secondhand smoke. Skills
and techniques on telephone counseling and motivational
interviewing were delivered by the experienced smoking
cessation nurses and counselors. Through case studies and group
discussions, the participants understood the professional theories
and got the opportunities for practice.
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COSH maintains a close and longstanding relation with the mass
media, enabling the messages of tobacco control and COSH's
promotion activities to penetrate into all levels of the society
effectively. COSH Secretariat regularly fields interviews and
enquiries from different newspapers, publications, television and
radio stations, as well as other media platforms. COSH issued the
following press releases to the media during the year:

Press Release

Support to enact a total ban on alternative smoking

2019/4/13 N
RIETH R fi2fR products

5019/4/75 BEREEBBASENUREE M Expert recommended a total ban on alternative
b7 BB LARIA smoking products in Hong Kong

\, Enact a total ban on alternative smoking products

RS R BB R

2019/5/23 éﬁﬁ;ﬂ?iéi B promptly to protect public health and the next

- generations
S — [ 4R | I =URED Develop healthy hobbies to replace smoking via

S BN T R H R AR

“Smoke-free Channel”

B EEBH A KEES [ EEXEE | Premiere of School Interactive Education Theatre

2019/10/10 SEIRZ2ERESRE
EasiEEBERED
[E(EE kA 5180 2019-2020

Encourages students to detect smoking hazards
and spread smoke free message to their family

“Elderly Smoking Cessation Promotion Project 2019-

2020/1/7 T NSO . ) .
ALK EMLER 2020" reminds the elderly “Never Too Late to Quit”
5020/1/14 K IE I8 hnfE EF Raising tobacco tax substantially to achieve Tobacco
HRER T EEE Endgame
. L _ N Open Letter to Financial Secretary, HKSAR
SESRATBENHAARAME O /
202071721 SEINESR 100% IR RN % Tobacco tax increase by 100% and subsequent
S 0
BAIRBR PR S R ‘ / | .
annual tax increase to accelerate smoking reduction
. PO . COSH's response to the tobacco control policies
2020/2/26 ZE g EMEE R EEE P P
proposed by The Budget
Y. S BNA B Quit smoking immediately to reduce the risks of

UK S 2019 B NR SR AR

COVID-19
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Fellowship Programme on Tobacco Control
2019

The “Fellowship Programme on Tobacco Control 2019” was
organized in Hong Kong from 11 to 15 November 2019 by the
World Health Organization Collaborating Centre for Smoking
Cessation and Treatment of Tobacco Dependence under the
Tobacco and Alcohol Control Office, Department of Health. The
programme aimed to provide training for the tobacco control
personnel of governments and non-governmental organizations
in West-Pacific Region. According to “MPOWER" framework laid
down by the World Health Organization (WHO), the programme
facilitated representatives from tobacco control organizations
in Hong Kong and countries of West-Pacific Region to master
tobacco control skills through a comprehensive overview of the
latest tobacco control measures and experience sharing, which
strengthened their knowledge including legislation, enforcement,
advocacy and publicity, as well as development and evaluation of
cessation programmes.

International and local tobacco control experts included Prof
Judith MACKAY, WHO Senior Policy Advisor, Kathleen LANNAN
and Mina KASHIWABARA, WHO experts, Therese SHUMAKER from
Nicotine Dependence Center of Mayo Clinic, the United States, Dr
Becky FREEMAN from The University of Sydney, Australia, Dr FUNG
Ying, Head of Tobacco and Alcohol Control Office, Department
of Health and Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community
Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewall Professor in Public Health, School
of Public Health, The University of Hong Kong were invited as
guest speakers. Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman, was invited to
deliver a presentation titled “Role of COSH in Advocacy, Education
and Publicity against Tobacco Use in Hong Kong” which
highlighted the experience and challenges of COSH's works on
tobacco control in Hong Kong over the years.
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The 20 National Symposium on Tobacco
Control cum the 10 Cross-strait, Hong Kong
and Macau Tobacco Control Conference

“National Symposium on Tobacco Control” is organized by
Chinese Association on Tobacco Control every two years with
an aim to provide a platform for tobacco control practitioners
and public health academics across the country to exchange
knowledge and experience. The “Cross-strait, Hong Kong and
Macau Tobacco Control Conference” is co-organized by Chinese
Association on Tobacco Control, COSH, John Tung Foundation of
Taiwan and Macao Tobacco Control Alliance regularly to enhance
tobacco control collaboration in mainland China, Hong Kong,
Taiwan and Macao.

With the theme of “Healthy China 2030 Initiative’, the 20" National
Symposium on Tobacco Control cum the 10" Cross-strait, Hong
Kong and Macau Tobacco Control Conference was held in
Chongging, Sichuan Province from 17 to 19 November 2019,
and was attended by around 500 delegates and tobacco control
experts to share the latest development on tobacco control and
research findings. COSH formed a delegation comprising Antonio
KWONG, Chairman, Vienna LAl, Executive Director and Jacqueline
LEUNG, Senior Project Manager to join the Symposium cum the
Conference.
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Representing Hong Kong, Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman, was
invited to share the accomplishments and challenges on tobacco
control in Hong Kong at the round-table panel discussion on
“Leadership in Tobacco Control - How will we know if what we are
doing is working?”. Vienna LAI, COSH Executive Director delivered
a presentation on “Enlargement of pictorial health warnings can
effectively promote smoking hazards and encourage smoking
cessation: experiences in Hong Kong" to highlight the raising
public awareness on the health warnings and consider to quit
smoking after the 85% pictorial health warnings were in effective
from 2018 in Hong Kong.

Besides, Jacqueline LEUNG, COSH Senior Project Manager
introduced the tailor-made promotion programme targeting
industry with high smoking rate at the presentation titled
"Promote smoke-free culture among the transportation industry
via tailored programme ‘Smoke-free Drivers Club™ Two submitted
abstracts by COSH were published in the abstract booklet,
while the later one was also awarded as one of the outstanding

abstracts.

At the closing ceremony, Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman
represented COSH to receive the conference flag from LIAO
Wenke, Vice Chairman of China Association on Tobacco Control,
organizer of the Conference. Mr Kwong invited all tobacco control
experts to join the 11* Cross-strait, Hong Kong and Macau
Tobacco Control Conference to be held in Hong Kong.
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World No Tobacco Day 2019 cum the 10t
Anniversary of Smoke-free & Healthy Life
Association of Macau

Established in 2009, Smoke-free & Healthy Life Association of Macau
(SHLAM) has been conducting a series of research on tobacco use,
as well as launching smoke-free education programmes for mass
public and youth, so as to spread out the smoke-free messages
and advocate for a smoke-free Macao. To mark its 10" anniversary,
echo the World No Tobacco Day and commemorate the tobacco
control development in Macao, SHLAM organized the “2019 World
No Tobacco Day cum the 10" Anniversary of Smoke-free & Healthy
Life Association of Macau”on 24 May 2019. COSH and tobacco
control organizations across the country were invited. XU Gui-hua,
Researcher of Chinese Association on Tobacco Control, Dr Daniel
HO, COSH Member and Associate Professor, School of Public Health,
The University of Hong Kong and LIN Ching-li, Representative of
John Tung Foundation of Taiwan delivered keynote speeches and
shared their experiences, development and challenges of tobacco
control from a global perspective. SHLAM also introduced the
current development and achievements of tobacco control in
Macao, and expressed their gratitude to different organizations
and stakeholders for their contributions to a smoke-free Macao.
Lawrence CHU, COSH Senior Project Manager represented COSH to
attend the event and congratulated SHILAM.

Health Promotion Branch, Department of Health

Health Promotion Branch of Department of Health visited COSH
on 9 October 2019 and exchanged the strategies on public health
policies, health education and promotion. Vienna LAI, COSH
Executive Director, Lawrence CHU and Jacqueline LEUNG, COSH
Senior Project Managers introduced the education and publicity
works of COSH, as well as the challenges ahead for tobacco
control. The latest publicity events of different divisions under
the Health Promotion Branch were shared. The visit strengthened
the mutual understanding on multiple perspectives of health
promotion and enhanced collaboration in safequarding public
health.
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Resource Centre

COSH Resource Centre had been set up for visitors to provide a
variety of information related to smoking and health. Collections
of the Resource Centre include various local and international
periodicals, journals, books, research papers, conference
proceedings, reference materials, statistics, education materials
and audio-visual materials about tobacco hazards, passive
smoking, smoking cessation and tobacco control legislation,
etc. Members of public can also access to the research reports,
smoke-free promotion and education materials such as leaflets
and posters.

Visitors of the Resource Centre include students, teachers, parents,
researchers, medical and healthcare practitioners, tobacco control
organizations and public health professionals. COSH also receives
visits from local and overseas delegations.

Enquiry on Smoking and Health

The public can acquire information about smoking and health,
smoke-free legislations in Hong Kong, methods and benefits to
quit smoking and details of COSH's programmes via different
means including telephone, fax or email etc. The public can
also make enquiries, suggestions and complaints regarding
smoking or other related issues. Any feedback, suggestions or
complaints received will be responded instantly or/and referred
to the government departments and organizations concerned
respectively.

Between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020, COSH received
about 230 enquiries from the public requesting for information,
making suggestions and complaints. Major categories of cases
included enquiries on tobacco control legislation in Hong
Kong, applications for COSH's education and publicity materials,
enquiries on information of alternative smoking products,
including electronic cigarettes, heat-not-burn tobacco products
and waterpipe tobacco, and complaints on smoking offenses.
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COSH Website, Facebook Page and
E-Newsletter

COSH's website (www.smokefree.hk) is developed to inform the
public about the latest information related to smoking and health,
as well as the updated activities of COSH. From 1 April 2019 to 31
March 2020, COSH's website recorded over 479,000 page views.
The top viewed pages included smoking hazards, electronic
cigarettes and methods of cessation.

To facilitate different segments of the community including
persons with disability to access to tobacco control information
and COSH's services, COSH's website adopted the accessibility
design and attained the requirements of Gold Award of “Web
Accessibility Recognition Scheme” organized by the Hong Kong
Internet Registration Corporation Limited. This scheme is co-
organized by the Office of the Government Chief Information
Officer and supported by Equal Opportunities Commission.
COSH'’s website had been awarded the Triple Gold Award
since 2018-2019. The other two project websites "Quit to
Win” Smoke-free Community Campaign (www.quittowin.hk)

and “School Interactive Education Theatre Programme”

(www.educationtheatre.hk) also achieved the Triple Gold Award
and Gold Award respectively.

Meanwhile, e-newsletter is released regularly covering the recent
findings on smoking hazards and smoking cessation across the
globe, local and international development on tobacco control
and the latest activities of COSH. The public is welcomed to
subscribe the e-newsletter through COSH's website.

As social media becomes a popular information source, a
Facebook page “Smoke-free Family” (www.facebook.com/
smokefreefamily) had been set up to enhance interaction with
the public, as well as release the latest news on tobacco control,
hazards of smoking, tips and benefits of smoking cessation.
Members of public can also obtain the details of COSH’s
programmes and join via the Facebook page.

[i] # 1% K EE smokefreefamily
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Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey 2019

COSH’s Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey has been
conducted since 2012 to regularly investigate the effectiveness
of tobacco control policies in Hong Kong and keep track of the
public’s views on the policies. It is a representative cross-sectional
survey and covers a wide scope of topics related to smoking and
health, including pattern of smoking and cessation, secondhand
smoke exposure, opinions towards current and future tobacco
control measures, etc.

The School of Nursing and School of Public Health of The
University of Hong Kong were commissioned by COSH to
conduct the Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey 2019. Data
were collected by Public Opinion Programme of The University
of Hong Kong (currently known as Hong Kong Public Opinion
Research Institute) via telephone interview. From September 2018
to March 2019, the survey successfully collected the information
from the randomized sample of 5,156 respondents aged 15 years
or above who could speak Cantonese, including 1,714 never
smokers, 1,739 ex-smokers and 1,703 current smokers. Smoking
refers to the use of any forms of tobacco products, including
conventional cigarettes, electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes) and
heat-not-burn (HNB) tobacco products etc. Respondents were
divided into different subsamples to answer different question
subsets consisting of core and random questions. The final sample
was weighted to the Hong Kong population in 2018.

Key results of the survey are shown below:
Use of Smoking Products

. Majority (81.5%) of current smokers reported single tobacco
product use while 13.7% reported dual or multiple tobacco
product use in the past four weeks.

o On average, current cigarette smokers consumed 12.7
cigarettes per day. Nearly half (46.7%) of the current
cigarette smokers smoked the first cigarette within half
an hour after waking up, indicating a higher addiction to
nicotine.
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. Among all respondents, 2.9% had ever used e-cigarettes.

e Over a quarter (27.4%) of respondents among all
respondents had heard about HNB tobacco products and
2.5% had ever used.

. The Government had proposed to ban the import,
manufacture, sale, distribution and advertisement of
alternative smoking products, including e-cigarettes and
HNB tobacco products. About two-thirds of respondents
(64.0%) supported to ban e-cigarettes, and more than half
(58.2%) of those who had heard of HNB tobacco products
supported to ban them.

e Most (82.1%) respondents had heard about waterpipe
tobacco and 8.8% had ever used.

Pattern of Smoking Cessation

o Nearly half (43.8%) of the current smokers had an intention
to quit smoking, while about a quarter (27.7%) tried to quit
and made 2.9 attempts on average in the past 12 months.

e About 13.2% of current smokers had ever used smoking
cessation services.

Passive Smoking

® Among all respondents, 16.9% lived with at least one
smoker and 14.2% were exposed to secondhand smoke
(SHS) at home in the past seven days.

e Exposure to SHS at workplace was not rare that 25.4% of
employed respondents were exposed to SHS by smokers
smoking within three meters at workplace in at least one
day in the past seven days.
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Expansion of Statutory No Smoking Areas

The survey showed expansion of statutory no smoking areas
gained strong support. For instance, respondents supported
to extend no smoking areas to public transport stops (96.0%),
queuing line in public places (93.7%), pedestrian walkways
(83.4%), busy streets (83.1%), public areas of residential
buildings (82.3%), within three meters of doorways of office
buildings (77.1%), seating-out areas of restaurants (68.4%),
all public outdoor places (64.1%) and seating-out areas of
bars (61.0%).

Respondents overwhelmingly supported to ban smoking in
the venues where children are present, including all public
areas (88.3%), in private vehicles (87.2%) and home (73.5%).

73.7% of respondents agreed that the Government should
ban smoking while walking on streets.

Over 80% (84.8%) of respondents agreed that the
Government should raise the fine of smoking offenses (the
fine is HK$ 1,500 at present).

Majority (81.9%) of respondents supported that the person-
in-charge of a smoke-free premise should be liable to a
penalty upon smoking offenses in the premise.
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Regulations on Cigarette Packaging

Nearly 90% (88.6%) of current smokers noticed the pictorial
health warnings (PHW) on cigarette packs in the past 30
days. The rate was much higher than in never smokers
(40.3%) and ex-smokers (37.4%).

Among the current smokers, 62.5% thought about the
harms of smoking, 31.0% thought about quitting smoking
and 10.8% held back from smoking after noticing PHW in
the past 30 days.

Most (78.9%) respondents agreed that the PHW should be
clearer and more threatening about the hazards of smoking.
Over half (63.8%) agreed to change the PHW regularly.

Hong Kong adopted larger PHW at 85% of the two largest
surfaces and mandated the quitline number on each
cigarette pack since December 2017. More than half (61.8%)
of the current smokers had seen the quitline number on
cigarette packs.

Plain packaging standardizes and simplifies the packaging
of tobacco products. Trademarks, graphics and logos are
not allowed on cigarette packs, while brand names can only
be displayed in a standard font, colour and location on the
package. Half (50.7%) of the respondents and nearly one-
third (30.0%) of current smokers supported to adopt plain
packaging.
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Tobacco Advertising and Promotion

e Most (69.3%) respondents noticed point of sale tobacco
products display in the past 30 days.

e A majority (70.6%) of respondents thought that the display
of tobacco products was a kind of advertisement and
promotion, and 45.0% reckoned that the display encourages
young people to smoke.

° Nearly two-thirds (65.0%) of respondents and slightly over
half (51.8%) of the current smokers agreed to ban point of
sale tobacco products display.

Tobacco Tax

° Majority (79.6%) of respondents supported the Government
to raise tobacco tax next year and most (70.9%) respondents
agreed to raise tobacco tax annually.

o In ex-smokers and current smokers, 63.8% agreed that
cigarette price should be increased to motivate smokers to
quit smoking.

° Almost half (49.8%) of the current smokers said that they
would quit smoking if the cigarette price increased. On
average, they reckoned that the price of a pack of cigarettes
should be raised to HK$129 (median was HK$100) to make
them quit smoking.
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Opinions on Future Tobacco Control Policies

e Respondents overwhelmingly agreed (79.6%) that public
officers should not be commercially affiliated with the
tobacco industry and its representatives.

° A majority (79.5%) of respondents and 69.3% of current
smokers agreed to increase the legal age for purchasing
Cigarettes from 18 to 21 years old.

° More than half (58.5%) of the respondents agreed that
children born in and after 2018 should never have access to
cigarettes.

e Majority of respondents supported a total ban on the sale
(70.8%) and on the use (72.7%) of all forms of tobacco
products in Hong Kong. The measures were also supported
by 33.1% and 33.6% of current smokers respectively.

° Almost 70% (68.0%) of respondents agreed to ban smoking
if the smoking prevalence in Hong Kong decreases to 5% or
lower.

o Around two-thirds (65.7%) of respondents and 35.8% of
current smokers supported the Government to set 2027 as
the year for enacting a total ban on smoking in Hong Kong.

To advocate for appropriate measures and raise public awareness
duly, COSH released the preliminary findings on specific topics in
different occasions.
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Cluster Randomized Controlled Trial on
Reducing Exposure to Tobacco Smoke
among Primary School Students

Secondhand smoke (SHS) exposure is common in Hong Kong
despite of the low smoking prevalence. As homes are typically
small flats with family members sharing bedrooms, SHS and third-
hand smoke (THS) at home are the major sources of tobacco
smoke exposure for children. To develop cost-effective strategies
to reduce children exposure to tobacco smoke, COSH and the
School of Public Health, The University of Hong Kong, designed
a school and family-based programme to educate children
and family members about the harms of tobacco smoke, and
conducted a cluster randomized controlled trial for evaluation.

This study was conducted in 3,434 Primary 2 to 4 students from
11 schools between October 2018 and July 2019. After a baseline
survey, students were randomized to the intervention or control
group, and completed follow-up surveys at 3-month and 6-month.
The intervention group received a set of eight worksheets with
simple tasks for students and family members to complete
together, while the control group received a simple smoke-free
pamphlet. Hair samples were collected from 44 students (22
students in each group) at baseline and 6-month follow-up for
hair nicotine test, as an objective measurement of tobacco smoke
exposure.

Key results of the study are shown below:
e Compared with the control group, greater reduction in

SHS exposure and THS exposure was observed in the
intervention group at 3-month and/or 6-month follow-ups.
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The average number of days of SHS exposure at home
in the past seven days reduced by 16% and 10% in the
intervention and control group respectively, from baseline
to 3-month follow-up.

The average number of days of SHS exposure at home
from outside in the past seven days reduced by 19% and
8% in the intervention and control group, respectively,
from baseline to 3-month follow-up, and by 26% and 20%
respectively, from baseline to 6-month follow-up.

The average number of days of THS exposure at home in the
past seven days reduced by 16% and 4% in the intervention
and control group, respectively, from baseline to 3-month
follow-up, and by 23% and 9% respectively, from baseline to
6-month follow-up.

The average number of days of SHS exposure outside home
in the past seven days reduced by 19% and 12% in the
intervention and control group respectively, from baseline
to 6-month follow-up.

Hair nicotine test showed no statistically significant
difference in tobacco smoke exposure between intervention
and control groups at baseline and 6-month follow-up.
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Aims and Strategies

To uphold sustainable development, COSH devises internal and
external strategies to promote a sense of responsibility regarding
environmental protection. To achieve this, COSH has adopted the
following environmentally friendly policies:

® Enhance efficiency of energy consumption;
® Reduce paper consumption;
® Reduce waste and recycle; and

® Enhance awareness on environmental protection.

Environmental Protection Strategies

Enhance Efficiency of Energy Consumption

The Secretariat conserves energy by ensuring that staff members
switch off lights, air-conditioners, computers, the monitors of
computers, photocopiers, printers and other electrical appliances
immediately after use. Office room temperature is generally
maintained at 25.5°C as recommended by the Government.

Energy efficiency is one of the considerations when purchasing
electrical appliances. IT equipment with automatic energy saving
functions has also been used, such as computers, the monitors of
computers and printers. In addition, the Secretariat uses compact
fluorescent lamps which consume one sixth of the energy of
traditional globes.

Reduce Paper Consumption

To disseminate updated smoke-free information to the public,
promotional materials such as posters, leaflets and brochures are
produced. COSH also maintains frequent communications with
the community and government departments. To reduce the
consumption of paper, the following measures are in place:

® Use of email and intranet for internal and external
communication and transfer of document instead of
memorandums, letters and hardcopies, where possible;
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e Utilization of electronic-fax system and electronic document
management system to reduce the amount of printing;

® Review on the needs for quantity of printing materials and
adjust regularly to reduce paper consumption;

® Reduction of the size and quantity of the printed promotional
materials and gradual use of environmentally friendly paper;

® The tobacco control information, promotional materials and
publications have been uploaded to COSH website for public
access in order to reduce the demand for hardcopies;

® Use electronic invitation and greeting cards in replacement
of printed invitation and cards for events and on festive
occasions;

® Use of "Print Preview” function to check the layout and style of
document before printing to avoid wastage; and

® Use of both sides of paper to reduce consumption.

Reduce Waste and Recycle

COSH supports waste reduction and recycling and joins the
"Computer and Communication Products Recycling Programme”
launched by the Environmental Protection Department. The
unserviceable computers and computer accessories are delivered
for recycling. In addition, recyclable printer toner cartridges have
been used.

Unwanted papers such as documents with printing errors or
drafts of documents have been collected for recycling. Recycling
boxes have been placed at convenient locations in the office to
encourage staff members to recycle waste paper.

Instead of paper cups and plastic cups, reusable cups were
provided for guests during meetings and visits.

Enhance Awareness on Environmental Protection

Staff members are informed on the aims and reminded to comply
with the green measures via staff meetings, email reminders and
notices.

Where applicable, service providers and working partners are
encouraged to follow the principles of environmental protection,
e.g. use of eco-friendly materials and submission of document in
electronic format.

COSH will continue to make every endeavor to comply with the
green measures,
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Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health
Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2020

To the Council Members of Hong Kong Council on
Smoking and Health

(incorporated in Hong Kong under the Hong Kong Council
on Smoking and Health Ordinance)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Hong Kong Council
on Smoking and Health (“the Council”) set out on pages 110 to
139, which comprise the statement of financial position as at
315t March 2020, and the statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Council as at 31t March 2020,
and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of
the Council in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code"), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Information Other than the Financial
Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

The Council members are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon. The annual report is expected to be
available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and we will not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information identified above
when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Council Members and
Those Charged Governance for the Financial
Statements

The Council members are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, and for such internal control
as the Council members determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Council members are
responsible for assessing the Council’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Council members either intend to liquidate the Council or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Council’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 17(5) of the
Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health Ordinance, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

—  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

—  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Council’s
internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Council members.
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- Conclude on the appropriateness of the Council members’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Council’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Council to cease to
continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

BREMEIFI - HMERFEEER TEIA We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
ETEE - BRI EAEFEIRE B3 among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
APIEEET 3R R EBIE IR EIEARERPE o audit and significant audit findings, including any significant

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

FRE SIS
BBHEGETAD

E& 202057 A28 H

F.S.Li&Co.
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 July 2020
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

HZE2020F3 A3 HIEFE
For the year ended 31 March 2020

{Es
(%) (HKS) Note
WA Income
BEBRRITTIN R AT Subventions from the Government of the
)24 Hong Kong Special Administrative
—fRERG Region General subvention 28,273,500 24,045,926
RITA B UA Bank interest income 4,349 1,498
FETEIA Sundry income 4,482 3,330
28,282,331 24,050,754
X Expenditure
BEERAL R Approved establishment 3 6,342,430 5,851,498
BEET Project staff 3,165,247 1,785,606
EERHEEER Publicity and promotion expenses 11,531,469 12,348,940
2%EA Conference expenses 14,010 168,577
2EEZELTY Reference books and periodicals 11,884 12,334
WMAEHE - ZMREEE  Office rent, rates and management fee 512,203 2,923,928
BEEHeREA Warehouse rent and expenses 60,324 225,304
HIERIREER Repairs and maintenance 94,452 74,790
BREIEREHR Cleaning wages and fees 67,013 54972
M M RBEIITE Depreciation on property, plant
and equipment 16,824 12,773
EREEEZTE Depreciation on right-of-use assets 2,889,259 -
RER Insurance 77,239 75,256
BB Electricity 45,377 42,407
B MEAER Telephone and communication expenses 57,416 42,500
BIHEER Recruitment expenses 40,596 70,972
BIl@kkEREER Staff training and development expenses - 1,500
EE - BEREEER Legal, professional and audit fees 33,100 32,800
g Postage 13,855 16,219
ENRI R XA Printing and stationery 100,211 84,944
HEBEZFEX T Interest expense on lease liabilities 129,750 -
FETASH Sundry expenses 51,614 38,250
25,254,273 23,863,570
REFERER Surplus for the Year 5 3,028,058 187,184
REEZHEBA Total Comprehensive Income
for the Year 3,028,058 187,184
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A& AR 3%
Statement of Financial Position

R 202063 A31H
At 31 March 2020

e BRE —E—hE
(B%) (HK$) Note 2019
FRBEE Non-Current Assets

ESN NG Property, plant and equipment 7 81,250 30,906
FAEEE Right-of-use assets 8 5,672,559 =
| 5,753,809 30,906
REEE Current Assets
12 RIBNRIA Deposits and prepayments 9 955,704 961,754
IRITMIREETT Bank and cash balances 3,419,730 514,501
4,375,434 1,476,255
B RBEEE Less: Current Liabilities
EEEA Accrued charges 1,167,500 1,088,461
MEB8IE - = Hn Lease liabilities — current portion 10 2,920,755 -
ifﬁiﬁéﬁi Provision for annual leave entitlements 225,068 245,095
FEREIEEE 7 ARF Adjusted surplus for the year refundable
[E TR AR to the Department of Health 1 3,004,236 184,096
EREFEEZE 2 Accumulated surpluses refundable to
B the Department of Health 12 203,640 203,640
7,521,199 1,721,292
REBAE Net Current Liabilities (3,145,765) (245,037)
HWEERRBEE Total Assets Less Current
oo Liabilites . 2,608,044 (214,131)_
FRBAMG R Non-Current Liabilities
MEBE - REIE D Lease liabilities — non-current portion 10 (2,798,353) -
FAE Net Liabilities (190,309) (214,131)
ER - representing:
ZREE Accumulated Deficits (190,309) (214,131)

ZEEM2020F7 A28 BBBRERIAEZMMNE  The financial statements on pages 110 to 139 were approved and
1M0BEF 139 B FEMwEK ° authorized for issue by the Council on 28 July 2020.

P48 2% 55 4 MH R #BIEE 2+ MH REBLL

B BlE/F LS

Mr Antonio KWONG Cho-shing, MH Ms Yolanda NG Yuen-ting, MH Ms Vienna LAl Wai-yin
Chairman Vice-chairman Executive Director
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BREEE
Statement of Changes in Equity

HZE2020F3 A3 HIEFE
For the year ended 31 March 2020

o5
(B®) (HKS) Note
REEE Accumulated deficits
LEEERZER Deficit broughtforward (214131) (17219
NEERER/ Surplus for the year/
REZZEEA Total comprehensive
income for the year 3,028,058 187,184
FEREIEER ZIEHABAR  Adjusted surplus refundable to
the Department of Health 11 (3,004,236) (184,096)
ABEAAR Surplus attributable tothe Coundil 23,822 3,088
BATEEZEE Deficit carried forward (190,309) (214,131)
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Cash Flow Statement

HZE2020F3 A31 AILEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020
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o BRE —T-NF
(B%) (HKS) Note 2019
LEEH RS NE Cash Flows From Operating Activities

KEE R Surplus for the year 3,028,058 187,184
FEE - Adjustments for:
A EHBA Interest income (4,349) (1,498)
FEH Interest expense 129,750 -
E 2= )3 Depreciation on property,
xEZE plant and equipment 16,824 12,773
ERAREEZNE Depreciation on right-of-use assets 2,889,259 =
LEESEERIZ Operating surplus before working
LB R \ capital changes 6,059,542 198,459
e RENFRZRD / Decrease/(Increase) in deposits
(#Bp0) and prepayments 6,050 (118,531)
FESHE A 2 1D Increase in accrued charges 79,039 77,992
FEREEZ D)/ 18m (Decrease)/Increase in provision for
annual leave entitlements (20,027) 11,322
EERBMMELS FRE  Netcashfiom operating activities 6,124,604 169242
RERSHZBRERE Cash flows from investing activities
A - s R Purchase of property, plant and equipment (67,168) (27,183)
2 UH B Interest received 4,349 1,498
WEEBFFER 2 FRE Net cash used in investing activities (62,819) (25,685)
MEEHZRERE Cash flows from financing activities
BERROEEE Surplus refunded to the Department of Health (184,096) (9,971)
BENHEERE 2 EARIHD Capital element of lease rentals paid (2,842,710) =
BEfHEER S 2 F B 2D Interest element of lease rentals paid (129,750) =
 BERBPERFRE  Netcashusedinfinancingactivities (3,156,556) ____ (9971)
Re RIRSFEFEM Net increase in cash and cash
equivalents 2,905,229 133,586
FUREMRSFEET Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of the year 514,501 380,915
FRESMRSFELET Cash and cash equivalents
at end of the year 3,419,730 514,501
ReRRSFEEFIN Analysis of the balances of cash
- and cash equivalents
RIT MRS ETF Bank and cash balances 3,419,730 514,501
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B

EEWEEBERELZES [ AT | IiRE
BEARBEEEREZ B 2KMMR1987F
10 A 1 B B9 #eRs -

WA ATEEFTERRER
18358 & A )44 48 4402 B 4403 & ©

FESFHER
(a) #mMBEEZE

AMBHRRERRBESAMNAE
B EERNE LY HHREER
(HEC B EREmaE S/ %

HERA - FEEF R LRE) R
BELRGTEARRE - NP BFRK
AR Se R AAE Bl fm S -

FEGTMAGRME TRASF
BN 2 MEERB BN BRE
L - B NN BB HRE
REHF 1655 - TRAE M2 ML
ERBEBUHRERER - BAGHA
SHEERAEEHFREZEER
BARSIRI K2, S bt 5 B T SR P A
KELEBEATE -

General

The Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health (“the

Council”) is an organization incorporated under the Hong
Kong Council on Smoking and Health Ordinance on
1 October 1987.

The office address of the Council is at Unit 4402-03, 44"
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,

Hong Kong.

Principal Accounting Policies

(a)

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), and accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. The financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective for the current accounting year
of the Council. Except for application of HKFRS 16
Lease as described below, the application of other
new and revised HKFRSs has no material effect on
the results and financial position of the Council for
the current and prior accounting years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these financial statements.



2. FESTTBER®)

(a)

IRBLELE (1F)

BEMBHERRE 1655 - HE

BREVBHREENE16RMAER
SEIERIE 175 - HE - B8 (B
MBEHRERBRE®)F45 : EF
XL ERHE - B (ERIRE
REQ)F 159 LLHE - EFN
e (LARELRE®) B 275 : F
1 RMEZEZAR ZZAB © %
FERIFIIHER - 518 - 27 R WEH
EZRE - WEKABARAEEE
BE-—NEERABRAZEAAR - A
HHRASFHEANE - BEUHRE
ZHF 16/ ARBUTHE B ST 2R
F7 e HHANEEERESTSS
AHERIE7SRBZ RAIKHEED
BRREHEMENE -

e FRKIEETBPRM A ERN
EBMEMEERE 165 0 BXER
BEIA2019F4 A1H ° \RIBW X -
AERPEAER - W EREMN L
R EIEAYN2019F4A182
ZEEBHES AR - M20195F
3A3BZERER I EE I HEE
BREBEETENFE17HRE® -
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

(a)

Basis of Preparation (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17, Leases, HK(IFRIC) 4,
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease, HK(SIC) 15, Operating Leases — Incentives, and
HK(SIC) 27, Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets
out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires
lessees to account for all leases under a single on-
balance sheet model. Lessor accounting under HKFRS
16 is substantially unchanged from HKAS 17. Lessors
continue to classify leases as either operating or
finance leases using similar principles as in HKAS 17.

The Council adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption with the date of
initial application of 1 April 2019. Under this method,
the standard is applied retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initial adoption as an adjustment
to the opening balance of accumulated deficits at
1 April 2019, and the comparative information for
31 March 2019 was not restated and continues to be
reported under HKAS 17.
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2. FE=

(a) #wHE

ST (7)

BEE (&)

EBYBHREERE 165 - HE(#E)

()

HMEZHEE

BRBEEEHBHREEAF 16
R A K RREVRE M R
PR —E R RIE S —EE @5
BEZRE AZaHNBHEE
FBSHE - MEFHENE
FAs% B2 3% 5l & &= B EE KX
DB =W BREFEZE R
FEEZRE  AIRTERE
HlHE o A EEFERBEAT
BESE EREXRERBH
HERERBEZERFE 17
RRES (HEBRERES
BEg)R4%HRAMEEZEH
FERZER - BREBERBETE
AZE 1758 R BB (BB B 7% 3
EREZEY) 4R AFHA
REEZ BRI ART AEIFF
fiy o At - BBV BREEL
Flem s HETRERANE
2019F 4 A1 Bk 2 &5 k&
E2ER -

2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

(a)

Basis of Preparation (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

0)

New definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains a
lease if the contract conveys a right to control
the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the
right to obtain substantially all of the economic
benefits from use of the identified asset and the
right to direct the use of the identified asset. The
Council elected to use the transition practical
expedient allowing the standard to be applied
only to contracts that were previously identified
as leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) 4 at
the date of initial application. Contracts that
were not identified as leases under HKAS 17
and HK(IFRIC) 4 were not reassessed. Therefore,
the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16 has
been applied only to contracts entered into or
changed on or after 1 April 2019.
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EBYBHREERE 165 - HE(#E)
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(iii)
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

(a)

Basis of Preparation (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

(i)

(iif)

Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

The Council has lease contracts for office
building and warehouse. As a lessee, the Council
previously classified leases as operating leases
based on the assessment of whether the lease
transferred substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets to the Council.
Under HKFRS 16, the Council applies a single
approach to recognize and measure right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for all leases, except
for elective exemption for leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less (“short-term leases”)
(elected by class of underlying asset). Instead of
recognizing rental expenses under operating
leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term
commencing from 1 April 2019, the Council
recognizes depreciation (and impairment, if any)
of the right-of-use assets and interest accrued
on the outstanding lease liabilities (as finance
Costs).

Impact on transition

The Council has used the following elective
practical expedients when applying HKFRS 16 at
1 April 2019:

(@)  Applying the short-term lease exemptions
to leases with a lease term that ends
within 12 months from the date of initial
application.

(b) Relied on the entity's assessment of
whether leases were onerous by applying
HKAS 17 immediately before 1 April
2019 as an alternative to performing an
impairment review.
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2. FEEFTBER#)
(a) mHREXE(EZ)

BB BHEERE 165 - FHE(FE)

(i) BEZFE(E)
EME B IERELERSE 1658
AEMN2019F 4 A1 B 2B
MERIWEETE -
R2019F4 A1 BzHHEBER
M2019F3 831 2 REHEE

AHE 2 HRRINT ¢

(B¥)

2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

(a)

(HKS)

Basis of Preparation (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

(iii)

Impact on transition (continued)

Adoption of HKFRS 16 had no impact on the
Council’s statement of financial position as at
1 April 2019.

The lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 reconciled
to the operating lease commitments as at
31 March 2019 are as follows:

M2019F3 A31HZ
1R T E AE

Wk FIERFEEAR 20204 3 A 31 H
s RlfEmsHE
HERE 2 A

Operating lease commitments as at

31 March 2019

34,000
Less: Commitments relating to
the lease with a remaining lease term
ended on or before 31 March 2020 (34,000)

MR2019F4H8182
HEaE

\\\\\\

Lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019

AEIARBIRFERANEE i ARER
ZEHRBER 2 BV BREE
Al - HEREFRARCEMNMIFE 17 o

17.

The Council has not early adopted new and revised
HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the current
accounting year. Explanation of this is included in Note



2. FESTTBER®)

(a)

(b)

IRBLELE (1F)

EBYBHREERE 165 - HE(#E)

EREN B BUHRELER M
WK - EEERIELFIE - SFHA
B WFHSABORZER - AR
HBEE  BfE  WANMHZHRER
BB E - ELAFTMABREE
RN ESRNEEEREERER
RREEZZHAMRAZELRN - H
FERBK T EEBEBEAREE bR
CREF/MNEERREZREERA
TR HIE < 25 - BERERATEEA B
ISEER-E I

BEEE THEHSAMGTAERER
R MREAEFZEFTREFE
X—HiRE - AR EF a2 PR A
R IRERTE E RIAMARIE G E
T & 0 RIEERERT 2 HIRA AR K
AR o

WA FERR

() EAXASASEMEEENSK
i 322 R 1 1R 5K B BT B EA U B =2
ROl BUMRRE S e AR
B3 A 1) BAFE B R AT T AR
AWA - femH RERFEBT
B EM R - EYWER
6 U A R ZE QI B B R RE
FHERSAEE -

) BATFIBR AR EEF =% R
5o

¥R Reports

2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

(a)

(b)

Basis of Preparation (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

The preparation of the financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in
which the estimates is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Revenue Recognition

()  Government subventions are recognized
as income over periods necessary to match
them with the related costs they are intended
to compensate, on a systematic basis when
there is reasonable assurance that the Council
will comply with the conditions attaching of
them and the subventions will be received.
Government subventions received before
the revenue recognition criteria satisfied are
recognized as a liability.

(i) Bank interest income is recognized as it accrues
using the effective interest method.
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2. FESFTBER &)

(c)

(d)
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

(c)

(d)

Foreign Currencies Translation

The Council’s functional currency and presentation
currency are Hong Kong dollars. Transactions arising
in foreign currencies are converted at exchange
rates approximating to those ruling at transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period
are translated at rates of exchange approximating to
those ruling at that date. All exchange differences are
dealt with in surplus or deficit.

Impairment Losses

At the end of each reporting period, where there
is any indication that an asset, including items of
property, plant and equipment, and right-of-use
assets is impaired, the recoverable amount of the asset
should be estimated. The recoverable amount of an
asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. If the recoverable amount is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized
to reduce the asset to its recoverable amount. Such
impairment losses are recognized in surplus or deficit.
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount. A reversal of an impairment
loss should not result in the asset’s carrying amount
exceeding that which would have been determined
has no impairment loss been recognized in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited to
surplus or deficit in the year in which the reversals are
recognized.
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2. FESTERE@® 2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

(e) 5% - WB/ERRE (e) Property, Plant and Equipment
WD - HEER KRR A DARK AN EDR B M sk
e &S - REBINERRERIER
KFIR °

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less any subsidies received or receivable,
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated

WEAEETIRYME - S RRE
VAR ZN B R B W Bk AT U Y & B I 2
ERERX - AL ERFE - U
BARBIERE - KR T AI R IR
f&

HEMHENR IR merHEFH

impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment less subsidies received
or receivable and accumulated impairment losses over

their estimated useful lives using a straight-line basis
at the following rates:

Leasehold improvements

over unexpired period

of lease
EMREE BEAs2=th Furniture and fixtures 25 percent per annum
WANERME BFBE 2= TH Office equipment 25 percent per annum
(f HE (f) Lease

(i) 2019445 1H5BH (i)  Applicable before 1 April 2019
REHENHEEEENRR K Leases where substantially all the risks and
EBImRABEHELHEACHEE - rewards of ownership of assets remain with the
KEREHED 2R REE lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
HANBERELRARBRIER Payments made under operating leases are
A o charged to surplus or deficit on a straight-line

basis over the lease periods.
(i) E2019F 45 1HEEAH (ii) Applicable from 1 April 2019

REREHFARKFESHZ
BRIBEHE - WA SR
B EmMLS TE - RERAE
H AR B EE A 2R - Al
ZAERRABEEHE -

The Council assesses at contract inception
whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

(f)

Lease (continued)

(i) Applicable from 1 April 2019 (continued)

The Council applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except
for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Council recognizes lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying
assets.

Right-of-use assets are recognized at the
commencement date of the lease (that is
the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Lease liabilities are recognized at the
commencement date of the lease at the
present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Council and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Council exercising the option to
terminate. The variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are recognized
as an expense in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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2. FESTERE@® 2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

(f) MEE) (f) Lease (continued)

(i) E2019%F 451 HEEHE) (i) Applicable from 1 April 2019 (continued)

R ERENRZBEER - &
REEFRE XL 5H#
T ASERERNEERKA
HIZRERBEME - NFHKAE
Hg HEABZSRSIEN
ARBRF B 2B & - XTI
2 B A IR e Ut
v HEFEEER HEHRE
2 HENRE SR (BIX—E 2K
S Hp R A B L T E BUR KA
ENRER) ABEEREEEL
BEENGEE  MEHAE
HEREBEZKR@E -

AEREETZEMAE(ANE
Fa B HAAE ST HE 5012 8 A 3K
T YATEEEEEEEZ
HE) EREREERRHR
HNEREEEEEMHERER
F e

EAEWEEEEENLEE
R AERERIHEEERE
EARHEEEARL -

RHHERMEEEEERS
HENFTRNEERANRERE
FER R

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Council uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g. a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

The Council applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
of buildings (that is those leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets.

When the Council enters into a lease in respect
of a low-value asset, the Council decides
whether to capitalize the lease on a lease-by-
lease basis.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognized as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

(9)

(h)

(i

§)]

Deposits

Deposits are initially recognized at fair value and
thereafter stated at amortized cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost.

Accrued Charges

Accrued charges are initially recognized at fair value
and thereafter stated at amortized cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits
with banks within three months to maturity from date
of deposit.

Employee Leave Entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.
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S . e S . . .
2. FESTERE@® 2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued)
(k) BEREAL (k) Related Parties
MARKERENES - BAEALTBRE For the purposes of these financial statements, related
REUTEENALTRERS ! party includes a person and an entity as defined
below:
() THALTHEHERKREGHR (i) A person or a close member of that person'’s
REXSHEBEE BZBA family is related to the Council if that person:
=F 3
@ PEHlkERERAE (@  has control or joint control of the Council;
b) HEAEEEAXEN : (b) has significant influence over the Council;
or
© RAGZXFEZETEEN (© is a member of the key management
8- personnel of the Council.
(i & NIEF—EEEYE - 8l (i) An entity is related to the Council if any of the
EHRERREEARELAESEH following conditions applies:
[
@ HmERBRAgHELAEH (@) The entity is a post-employment benefit
fE BERLEBNRR plan for the benefit of employees of either
S ZRREREE o B the Council or an entity related to the
eEEZtE - Tmﬁ-‘kﬁﬁﬁ Coundil. If the Council is itself such a plan,
WiETHASFRE the sponsoring employers are also related

to the Council.

(b) ZELBWRL()MEALE (b) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
e Ek by a person identified in (i).

© BO@MEATEHER (© A person identified in (i)(a) has significant
ﬁiﬁaf&jjiﬁﬁﬁgﬁ% influence over the entity or is a member
LEEBTEERKE o of the key management personnel of the

entity.

(d) ZEBRIHEMBEEET (d The entity, or any member of a group
EAK B R RAAERME of which it is a part, provides key
FEERBABRS - management personnel services to the

Council.
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3. HERf{umER

3. Approved Establishment

(B8) (HKS)
e MoEBh Salaries and allowances 6,228,770 5,686,105
sRTEB K Mandatory provident fund contributions 155,735 146,912
FR(BEOR)/ BE Provision for annual leave entitlements
(written back)/made (42,075) 18,481
6,342,430 5,851,498
4. IBHET 4. Project Staff
T—NEF
(%) (HKS) 2019
e Salaries 3,008,399 1,710,310
EiE SR Mandatory provident fund contributions 134,800 82,455
FREE/ (BERE) Provision for annual leave entitlements
made/(written back) 22,048 (7,159)
3,165,247 1,785,606
5. NEEREH/ (BE) 5. Surplus/(Deficit) for the Year
RNEFERHEHR FNINER - Surplus for the year is stated after charging the following
items:
(BH) (HKS)
BT * Staff costs * 9,564,797 7,691,704
T REFREAERESTE  Rentals of land and buildings held
under short-term lease 34,000 -
T REFEEHER ST E  Rentals of land and buildings held under
(BBEETERE179%) operating leases (HKAS 17) - 2,641,056
e BRI EBEHFR KRR S (3 E 8 including contribution of HK$290,535 (2019: HK$229,367) to

290,535 7T (2019 4F : 229,367 7T)

defined contribution provident fund scheme.
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ZESHNENEHE 6. Council Members'Remuneration
REMEZEEKERAFENARE None of the Council members received any remuneration in
A 78 & 12 4 AR 75 1 LCER B & (2019 4F respect of their services to the Council during the year (2019:
) o Nil).
Yz - HIERFE 7. Property, Plant and Equipment
HEWE B WAE
HRIR REE B ] wE
Leasehold Furniture Office
(%) (HKS) improvements  and fixtures  equipment Total
B Cost
M2018%F3 A31H At 31 March 2018 36,305 111,376 542,772 690,453
NE Additions - 3,885 23,298 27,183
R2019%F3 A31H At 31 March 2019 36,305 115,261 566,070 717,636
NE Additions = 8470 58,698 67,168
 Ra0F3IANE AL31 March2020 36,305 123731 624,768 784,804
ZRENE Accumulated depreciation
R2018F3A31H At 31 March 2018 36,305 109,809 527,843 673,957
BZE2019F3A31H Charge for the year ended
IEFERHR 31 March 2019 - 1,860 10913 12773
20193 A31 8 At 31 March 2019 36,305 111,669 538,756 686,730
BIE2020%F3A31H Charge for the year ended
IFFERR 31 March 2020 - 2494 14330 16,824
- Eft\ 20203 A31H At 31 March 2020 36,305 114,163 553,086 703,554
IREFE Net book value
R2020F3 A31 8 At 31 March 2020 = 9,568 71,682 81,250
R2019%F3A31H At 31 March 2019 = 3592 27314 30,906
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8. EMEEE

8. Right-of-use Assets

(%) (HKS)

2N Cost
INE Additions 8,561,818
202043 31 H At 31 March 2020 8,561,818

ZBINE Accumulated depreciation
EHZE2020%F3 A31 HIEFEHE Charge for the year ended 31 March 2020 2,889,259
202053 A31 H At 31 March 2020 2,889,259

R EFE
202053 A31 H

Net book value
At 31 March 2020 5,672,559

BERANFIR

R eR —FERKE 1S /B 617,566
TC(2019%F : ¥ 643856 T ) © FAIT FIA
75 #5330,138 70 (2019 4F : B #£317,898 7T )
e —FREHGCAER -

10. HEGE

9. Deposits and Prepayments

The amount of deposits expected to be recovered after one
year is HKS617,566 (2019: HK$643,856). The prepayments in
sum of HK$330,138 (2019: HK$317,898) are expected to be
recognized as expenses within one year.

10. Lease Liabilities

(&%) (HKS)

ENAENRAIRE Present value of the lease payments 8,561,818 =
MBS H Interest expense 129,750 -
BERBEEMNK Lease payment made (2,972,460) -

5,719,108 =




10. HEEE®)

11.
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10. Lease Liabilities (continued)

MEBBREHBRAKRPINTEOT - Lease liabilities are presented in the statement of financial
position as follows:
=t ek o T fF
(B%) (HKS) 2020 2019
52 HA 0D Current portion 2,920,755 -
RHEAER (D Non-current portion 2,798,353 -
5,719,108 -

RS MRRBEEORBRANRZHER
BZEHBERET -

The maturity profile of the lease liabilities, as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, was as follows:

(B¥) (HK$)

MREE Carrying amount 5,719,108 -

BRRFTRB L MBTE Total contractual undiscounted cash flow

- EESRAT SR —F R — Within one year or on demand 3,008,460 —

- A —FELRMRE — More than one year but less than two years 2,828,460 -
5,836,920 -

BRERGEZE 2KEAERBER

HREEBEU TAREEFREBRER

REFRMENERAR  RIEWE -
Tﬁé%%& REBHREREBENRRFENE
AmMTARFTERHERBZMEXH -
At - EAEEROFEZEZBRE -~
BIEFREE/ BELOE W HRER
Wﬁ&@-ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ’ﬁﬁ%&fﬂ%ﬁfﬁz%u

C MHBRYE - S RREBRE LE
f—fﬁm °

11. Adjusted Surplus Refundable to the

Department of Health

As the Department of Health does not recognize the
provision for annual leave entitlements as expenses until
actual payment is made, and regards addition to property,
plant and equipment and lease payment as expenses during
the year without recognition of depreciation and interest
expense on lease liabilities, accordingly, for the purpose
of calculating the surplus refundable to the Department
of Health, the provision/provision written back for annual
leave entitlements, depreciation of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets and interest expense
on lease liabilities have been excluded, and the addition to
property, plant and equipment and lease payment have
been deducted.
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1. BREEEAEEZKFERE 11, Adjusted Surplus Refundable to the
(&) Department of Health (continued)
(7B%) (HKS)
REFRBER Surplus for the year 3,028,058 187,184
s HEER Add: Depreciation on property,
BREZTE plant and equipment 16,824 12,773
FEREEECTE Depreciation on right-of-use assets 2,889,259
FREE Provision for annual leave entitlements - 11,322
MEBEBEZFEXE Interest expenses on lease liabilities 129,750 -
W I MR R Less: Additions to property,
RERE plant and equipment (67,168) (27,183)
MERRK Lease payment (2,972,460) -
F R0 B Provision for annual leave entitlements
written back (20,027) -
JEREIET A BRI HERR Adjusted surplus refundable to
the Department of Health 3,004,236 184,096

12. FE3R

SEEEBRAEEZ198FE3 31 HER

AR ENRAEZEERERD -

REIRIAE 2 RIGH R

the Department of Health

12. Accumulated Surpluses Refundable to

The management of the Council considers that the

accumulated surpluses up to 31 March 1998 will be
refunded to the Department of Health upon request.



13. HttBREREHR

(a) BMEEBRELNAEED
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13. Other Cash Flow Information

(@) Changes in Liabilities Arising from Financing
Activities

Lease liabilities (Note 10)

(/%’ﬂé]‘) (HKS)

BERSRENEH: Changes from financing cash flows:
E1‘Wﬂf§fﬁ/i\2ﬁ$ﬁ%} Capital element of lease rentals paid (2,842,710)
ENHEEEE 2 FI B Interest element of lease rentals paid (129,750)

Fﬂﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬂ’ﬂ;@ %E Total changes from financing cash flows (2,972,460)

Hih2%): Other changes:

EE New lease 8,561,818
MEXZH Interest expenses 129,750
GeRbew Towlotherchanges ... 8,691,568

202093 A31H Balance at 31 March 2020 5,719,108

(b) HMERESHRELE

g‘i’]\ﬁi/}lL%%Z?ﬂi}jEim ﬁ Pk

(b) Total Cash Flow for Leases

Amounts included in the cash flow statement for

N leases comprise the following:
—_T-NF
(B%) (HKS) 2019
EHETEN Within operating activities 34,000 2,641,056
REIEB N Within financing activities 2,972,460 =
3,006,460 2,641,056
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4. tREEREREE

(a)

(b)

14. Financial Assets and Liabilities

TREEREEER (a) Categories of Financial Assets and Liabilities
—E-NEF
(BEE) (HKS) 2019
SHMEE Financial assets
MBNEE - IR Current assets — at amortized cost:
FAE -
®Be Deposits 625,566 643,856
IRIT MRS ETF Bank and cash balances 3,419,730 514,501
4,045,296 1,158,357
TREE Financial liabilities
MBNEE - R Current liabilities — at amortized cost:
FAE -
FEfT & Accrued charges 1,167,500 1,088,461
FHREE Provision for annual leave entitlements 225,068 245,095
EREFEELZ Adjusted surplus for the year refundable
REGEAER S to the Department of Health 3,004,236 184,096
EREFEEZE Accumulated surpluses refundable
R2EAHK to the Department of Health 203,640 203,640
4,600,444 1,721,292
MEEREEN B EREK (b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and

EESEER  ARLTEEEEA
PAMERNR « FIRER AR R ER
Al o EAERARIT ;

(i) 1EEREE

regzEERBER ERER
TER BERAREHREES
FiAEE R counterparty is a bank with high credit rating.

{ERR 2 RT -
RIALTEA -

Policies

In the normal course of the operation, the Council
does not expose to significant foreign currency risk,
interest rate risk and commaodity and price risks. Other
risks are described below:

(i) Credit Risk

The Council’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to cash at bank and is insignificant because the
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14. cREENEMEBE @) 14. Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)
(b) HMEEREENBERBEE(E) (b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (continued)

(i) HEEZEE (i) Liquidity Risk
g TERHEERKMNET The Council’s policy is to regularly monitor
MBESHFR - UERER current and expected liquidity requirements to
2B eMHEE W REE ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
BRI MEBES TR cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the

short and longer term.

MR2020F K 20193 A31H - As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the contractual
CERMBEZRBALER maturities of all the Council’s financial liabilities,
HE—FUARN - ZELHE whose carrying amounts are equal to total
BZIRABEHEERESGNZE contracted undiscounted cash flows, are due
BRI EME o within one year.
() EEEE (c) FairValues
MR20204F K 20193 A3 HATA & All financial assets and liabilities are carried at amounts
BEEREMBECEERESEE not materially different from their fair values as at 31
BYESERER - GEEEBEIILRA March 2020 and 2019. The fair value is estimated as
BN ME AR F R EIREMIH the present value of future cash flows, discounted at
5t e current market interest rate.
T A b . .

15. RREHLEIE 15. Commitments under Operating Leases
20193 A31 B » KRBT RIHEER At 31 March 2019, the Council had the following future
T REFEEHEEMBRRRZ A& aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
EHENRETERT - operating leases in respect of land and buildings:

B (HKS)
FE—FN Not later than one year 34,000
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6. BEEAEALTRS 16. Related Party Transactions
EFEARNGEAMEATFETNRAE During the year the Council undertook the following
EEX SN transactions with related parties in the normal course of its

operation:

(E¥%) (HKS)
FEERA BB Remuneration for key management
personnel
NEAB TEF Short-term employee benefits 2,076,189 1,730,671
BERL IR AR Post-employment benefits 18,000 18,000
2,094,189 1,748,671
17. B EME R RERZIEF 17. Possible Impact of Amendments, New
2T / .
MERRZREDS bFEZ?fE Standards and Interpretations Issued But
Not Yet Effect
BERSTASER/MNRAFEE B RER The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and
HI*EKEM‘%#&E’%WT&T&ME’U%E\{@}ET& new standards which are not yet effective for the current
TR BRIEREEASREN T accounting year and which have not been adopted in these
TH o financial statements. These include the following which may
be relevant to the Council.
B BB IR ERIE 3 ST AN - Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a business
EHEHEE
BRI ERIE 7%& B A 2ER Amendments to HKAS T and HKAS 8, Definition of material

FEREFTA  BEEMHESE

R2020F 1 A1 HBLZ#FIEZ @5 AR Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
£ 2020



17. BREMEERERZ1EF

MEANEREBAREEE ZTE
(&)

BB HEERE3FIEETE - B8
ozt

FBEMBHELERIEIRISTTARBES
MR  WIRHEIMES] o ZIERI AR
ARREBN —EBESEDNEE - KA
ELEE-—ARAM-AERBE - MW
FEMBHRTERBEWENBERER - ¥
BHRABRBERELABENAERAZE
12 o ZIERTBUB TRHAMIZ2EEREA
BE U IE RIS RIS BER WS MR TE
BRBHBIMREHRAMERBIZN
RISER BN B RERER © %1
RINME M ERSEHNEREE - EHEID
EFPRHAE MRS - WEKHEHEF
TRENEA R EMUA o thSh - EETANTREE
HABN MRS EREREETEANES -
WHIE N FESTERFAREE - AFFHA
MEN—EBMEERS TEBNEE
TTRSMERTHE o

EBEIERE1RREEBEERES
RIETE  EEMYES

BAGAENE 1R NEFBGAERES
RETABHAEERE - REHTEE
HAl S EEHRR - FEHRIEEERER
HRAIFEEAPBHRRE—RANNER
ERAEENHEYBRRELARE - A
ZEERER - BRI ANEH - ERMEUR
RESEMEENESHE - a5 EEH
ERERSFETBEMAEFLARE -
AERSRRREX °

AREEIRETAT IR B LS R B3R E
EA RS EUEASREFETTE
K o

A
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17. Possible Impact of Amendments, New

Standards and Interpretations Issued But
Not Yet Effect (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to
be considered a business, it must include, at a minimum,
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create output. A
business can exist without including all of the inputs and
processes needed to create outputs. The amendments
remove the assessment of whether market participants
are capable of acquiring the business and continue to
produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired
inputs and acquired substantive processes together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs
to focus on goods or services provided to customers,
investment income or other income from ordinary activities.
Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance to
assess whether an acquired process is substantive and
introduce an optional fair value concentration test to permit
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of
Material

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new
definition of material. The new definition states that
information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring
it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that
the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. The
amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the
nature or magnitude of information. A misstatement of
information is material if it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions made by the primary users.

The management of the Council does not anticipate that
the application of these revised HKFRSs and HKASs will have
a material effect on the amounts recognized in the Council’s
financial statements.
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BUFEBFY Government Departments

Adolescent Health Programme Coordination Section,

BERSVFRERGEIMEA

Department of Health

R REEE Central and Western District Council
PR R SR Central and Western District Office
BHE Correctional Services Department
REE Department of Health
RRRES Eastern District Council
HER Fducation Bureau
ZEEBLES Elderly Commission
R REER Food and Health Bureau
REZERREER Health Promotion Branch, Department of Health
B EE R Hospital Authority
AT EE Information Services Department
HERES Islands District Council
NERRZES Kowloon City District Council
ZEEES Kwai Tsing District Council
BiEEES Kwun Tong District Council
sl Northern District Council
BEBER Radio Television Hong Kong
ERZS Sai Kung District Council
DHRES Sha Tin District Council
KT REE Sham Shui Po District Council
HRREE Southern District Council
AfRES Tai Po District Council
TR The Land Registry
FEBIEERR AT Tobacco and Alcohol Control Office, Department of Health

SEEEY Tsuen Wan District Council
HRREE Tuen Mun District Council
B REE Wan Chai District Council
BEAUIEZES Wong Tai Sin District Council
MR EEE Yau Tsim Mong District Council
TTRAREE Yuen Long District Council
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#4 Organizations

BERERR AT Aggressive Construction Co Ltd
LAABRAT] And-Joy Limited
EHBRE [ 5] BHEME Artkids Studio, Caritas Hong Kong

BEAIERHNIEH € RBEREMSH L Asbury Methodist Social Service Elderly Neighbourhood Centre

Asia-Pacific Association for Control of Tobacco

DN IRE AR Asian Consultancy on Tobacco Control
EETMNEELEELE Asian Medical Students’ Association Hong Kong
ITRAt RS Association of Engineering Professionals in Society Ltd
BEBLARFXERNBAE G Association of Private Medical Specialists of Hong Kong
ERHPERERS Auxiliary Medical Service Officers'Club

BEHTRRR (%) B IR A A Bauhaus International (Holdings) Limited
ESFEEBRAR] Broadway-Nassau Investments Limited

FE - L TIERE Build King — Richwell Engineering Joint Venture

I — SKEC Bt & Build King — SKEC Joint Venture
METARTIRBRAT] Build King Civil Engineering Limited
BIESMERSES Cancerinformation.com.hk Charity Foundation
AEERInELRP L Caritas Mok Cheung Sui Kun Community Centre
ZEWFHER (BRSE) BRAT] Chest Delegation Hong Kong and Macau Limited
RERRES Children’s Cancer Foundation
REEINEETEAR A A China Overseas Building Construction Ltd
HREIRBEE (FH) BRAA China Road and Bridge Group (HK) Limited
HEIRETIE (FB)BRAA China State Construction Engineering (Hong Kong) Limited
ARSI R E e Chinese Association on Tobacco Control
BEEEBRAR Chinney Construction Co Ltd

e IR B AR AR Chiu Chau Ind & Comm Plastic United Ass Ltd
HEREMFEEEERAR] Chiu Chow Overseas Food Trade Merchants Association Ltd
EBEHKERGEH L Christian Family Service Centre
BEYMEEBRARAR Citybase Property Management Limited

g;i%ﬂ RIRATE R E BT RS Citybus Limited & New World First Bus Services Limited
FRITE Clear the Air

RESHERRA] CLP Power Hong Kong Limited
REREREIFEEEZEE Committee on Home-School Co-operation

EC R Communications Association of Hong Kong
HREMHEHER Community Drug Advisory Council
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BREMEERAS

RE=REXFHEEE
RREBTHES
BIRRERAT]
BEEEIMEE
RRIEHEERAA]
BEREIRES
JUBEH R K R &
EEHRREHMEE
AEBREHENSHS
ERERRHA S
BfERXERHMSHS
EZERFXEHMEMESERAT]

Fh 7 [ SR R 2R & B
HERREHMSHS
THRFREHASHE AR DA
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VPN
=
4B
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e
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BB ERESMT R R ERAT

BEANIRREHMEHEBERAF

BERRXEHMNEHEAERAA

ERERBREREME

BESRREHE S
REHTETHES
RRRABR R A]
TEHAREERHE
BEEERARAA]
EEERAR
BERENLTHEARAT
HEHBEHS

HEZEER AT

i3S

Community Health Organization for Intervention,
Care and Empowerment Ltd

E Major Ensemble, Tung Wah Group of Hospitals

Eating Establishment Employees General Union

Elegant Logistics Group Ltd

Employers' Federation of Hong Kong

Environmental Contractors Management Association Limited
Federation of Hong Kong Industries

Federation of Parent-Teacher Association, Kowloon City District
Federation of Parent-Teacher Association, Southern District, HK
Federation of Parent-Teacher Association, Tai Po District
Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations, Tuen Mun
Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations, Wanchai District
Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations (Kwai Tsing District) Ltd

Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations of the Central and
Western District

Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations of the Sai Kung District

Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations of Yuen Long
District Limited

Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations Sham Shui Po
District Limited

Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations Wongtaisin

District Limited

Federation of Parent Teacher Associations in Kwun Tong District
Limited

Federation of Parent Teacher Associations of Hong Kong
Eastern District

Federation of Parent Teacher Associations of Islands District
Fraternity Taxi Owners Association

Future Lighting Collection Limited

Golden Bauhinia Women Entrepreneur Association
Hanberg Club Limited

Hanberg Limited

Happy Taxi Operator’s Association Ltd

Haven of Hope Christian Service

Hip Hing Construction Co Ltd



EEERZEASERRILE
A B DERBD L

ES KB L IRUT B
EERDE S ERERE
BIARET

BENEESRIHHE

ERENNERRE

BB R ABEEEER AR
EENEBNAE
aAES
EEF/IPERERRDS

EEREBEREERFELHE

BT BRER

ERELERRYE

BERIMHER

AT LT RERERIUTLOFIELE
Tk

BT S ERGEABIES D ESEL
&I fehx

ERWIER

ELREHEERAT
EAEREEEHRARAT

BB EBEEETER

BEATBRES
BEAEEEEHS
EERBETE
EAERIREES
EAETFERS
BEERESRERS
ERRREAEEHE
EHREREERP L
BEEEHMAE
BEEANERERZS

Ft4% Appendices

Shan King Integrated Children and Youth Services Centre of

Seventh-day Adventists
HKU Women Quit

HKU Youth Quitline
HKUST Connect

Hong Kong & Kowloon Jade Merchants & Workers Union

Association

Hong Kong Aided Primary School Heads Association

Hong Kong Alliance of Patients' Organization Limited

Hong Kong and Kowloon Chiu Chow Public Association

Hong Kong Anti-Cancer Society

Hong Kong Association for Promotion & Development of SMEs

Hong Kong Association of Family Medicine and Primary Health

Care Nurses

The Hong Kong Association of the Heads of Secondary Schools

Hong Kong Association of Youth Development

Hong Kong Brand Development Council

Hong Kong Children & Youth Services Ma On Shan Youth

Outreaching Social Work Team

Hong Kong Children & Youth Services Tai Po District Youth

Outreaching Social Work Team

Hong Kong Chiu Chow Chamber of Commerce

Hong Kong Construction Association Ltd

Hong Kong Container Drayage Services Association Ltd

Hong Kong Council for Accreditation of Academic and Vocational

Quialifications

Hong Kong Dental Association

Hong Kong Development Professionals Association

Hong Kong Doctors Union
Hong Kong Electrical Contractors’ Association

Hong Kong Electronics Industry Council

Hong Kong Exhibition & Convention Industry Association (HKECIA)

Hong Kong General Building Contractors Association

Hong Kong Housing Society Elderly Resources Centre

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong Institute of Human Resource Management
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Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate Administrators
Hong Kong Investment Funds Association

Hong Kong Jade Association

Hong Kong Lung Foundation

Hong Kong Macau and Myanmar Chamber of Commerce &
Industry

Hong Kong Myanmar Chamber of Commerce

Hong Kong New Emerging Technology Education Association
Hong Kong Nutritionists Society

Hong Kong Opto-Mechatronics Industries Association
Hong Kong Outlying Islands Women's Association Limited
Hong Kong Patients’ Voices

Hong Kong Plastic Machinery Association

Hong Kong Playground Association

Hong Kong Productivity Council

Hong Kong Professionals and Senior Executives Association
Hong Kong SME Development Federation Ltd

Hong Kong Society for Nursing Education

Hong Kong Society for Paediatric Immunology Allergy & Infectious
Diseases

Hong Kong Society of Paediatric Respirology and Allergy
Hong Kong Southern District Women's Association

Hong Kong Subsidized Secondary Schools Council

Hong Kong Surface Finishing Society

Hong Kong Thoracic Society

Hong Kong Watch Manufacturers Association Ltd

Hong Kong Weaving Mills Association

Hong Kong Wireless Technology Industry Association Limited
Hongkong Association of Freight Forwarding and Logistics (HAFFA)
i-education

Institution of Dining Art

Internet Professional Association

iStage Theatre Limited

Junior Chamber International Hong Kong
Knowledge-Action-Change

Kowloon Chamber of Commerce
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Kowloon Motor Driving Instructors’ Association Limited

Kwai Chung Hospital
Kwai Tsing District Health Centre

Kwai Tsing Safe Community and Healthy City Association

Kwun Tong Healthy City Steering Committee
Lap Kei Engineering (Holdings) Limited

Lee Chi-wing District Councilor Office

Life Education Activity Programme

Link Asset Management Limited

Lung Fung Café

Macau Social Security Society

Master Insight Media Limited

Medical Association of Thailand

Medical Society, The Hong Kong University Students'Union

Medical Society, The Student Union of The Chinese University of

Hong Kong

Medical Students’ Subcommittee, Youth Committee,

The Hong Kong Medical Association
Medipella
MTR Corporation Limited

Nan Fung Group — Main Shine Development Limited (Ricky Centre)

Nan Fung Group — Main Shine Development Limited

(Tai Fung Industrial Building)

Nan Fung Group — Main Shine Development Limited

(Tak Fung Industrial Centre)

Nan Fung Group - Vineberg Property Management Limited

(Tseung Kwan O Plaza)

New Home Association

New Territories Taxi Merchants Association Limited

New Territories West Integrated Service, The Salvation Army

New Zealand Chamber of Commerce in Hong Kong

North District Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations

North District Taxi Merchants Association

NT Taxi Owners & Drivers Fraternal Association
NT West Elder Academies Cluster
Occupational Safety and Health Council
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Ocean Park Hong Kong

Our Lady of Maryknoll Hospital

Paul Y — Able Joint Venture

Pioneer Dynamic Limited

Po Leung Kuk

Pok Oi Hospital

Pok Oi Hospital Community Health Care Centre
Prince of Wales Hospital

Professional Building Surveying Consultants Association of
Hong Kong

Professional Insurance Brokers Association
Public Omnibus Operators Association
Quit-Winners Club

Richform Holdings Limited

Richwell Civil Joint Venture

Rotary Club of Central
Savills Property Management Limited — Kings Wing Plaza 2

Semk Products Limited

Senior Citizen Home Safety Association

Shine Skills Centre (Kwun Tong)

Sik Sik Yuen

Sino Estates Management Limited

Smarthon Limited

Smoke-free & Healthy Life Association of Macau
Smoking Abstention and Good Health Association
Southern District Healthy and Safe Association Limited
Stage Catering Services Limited

Steering Committee on Healthy City in the Central and
Western District

Sunrise House, The Society of Rehabilitation and Crime Prevention,
Hong Kong

Synergis Management Services Limited — Wo Ming Court
Tai Hing Catering Group
Tai Po Youths Association

The Association for Hong Kong Catering Services Management Ltd
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The Association of Licentiates of Medical Council of Hong Kong

The Belgium-Luxembourg Chamber of Commerce in Hong Kong

The Boys'& Girls'Clubs Association of Hong Kong

The Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport in Hong Kong

The Chinese Banks' Association Ltd

The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong

The Federation of Hong Kong Watch Trades & Industries Ltd

The Federation of Medical Societies of Hong Kong

The Hong Kong & Kowloon Electric Trade Association

The Hong Kong Association of Banks

The Hong Kong Association of Property Management Companies

The Hong Kong Chinese Importers’ & Exporters’ Association

The Hong Kong Food Council

The Hong Kong General Chamber of Small and Medium Business Ltd

The Hong Kong Institute of Architects

The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries

The Hong Kong Institute of Directors
The Hong Kong Institute of Housing
The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
The Hong Kong Jockey Club

The Hong Kong Medical Association
The Hong Kong Medicine Dealers’ Guild

The Hong Kong Society for Aged Chai Wan District Elderly

Community Centre
The Hong Kong Society for Rehabilitation

The Hong Kong Taoist Association

The Hongkong Federation of Youth Groups, Wellness Mind Centre

The Hongkong Federation of Youth Groups Jockey Club

Cheung Wah Youth SPOT

The Joint Council of Parent-Teacher Associations of the

Shatin District Ltd

The Lok Sin Tong Benevolent Society, Kowloon

The Neighbourhood Advice-Action Council Eastern/Wanchai

District Youth Outreaching Social Work Team

The New Voice Club of Hong Kong

The Overseas Teo Chew Entrepreneurs Association
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The Pharmaceutical Society of Hong Kong

The Real Estate Developers Association of Hong Kong

The Society for the Aid and Rehabilitation of Drug Abusers

The Society of Hospital Pharmacists of Hong Kong

Tin Shui Wai Women Association Limited

Traffic Services Employees Association

Tsuen Wan District Parent Teacher Association Federation Limited
Tsuen Wan Safe and Healthy Community Steering Committee
Tsuen Wan Trade Association Ltd

Tung Wah Group of Hospitals

Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Integrated Centre on
Smoking Cessation

Unistress Building Construction Ltd

United Christian Nethersole Community Health Service
United Friendship Taxi Owners & Drivers Association Ltd
Windshield Charitable Foundation Sham Shui Po Social Services
Windshield Charitable Foundation Social Services

Women Service Association

Wong Tai Sin District Healthy and Safe City

Yan Chai Hospital

Yan OiTong Ltd

Yau Tsim District Yin Ngai Society

Yau Tsim Mong Federation of Parents Teachers Association

Yuen Yuen V-Learn Women Centre
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AD & FD of Pok Oi Hospital Limited Leung Sing Tak College
AD & FD of Pok Oi Hospital Limited Mrs Cheng Yam On
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Millennium School

Aldrich Bay Government Primary School
Aplichau Kaifong Primary School
Auxiliary Medical Service Cadet Corps
Bethel High School

Bishop Ford Memorial School
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Bonham Road Government Primary School
Buddhist Lam Bing Yim Memorial School (SPSD by HKBA)

Buddhist Lim Kim Tian Memorial Primary School

Buddhist Sum Heung Lam Memorial College

Buddhist Tai Hung College
Canossa School (Hong Kong)
CCC Chuen Yuen College

CCC Chun Kwong Primary School

CCC Heep Woh Primary School (Cheung Sha Wan)

CCCKei Chun Kindergarten

CCC Kei Tsz Primary School

CCC Kei Wan Primary School

CCCTai O Primary School

Chan Sui Ki (La Salle) Primary School
Chinese Academy

Chiu Yang Por Yen Primary School

Chiu Yang Primary School of Hong Kong

Christian Alliance S C Chan Memorial College

Christian Family Service Centre Cheerland Kindergarten

Chu Hai College of Higher Education
Chun Tok School

City University of Hong Kong

Civil Aid Service Cadet Corps

Cotton Spinners Association Secondary School

CUHKFAA Thomas Cheung School
Delia (Man Kiu) English Primary School
Delia English Primary School
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Diocesan Girls' Junior School

Dr Catherine F Woo Memorial School
ELCHK Faith Lutheran School

ELCHK Fanling Lutheran Secondary School
ELCHK Kwai Shing Lutheran Primary School
ELCHK Wo Che Lutheran School

French International School

Fukien Middle School (North Point)

Fung Kai Liu Yun Sum Memorial School
GCCITKD Cheong Wong Wai Primary School
Good Counsel Catholic Primary School
Heung To Middle School

HHCKLA Buddhist Ching Kok Lin Association School
HHCKLA Buddhist Wisdom Primary School
HKCS Pario Kindergarten

HKCS Wayfoong Nursery School

HKFYG Lee Shau Kee Primary School

HKSPC Sia Whampoa Nursery School

HKTA Fei Ngan Kindergarten

HKTA Shun Yeung Primary School

HKTA The Yuen Yuen Institute Chan Lui Chung Tak Memorial
School

HKTA The Yuen Yuen Institute Shek Wai Kok Primary School
HKTA Wun Tsuen Ng Lai Wo Memorial School

Ho Lap Primary School (Sponsored by Sik Sik Yuen)

Ho Ming Primary School (Sponsored by Sik Sik Yuen)

Hoi Ping Chamber of Commerce Primary School

Hoi Ping Chamber of Commerce Secondary School

Hong Kong & Kowloon Kaifong Women's Association Wan
Tsui Kindergarten Wan Tsui Nursery

Hong Kong Academy of Medicine
Hong Kong Academy of Nursing Limited

Hong Kong Baptist University Affiliated School Wong Kam Fai
Secondary and Primary School

Hong Kong College of Cardiology
Hong Kong College of Community and Public Health Nursing
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BAMGBEEM Hong Kong College of Community Medicine

BB SEREE S0 Hong Kong College of Emergency Nursing
BEEENEEEEER Hong Kong College of Nursing & Health Care Management
BEERRIESR Hong Kong College of Paediatric

BB RES - FKBER Hong Kong Institute of Construction — Sheung Shui Campus
EEHEREV/NE Hong Kong Southern District Government Primary School

International Christian Quality Music Secondary and
Primary School

BREEHEE S RT 28/ )2

BEBELNE Island Road Government Primary School
KEHHFRNHER Kam Lam Catholic Kindergarten
B AR B Kam Tsin Village Ho Tung School
HEERFREER King's College Old Boys’ Association Primary School
BOMIRA 2 Kit Sam Lam Bing Yim Secondary School
FREERMREH/)E Kowloon Bay St John The Baptist Catholic Primary School
N e (BT /) ngloon City Baptist Church Hay Nien (Yan Ping)
Primary School

NEHREERRNHER Kowloon City Baptist Church Ka Fuk Kindergarten
NEEE Y HE (/NEE) Kowloon True Light School (Primary Section)
EMEHEPLSER Kwai Ming Wu Memorial School of The Precious Blood
FEAER Kwong Ming School
AXAREHNE Laichikok Catholic Primary School

BRHHEE Lam Tin Ling Liang Kindergarten
M AT EREL SRR Lam Tsuen Public Wong Fook Luen Memorial School
FRBILDZHE Lee Kau Yan Memorial School
EEeRES/ N2 Leung Kui Kau Lutheran Primary School
FEE EHI/J\'EE Li Cheng Uk Government Primary School
BEBREFZ NS Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine, The University of Hong Kong
FRNE Li Sing Primary School
EEEBEEABILESTE Lingnan Dr Chung Wing Kwong Memorial Secondary School
Emp 2 Lingnan Secondary School
ERAE Lingnan University
R EMERE R N2 LKWFSL Wong Yiu Nam Primary School
BEERBNPE Lok Sin Tong Ku Chiu Man Secondary School
HEZREER Lok Sin Tong Lau Tak Primary School
BETRERLSPE Lok Sin Tong Leung Chik Wai Memorial School
BEZRFFEER Lok Sin Tong Leung Kau Kui Primary School
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Lok Sin Tong Leung Kau Kui Primary School (Branch)
Lok Sin Tong Yeung Chung Ming Primary School

Lui Ming Choi Lutheran College

Mahidol University

Mary of Providence Primary School

Mu Kuang English School

Mui Wo School

Ning Po College

North Point Methodist Primary School

Northern Lamma School

NT Heung Yee Kuk Yuen Long District Secondary School
Our Lady of China Catholic Primary School

Po Leung Kuk Camoes Tan Siu Lin Primary School

Po Leung Kuk Castar Primary School

Po Leung Kuk Chong Kee Ting Primary School

Po Leung Kuk Fong Wong Kam Chuen Primary School
Po Leung Kuk Fung Ching Memorial Primary School

Po Leung Kuk Gold & Silver Exchange Society Pershing Tsang
School

Po Leung Kuk Ho Yuk Ching (1984) College

Po Leung Kuk Horizon East Primary School

Po Leung Kuk Madam Chan Wai Chow Memorial School
Po Leung Kuk Siu Hon Sum Primary School

Po Leung Kuk Stanley Ho Sau Nan Primary School

Po Leung Kuk Wong Wing Shu Primary School

Pok Oi Hospital Chan Kwok Wai Primary School

Pok Oi Hospital Mrs Chu Kwok King Memorial Kindergarten
Day Nursery

Pope Paul VI College

Precious Blood Primary School (Happy Valley)
Price Memorial Catholic Primary School

Pui Ching Middle School

Pui Tak Canossian Primary School

Queen Elizabeth School Old Students’ Association Branch
Primary School

Queen’s College Old Boys' Association Secondary School
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B2 ot B DR Sacred Heart Canossian School

RS R Sai Kung Lok-Yuk Kindergarten

MEmgEn San Wui Commercial Society School

BTG NEERER School of Communication, Hong Kong Baptist University

School of Nursing, Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine,

The University of Hong Kong

BRI EA vy EAR School of Nursing, Tung Wah College

School of Public Health, Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine,
The University of Hong Kong

BAREREFRHE SRR R0

BRARBFRmHBE R ARB S0

KRG MR Sham Shui Po Baptist Church Kindergarten

KB LN Sham Shui Po Government Primary School

BB EE B e AN Shap Pat Heung Rural Committee Kung Yik She Primary
School

BEeVEEHER Sharon Lutheran Church Kindergarten

AHEEEEREHNE Shek Lei St John's Catholic Primary School

E—ERRNHEE Shin Yat Tong On Yat Kindergarten

BEe|EX)7E Shun Tin Rhenish Nursery

BERgrE/ g SKH Chu Oi Primary School

FERAeXE/ NS (FUAR) SKH Chu Oi Primary School (Lei Muk Shue)

BERNeFETENE SKH Fung Kei Millennium Primary School

PRgE=E/ N2 SKH Ho Chak Wan Primary School

ENERRAENE SKH Ka Fuk Wing Chun Primary School

ERNSEE/NE SKH Kei Oi Primary School

BENSHRLENE SKH Kei Wing Primary School

EEYN-= 3 P SKH Lee Shiu Keung Primary School

ERGEREINE SKH St Andrew’s Primary School

PEReBREx N NE SKH St Clement's Primary School

BENGEEHKNE SKH St Matthew’s Primary School

ENGE RIS/ B SKH St Michael's Primary School

BENGEFKENE SKH St Peter's Primary School

BENSELEFNE SKH St Thomas' Primary School

Al ErE/ N2 SKH Tin Wan Chi Nam Primary School

BERe s RPAIEE/NE SKH Tsing Yi Estate Ho Chak Wan Primary School

AEFfAEHRE South Tuen Mun Government Secondary School

g/ NE St Antonius Primary School

EXERFHNE St Bonaventure Catholic Primary School
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St Francis'Canossian College

St Hilary's Kindergarten « Nursery (Hung Hom)

St Hilary’s Kindergarten « Nursery (Prince Edward)
St John the Baptist Catholic Primary School

St Joseph's Anglo-Chinese School

St Louis School

St Louis School (Primary Section)

St Margaret’s Co-educational English Secondary and Primary
School

St Mark’s Primary School

St Matthew's Lutheran School (Sau Mau Ping)
St Paul's Catholic Day Nursery (Tai Wai)

St Paul’s Primary Catholic School

St Peter’s Secondary School

St Stephen’s Church College

Stewards Pooi Kei Primary School

STFA Ho Yat Tung Primary School

STFA Leung Kit Wah Primary School

STFA Wu Siu Kui Memorial Primary School

Tai Kok Tsui Catholic Primary School

Tai Po Government Primary School

Tai Po Methodist School

Tai Po Old Market Public School (Plover Cove)
The Chinese University of Hong Kong

The Hang Seng University of Hong Kong

The Hong Kong Academy for Performing Arts

The Hong Kong Chinese Women's Club Fung Yiu King
Memorial Secondary School

The Hong Kong College of Mental Health Nursing
The Hong Kong Institute of Family Education

The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
The Jockey Club Eduyoung College

The Jockey Club School of Public Health and Primary Care,
Faculty of Medicine, The Chinese University of Hong Kong
The Mission Covenant Church Sister Annie’s Kindergarten

cum Nursery
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The Nethersole School of Nursing, Faculty of Medicine,

The Chinese University of Hong Kong

The Salvation Army Wah Fu Nursery School

The University of Hong Kong

Tseung Kwan O Pui Chi School

Tsing YiTrade Association Primary School
Tsuen Wan Chiu Chow Public School

Tsuen Wan Government Primary School

Tsuen Wan Public Ho Chuen Yiu Memorial Primary School

Tsuen Wan Trade Association Primary School

TszWan Shan St Bonaventure Catholic Primary School

Tung Chung Catholic School

Tung Wah College

TWGHSs Lee Ching Dea Memorial College
TWGHSs Leo Tung-hai LEE Primary School
TWGHs Lui Yun Choy Memorial College

TWGHs Ma Kam Chan Memorial Primary School

TWGHs Sin Chu Wan Primary School

TWGHSs Yiu Dak Chi Memorial Primary School (Yuen Long)

W F Joseph Lee Primary School
Waichow Public School (Sheung Shui)
WWC (ED) HK Lai Kwai Tim Day Nursery

Yaumati Catholic Primary School

Yaumati Catholic Primary School (Hoi Wang Road)

York English & Chinese Kindergarten

Yuen Long Church (CCC) Chan Kwong Kindergarten No 2

Yuen Long Po Kok Primary School

Yuen Long Tung Koon District Association Hung Ting Ka

Kindergarten
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Awards List of “Hong Kong Smoke-free Leading Company

Awards 2019”

=F 5 WL Triple Gold Awards

BEREBIZERAR AR Belle International Holdings Limited
EREEARAT Richform Holdings Limited

£ %% Gold Awards

EEREEBRRBARAT ARA Asset Management (Fortune) Limited
RETHERAA] CLP Power Hong Kong Limited
BEXZE Construction Industry Council

BHE Correctional Services Department

BB RIE (H8) BRAF] DHL Express (Hong Kong) Limited
EMIEEFRAT] Gammon Construction Limited
FMEFEBR AR Green Island Cement Company Limited
R e Kwai Chung Hospital
SREEEEERAT Link Asset Management Limited

St REEBRAT] New World Construction Company Limited
(EREESE) (Hip Seng Group of Companies)
RENHERAT] The “Star" Ferry Company, Limited
EEERE - TEH The Hong Kong Jockey Club - Retail Department
BAKRE The University of Hong Kong
BEAMEERBRAT] Well Born Real Estate Management Limited
(EREJIEMESEKE) (A Member of Henderson Land Group)
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Awards List of “Hong Kong Smoke-free Leading Company Awards 2019”

#R4E Silver Awards
FIE-BETERE
ERERGEERRAR
TR ZE RS EE

RBEERGERAR - #EES

BEETREBRAR]
MEMEEE - FEEPL
HMERE—RWIREER AR
AR OKAR LA
BE B - PR

F-RFREHMEEEERAA

SMEREREE
BRRXKE

+ 30 EE
B AR AR

B EE
EERERBERRA]

Build King - Richwell Engineering Joint Venture
FSE Services Group Limited

Jardine Aviation Services Group

Kai Shing Management Services Limited - Metropolis Plaza
Kwoon Chung Bus Holdings Limited

Nan Fung Property Management - Ricky Centre
New World First Ferry Services Limited

Neway Karaoke Box Limited

Pok Oi Hospital - Chinese Medicine Service
Savills Property Management Limited

Taste of Asia Group Limited

The Chinese University of Hong Kong

The Land Registry

Ultra Active Technology Limited

Urban Group

Waihong Environmental Services Limited

HEBEHESEAE Outstanding Smoke-free Community Involvement Awards

REENERAA]
TFIREERAA]

CLP Power Hong Kong Limited

Gammon Construction Limited
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B 28 Certificates of Merit
RIEEGRIEZBERAF
EEEEEREBRAR - BBMES

TRMEFEZHTIFHE - REP L

BRAERAT

ME - S
EXEEARAQA]
RAYEEEBRAR - BRLE
RAYEREBRBRAR] - REH L

RKAYEEEBRAR - RETEAE
RMYEEEBR QA -The Hub
FNMEEERRAF - BREERE

EWYEERAA
hERETIE (F8) BRAF -
IR 8 SR AR

REMEXEE)BRAR -ZEH
RR(MEXEER)BRAR - RE

R (MEXEER)BRAR - FREBKR
R (MEEE)BRAR -REAE

i I

&
O
Ao
Sl

RE(WMEER)BRAR] -
B (WEERE)BRAR -
R (MEER)BRARF -
e (MEER)BRAR -
rR(MEER)ERAR -EES
R (WEEE) BRAR -S0L0
R (MEERE) AR AT -The Factory
R (MEER)ARATF - =L

oH

{0

BhSEh Eb X9 Sob Sob dob S

B mo

R (MERER) BROR] - mERRFP L

REMEEE)BRAR -2
RE(WMEXER)BRAR -RHE
PEERMEEREERAA]
FEEIFRE (F B &) BRAE
HEREERARAA

_\(q:l /I:I\
rh

Action Life Sciences Consulting Limited
ARA Asset Management (Fortune) Limited - Laguna Plaza

Association for Engineering and Medical Volunteer Services -
The Endeavor

BEAUSKIN Medical

BIBO Limited

Build King - Kum Shing Joint Venture

Build-U-Biz Limited

Cayley Property Management Limited - Belvedere Garden
Cayley Property Management Limited - Eastern Centre

Cayley Property Management Limited -
Southeast Industrial Building

Cayley Property Management Limited - The Hub

Cayley Property Management Limited -
Yardley Commercial Building

China Resources Property Limited

China State Construction Engineering (HK) Limited -
Central - Wanchai Bypass Tunnel (Slip Road 8 Section)

Chissay (Property Management) Limited - J Residence
Limited - KCITY
Limited - KWah Centre

Chissay (Property Management
Chissay (Property Management
Chissay (Property Management) Limited - Kingsfield Centre
Chissay (Property Management) Limited - Marinella
Chissay (Property Management) Limited - Monterey Villas
Chissay (Property Management) Limited - Prosperity Centre
Limited - Prosperous Height
Limited - Shiu Fai Terrace

Limited - SOLO

Chissay (Property Management
Chissay (Property Management
Chissay (Property Management) Limited - The Factory

Limited - The Great Hill

Limited - The Octagon

Chissay (Property Management
Chissay (Property Management
Limited - Twin Peaks
Limited - Vertical SQ
CITIC Properties Agencies Limited

(

(

(

(

(

(

(

Chissay (Property Management

(

(

(

(

(

Chissay (Property Management
(

o 2 2 o2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 o 2 2

Chissay (Property Management

CITIC Telecom International CPC Limited
CITIC Tower Property Management Company Limited
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BEMEEBRBRAT] Citybase Property Management Limited

. o o S itybase P M Limited -
S eI AR A ) - EL BN E C.lty ase roperty anagement Limited
Kingswood Villas (Lynwood Court)

BEMEERER AR - Citybase Property Management Limited -

MEHEE RGO Seasons Monarch Management Services Centre
BEMEERERAR - EHE Citybase Property Management Limited - Sherwood Court
BEMEEBRER AR - R Citybase Property Management Limited - The Beaumount
BEMEEBBRAGT - KA Citybase Property Management Limited - The Beaumount ||
BEMEEEAR AT - Citybase Property Management Limited -

e B B AR A HR O Uptown Management Services Centre

R RSB R AT Computer And Technologies International Limited
FEUFZEEERAR Crossover International Company Limited
ReRR(EE)BRAF Daikin Airconditioning (Hong Kong) Limited
BKEREHRAR] Diving Adventure Limited

BRIEZEB)AERAA DuctPro Engineering (H.K.) Limited

B EEBRAR Elegant Logistics Group Limited

BYERRHER AR Eman Genetics Biotech Limited

KEMEEBBR AT Eternal Year Property Services Limited

KRB (SE) ERER AR Fvergreen International Holdings Limited

BRI BR AR Fantastic Natural Cosmetics Limited
ERMETEEERRAAF] FSE Engineering Group Limited

LR RIEIERBRRAR] FSE Holdings Limited

EET(EE)BRAT Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

SRERYFEEBRAT Goodwell Property Management Limited
SRVMEERERAR - BIEFHR Goodwell Property Management Limited - 9 Chong Yip Street
REMEEEBR AR - KEE 215K Goodwell Property Management Limited - 21 Borrett Road
REMEEEBR AR - BHEEERE Goodwell Property Management Limited - Bayshore Towers
REMEEERBER AR - FILFR Goodwell Property Management Limited - Celestial Heights
SREMEEEER AR - BEILG Goodwell Property Management Limited - DeerHill Bay
REMEEIEBR AR - DIVA Goodwell Property Management Limited - DIVA
REMEEREBRAT - B LEFRD Goodwell Property Management Limited - Focal Industrial Centre
REMEEEBER AT - #BERLE—FE  Goodwell Property Management Limited - Harbour Centre Tower 1
REMEEEBR AR - EX Goodwell Property Management Limited - Homan Villa
REMEEEBR AR - Bt Goodwell Property Management Limited - Hong Shui Court
REMEERBR AR - ZER L Goodwell Property Management Limited - Kwai Cheong Centre
SRMEERBRAR - FRFE Goodwell Property Management Limited - Laguna Verde
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SRYMEREEBERLAR -EE
SRYMEEEBRARF - Hi
SRYMEEEARAR - —RANE
BRYMEEEBRAR - EERE
SRERMEERBRATR -AIERL
SEYMERERARAQR - IAEES
SRYMEEEBRQA - BEF
SRMEEEBRAR - ESTEE
SRYMEEERRAR -#8 - BEF
BRYMEREEBRAR -BETHAE
BRYMEEEBRQAR - BRY

SRMEEEARAR - E@IL - 2

SEMEERFR AR - HERNE
SRVMEERBRAR - ZIERAL
SRVMEERBRAR - BRE
SEMEEREARAR - BRERS
REMEEEBR AT - BEHD
BEMEMERAT

GV ¥R EA D (FIR)

GV IR EF L (FEIL)

GV IR EH L (KE)
HEEERAT

EEBER AR

B EMEERAR AR - PEEMARNE

FEsREER AR
BEBRERBE

ENXYERERARAR - PREEAE
EFNXOEERERAR - RHBRE

BEFXMEERERAF -
Gough Hill Residences
BRNXYEERARAT - ZERBH L

BRI MEERBRR AR - Island Residence
BERXMEEEERAT - NZH L

Goodwell Property Management Limited - Le Chateau
Goodwell Property Management Limited - Meridian Hill
Goodwell Property Management Limited - One West Kowloon
Goodwell Property Management Limited - Peninsula Heights
Goodwell Property Management Limited - Prosperity Centre
Goodwell Property Management Limited - Prosperity Place
Goodwell Property Management Limited - Sausalito
Goodwell Property Management Limited - Sceneway Garden
Goodwell Property Management Limited - Stars By The Harbour
Goodwell Property Management Limited - Summit Building
Goodwell Property Management Limited - The Laguna Mall

Goodwell Property Management Limited -
The Legend at Jardine’s Lookout

Goodwell Property Management Limited - The Metropolis Tower
Goodwell Property Management Limited - The Paramount
Goodwell Property Management Limited - The Victoria Towers
Goodwell Property Management Limited - Victoria Mall
Goodwell Property Management Limited - Vista Paradiso
Green One Lab Limited

GV Physiotherapy Centre (Central)

GV Physiotherapy Centre (Ma On Shan)

GV Physiotherapy Centre (Tai Wai)

Hanberg Club Limited

Hanberg Limited

Hang Luen Chong Property Management Company Limited -
CITIC Telecom Tower

Hanison Construction Company Limited
Harbour Grand Hong Kong
Harbourfront Landmark Premium Services Limited

Harriman Property Management Limited -
China Insurance Group Building

Harriman Property Management Limited - Crawford House
Harriman Property Management Limited - Gough Hill Residences

Harriman Property Management Limited - Handover Team
Harriman Property Management Limited - Island Residence

Harriman Property Management Limited - Kadoorie Hill
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BRI BB AR - Kensington Hill
BNXYMEERBRAR - NEER

Harriman Property Management Limited - Kensington Hill

Harriman Property Management Limited - Kowloon Godwon

|

|
ERNXHEIEBRRAR] - LaHacienda
BRI E R HPR2AR] - Lexington Hill
EFXEERBRAR -
KEEERNEERRE
BAXMEERER AR - AHAKE
BHMMEEIRBR AR - Monterey
BHMEEIRBR AR - One Bay East
EAXWEEIRABRAR] - Savannah
EAXYEEIRHBRAR] - The Babington
EAXYEEIRBRAR] - The Parkside
BRI EHENT B E
ERMEERERAR - REES
BRI EHEM B S
BREYEEEBRAR
BRI EH AN B S
ERMEERERAR -HEE
TBEK S EE P B i
EBRMEEBRERAR - BLT
BEIKEHE MBS
BREXZBRAGR -z
(EE=SIE$: =3 =)
BHYMEERBRAR -gE
HEE (B R TIEBRAR]
BEOR (BB RNDBRAF]
BEAZERFEFROERAR]
BEAVRAZERBRAR
HAREEBEATRLBRAT]
BAKEESZH L
RERBERAT -RER L

BERBAERAR - RITRAE

- BERTEA

BERBERARF - ERIERE

FERBERAR - KEES
BERBERAR - BEHTERE

BERBAERAR - BB LERDARE

Harriman Property Management Limited - La Hacienda
Harriman Property Management Limited - Lexington Hill

Harriman Property Management Limited -
Management Office of Wing On House

Harriman Property Management Limited - Manulife Tower
Harriman Property Management Limited - Monterey
Harriman Property Management Limited - One Bay East
Harriman Property Management Limited - Savannah
Harriman Property Management Limited - The Babington
Harriman Property Management Limited - The Parkside

Henderson Land Group Subsidiary Hang Yick Properties
Management Limited - E Trade Plaza

Henderson Land Group Subsidiary Hang Yick Properties
Management Limited - Hong Leong Industrial Complex

Henderson Land Group Subsidiary Hang Yick Properties
Management Limited - Royal Terrace

Henderson Land Group Subsidiary Hang Yick Properties
Management Limited - Yiu On Estate

Henderson Land Group Subsidiary H-Privilege Limited -
The Hemispheres

Henderson Land Group Subsidiary Well Born Real Estate
Management Limited - Harbour Pinnacle

Heng Wah (Hong Kong) Decoration Company Limited
Hoi Tong Logistics (HK.) Limited

Hong Kong Air Purifier Center Limited

Hong Kong Immigration & Education Consultancy Limited
Hong Kong IVA Professional Centre Limited

Hong Kong Pain Medicine Centre

Hong Yip Service Company Limited - CEO Tower
Hong Yip Service Company Limited -

Cheung Kong Factory Building

Hong Yip Service Company Limited -

Cheung Lung Industrial Building

Hong Yip Service Company Limited - Comweb Plaza

Hong Yip Service Company Limited - Hang Fat Industrial Building

Hong Yip Service Company Limited -
Hong Kong Industrial Centre Block A
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FRRFER AR - BB TEF LB R CE

BERBAERAF -G NIEHPL
BERBAERAR - B8 IEP L

FEREERAR -HETEKE

BERGAERAR -RZEIERE

FEIRBER AT - #0838
RBEIEREARI B AR AR

R ESREIERAR AT
NEMRTOEBRERAE

M EEEBRAR] - FEATT

—IEER AR

B MEREEARAR - BEE
BERMEEEARAR - EXAE
BERYEREEGRAR - XHAE
BERMEEEARAR - XHHE
BERMEEEARAR - BEM
FREEMER QA

HEBITHXEERRAR
REEEIE AR AT

SR EEERARAR
REBEEREERAR - AIEES

RBEERBERAR - HEERKE

RS ERRBAERAR - F T RES
RS EIRRIS AR AT - ZR5E
RBEERRBERAR - LKES
REBEERERBER AR - 8250

RS EIERBEARAR] -

Bl Z WA E K apm

RS ERERBAER AR - FmES —
RS EERSERAR - REEFEMNE
BB EERBERAT - RE A
RBEERRBERAR - XE B

Hong Yip Service Company Limited -

Hong Kong Industrial Centre Block B & C

Hong Yip Service Company Limited - Hoplite Industrial Centre
Hong Yip Service Company Limited - Precious Industrial Centre
Hong Yip Service Company Limited -

Sun Cheong Industrial Building

Hong Yip Service Company Limited -

Wang Cheong Industrial Building

Hong Yip Service Company Limited - Yu Ming Court

Human Performance International Limited

Hung Fook Tong Group Holdings Limited

Hutchison Logistics Centre Management Limited

Hutchison Property Management Company Limited -
China Building

Instant Travel Service Limited

International Property Management Limited - Baguio Villa
International Property Management Limited - Kin Man Building
International Property Management Limited - Manley House
International Property Management Limited - Merlin Court
International Property Management Limited - Phoenix Court
Intimex Business Solutions Company Limited

iSTEM Limited

Jones Lang LaSalle Management Services Limited

KL Home Care Limited

Ka Shing Management Consultant Limited

Kai Shing Management Services Limited - APEC Plaza

Kai Shing Management Services Limited -
C - BONS International Center

Kai Shing Management Services Limited - Grand Central Plaza
Kai Shing Management Services Limited - Lai Yan Court
Kai Shing Management Services Limited - Landmark North

Kai Shing Management Services Limited - Lei On Court

Kai Shing Management Services Limited - Millennium City 5 & apm

Kai Shing Management Services Limited - New Town Plaza Phase |
Kai Shing Management Services Limited - Sea Crest Villa Phase 4
Kai Shing Management Services Limited - The Wings IlIA
Kai Shing Management Services Limited - The Wings IlIB
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B EERBERAR - tHEH L Kai Shing Management Services Limited - World Trade Centre
BRCIERBRRAR] Kam Kee Holdings Limited
SWIEEBRAR] Kin Cheng Finance Limited

KOHO Facility Management Limited
SRR BR AR Leading Edge Worldwide Limited
fEmARAR Long Data Technology Limited
ERRBAERAT] - Mantex Services Limited -
BERTEEEERBH O Lido Garden Management Services Centre
EHAR AT Maxgrand Limited
E+18 (5M) AR A A MaxiPro (Asia) Limited
RNARLZ ARG B R A A Megastrength Security Services Company Limited
Miris Spa ‘&R REZFIE Miris Spa
EREF IR AR A A Money Concepts (Asia) Holdings Limited
ZEmSRE (FE)BRAT MPEG (HK) Limited
FEEMEER - MFLE7 E155% Nan Fung Property Management - 7 - 15 Mount Kellett Road
FEEMEER - RKEE 85 Nan Fung Property Management - 8 Deep Water Bay Drive
MEVEERE - EERESW Nan Fung Property Management - 80 Robinson Road
HMEMEER-REE Nan Fung Property Management - Aqua Blue
MEWMEER - GELEER Nan Fung Property Management - Aquamarine Garden
MEMEERE - DMESHP Nan Fung Property Management - Asia Trade Centre
FEEMEERE - FEIR Nan Fung Property Management - Bay Villas
MEYNXERE - -RETEANE Nan Fung Property Management - Cheung Fung Industrial Building
HEMEER-28 Nan Fung Property Management - Edition 178
EEYEER - e Nan Fung Property Management - Florient Rise
MEMEERE -BRIZENE Nan Fung Property Management - Fook Hong Industrial Building
HMEMEERE-RBEKE Nan Fung Property Management - Fook Tin Building
HMEMEER-RBERE Nan Fung Property Management - Fook Yip Building
HEYEERE-REKRE Nan Fung Property Management - Fortuna Court
RS AEs T k), Nan Fung Property Mahagement -

Golden Dragon Industrial Centre
EEMEER -ERE Nan Fung Property Management - Grand Garden
HEMEER-BRE Nan Fung Property Management - Greenview Terrace
MEYFEEE - ME Nan Fung Property Management - Harbourside HQ
FAEMEER - |ITEB 2658 Nan Fung Property Management - Interocean Court
HMEVXER-BS Nan Fung Property Management - Island Garden
HEMEER-SEKE Nan Fung Property Management - Kam Fung Building
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MEYEREE -HEE
MEMEEE - XRES
MEYEREIE - HH
MEMEEE - NRTEE
MEMEER -BEAE
MEMEER -EXAE

MEMEERE - FRILHL(BSEEES)

LY EE 2 - Mount Nicholson
MEYEERE-mEP.D
MEYMEERE -mEFERL
HEVXER - -HE2ES
MEYXERE - eI
MEYEER-HiE21%
MEYEER - |ITEB 845
MEYEER - -BENE
MEYEEE - EE5RE
MEYEER - LAIKE
HEYEEE - BENE
MEYEXERE - RP - K88
MEVEERE - FEHEES
HMEYXERE - -RES
MEYXERE - -RETEANE
MEYEER -SSR
MENMEER-FE
MEMEER - §ERES (F%)
HEYEEE -EFRL
MEYEEE - BIE/NE
MEYXER -ELE
MEVXER - B
MEYMEER -MEITEHL
HEYXER -Z27F
HEYEERE - EEANE
MEMEERE -KETERNE
HMEYEERE-RBCKE

A ER RS AR A F]

Nan Fung Property Management - Kam Fung Garden

Nan Fung Property Management - Kwai Chung Plaza

Nan Fung Property Management - La Cresta

Nan Fung Property Management - Lakeview Garden

Nan Fung Property Management - Lever Building

Nan Fung Property Management - Marvel Industrial Building

Nan Fung Property Management -
MOS Centre (Shopping Arcade & Carpark)

Nan Fung Property Management - Mount Nicholson

Nan Fung Property Management - Nan Fung Centre

Nan Fung Property Management - Nan Fung Commercial Centre
Nan Fung Property Management - Nan Fung Plaza

Nan Fung Property Management - Nan Fung Sun Chuen

Nan Fung Property Management - No 21 Coombe Road

Nan Fung Property Management - No 84 Peak Road

Nan Fung Property Management - Pao Yip Building

Nan Fung Property Management - Peaceful Mansion

Nan Fung Property Management - Pei Ho Building

Nan Fung Property Management - Profit Industrial Building
Nan Fung Property Management - Providence Peak

Nan Fung Property Management - San Po Kong Plaza

Nan Fung Property Management - Summit Terrace

Nan Fung Property Management - Tai Fung Industrial Building
Nan Fung Property Management - The Grandville

Nan Fung Property Management - The Visionary

Nan Fung Property Management - TKO Plaza (Mall)

Nan Fung Property Management - Treasure Centre

Nan Fung Property Management - Verdant Villa

Nan Fung Property Management - Wah Fung Garden

Nan Fung Property Management - Wayne Place

Nan Fung Property Management - Well Fung Industrial Centre
Nan Fung Property Management - Well On Garden

Nan Fung Property Management - Winfield Building

Nan Fung Property Management - Wing Hing Industrial Building
Nan Fung Property Management - Wonder Building

NetMon Information Systems Limited
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#elEREGR AT New Rich Inc. Limited
EGKFIRTT OCBC Wing Hang Bank Limited
BATTRE AL OfficePlus @ Mong Kok
WAATAFH L OfficePlus @ Prince Edward
WA T EIRF L OfficePlus @ Sheung Wan
WAATIEFH O OfficePlus @ Wan Chai
One Harbour Square & Two Harbour Square
SESEERAT Onestart Group Limited
BRER OT&P Healthcare
A IR AR A Overstep Table Tennis Training Centre

BARYMEEEBR AR -HLBEE 211598 Paliburg Estate Management Limited - 211 Johnston Road

ERIR R SR AR A ] - AR A Paliburg Estate Management Limited - Chung Pak Commerical

Building
BARMEERER AR - L8H Paliburg Estate Management Limited - CNT Tower

BNRDREERRAA - 2RAE Paliburg Estate Management Limited - Come On Building
BNRMEERRRAT -
=)

FIEE (E—H) Paliburg Estate Management Limited - Fuller Gardens (Phase I)

BARMEEEERAR - 2 BER Paliburg Estate Management Limited - Fulrich Garden
BARYEEEBR AR - WD Paliburg Estate Management Limited - The Ascent

IREE - ZIRHE Paul Y. - Able Joint Venture

FEEIR AR S B R A A Pfizer Corporation Hong Kong Limited
£5(HF)EBRAT Pico International (HK) Limited

BERRAR] Pioneer Dynamic Limited

FETEEBRARA QConcept Limited

EEMEEEBRAR -

;E;&EEQ; g ) Regal Estate Management Limited - Domus and Casa Regalia
EXMEEREERAF -FF - ILE Regal Estate Management Limited - Mount Regalia
EXVEEEERAR -F58E Regal Estate Management Limited - Regalia Bay
EXMEEREBR AR - We Go Mall Regal Estate Management Limited - We Go Malll

G HEEETEERAR Sang Hing Construction Company Limited
E-—RVEEMMEEERARAR -

RS 10 [ 145 = ) Savills Property Management Limited - 12 & 14 Taikoo Wan Road
FE-RTHEMMEERBRAA - , .

BB 03 25 30 Savills Property Management Limited - 23 - 39 Blue Pool Road
FE-—ARFEEMMEERAERAR - Savills Property Management Limited -

MR L - B X E Asia Logistics Hub - SF Centre
E-—RFEENMMEETEARAR -

2 % B = ) Savills Property Management Limited - AXA Southside
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F—ATRBINEEEARAT -
FIRITEESL

S ATRBIEEEERAT -
B AL
F—ATRBINEEEARAT -

Savills Property Management Limited - BEA Harbour View Centre

Savills Property Management Limited - China Life Center

Savills Property Management Limited - China Taiping Tower

REKFRE
FE-RVPHETMEEEAERAF -

NN = ) Savills Property Management Limited - Club Lusitano
(iibEs--35is
F-ARFTEETMEERERAF - , - ‘
6 i s Savills Property Management Limited - Crocodile Center
BN FRAENMEEERRAR -
SEEEE = ) Savills Property Management Limited - Ford Glory Plaza
F-AFEETMEERERAA - _ - 4
L Savills Property Management Limited - Grandion Plaza
FE-RKFPHETNEERARAF -
SEEe = ) Savills Property Management Limited - King Palace Plaza

E-—RVPEEMDFEEEERAR -
i B — Hf
FE-RTHEMMEERER AR -
Rin &S — 8
FE—RNTEHEMMEERERAT -FMEE  Savills Property Management Limited - Larvotto

Savills Property Management Limited - Kings Wing Plaza 1

Savills Property Management Limited - Kings Wing Plaza 2

FE-—RVEEMDNEEERRAR - Savills Property Management Limited -
B Lee & Man Commercial Center

B A TR ELERARAT -
FEH

FE-ARVPHETNEEEAERAF - _ . .
A L Savills Property Management Limited - Lippo Centre

Savills Property Management Limited - Legend Tower

FE—RTFHEMMEEREER AT -0V Savills Property Management Limited - OLIV
E-RTREMMEEERRAR -

— FgEs Savills Property Management Limited - Plaza 2000

o OSBRSS Savills Property Management Limited - Queensway Plaza
IR

i%ﬁiﬁj%ﬁgﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ@@ "l Savills Property Management Limited - The Center
F-AFHEHTMEEEERAA -

e laep Savills Property Management Limited - The Loop

FE-RTHEFVEEREER AT - Savills Property Management Limited - The Morgan
EMYEEREBRAR -EAPLE—E  Sino Estates Management Limited - Argyle Centre Phase |

EMYEEREBRAR - HEAP L Sino Estates Management Limited - Empire Centre
EMYEEEBRAR - 23 1LIE Sino Estates Management Limited - Mount Beacon
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Sino Estates Management Limited - Tsim Sha Tsui Centre
Solutions Health Care Products & Services Limited

Soundwill Holdings Limited

Stage Catering Services Limited

Strong Bright Technology Limited

Sunlight Enterprises Holding Limited

Synergis Facility Management Limited - Boland Court
Synergis Facility Management Limited - Boland Court Phase 2

Synergis Facility Management Limited -
Sun Tin Wai Commercial Centre & Carpark

Synergis Management Services Limited
Synergis Management Services Limited - 18A La Salle Road

Synergis Management Services Limited - 88 Square
Synergis Management Services Limited - 178 Aberdeen Main Road

Synergis Management Services Limited - Arden Court
Synergis Management Services Limited - Broadview Terrace
Synergis Management Services Limited - Casa Pardizo
Synergis Management Services Limited - Century Court
Synergis Management Services Limited - Cheerful Park
Synergis Management Services Limited - Chico Terrace
Synergis Management Services Limited - Chung Nga Court
Synergis Management Services Limited - Content Lodge
Synergis Management Services Limited - Edward Court
Synergis Management Services Limited - Elegance Garden
Synergis Management Services Limited - Emerald Palace
Synergis Management Services Limited - Emperor Place
Synergis Management Services Limited - Evelyn Towers
Synergis Management Services Limited - Fairland Gardens
Synergis Management Services Limited - Forest Hill
Synergis Management Services Limited - Fu Shin Estate
Synergis Management Services Limited - Fu Yan Court
Synergis Management Services Limited - Full Wealth Gardens

Synergis Management Services Limited -
Gold King Industrial Building

Synergis Management Services Limited - Green Knoll Court
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AREBRRBERAR - ELEE Synergis Management Services Limited - Harvest Garden
AREERBERAR - HFEXE Synergis Management Services Limited - Hatton House
ARBEREERAR - FAE Synergis Management Services Limited - Hibiscus Park
ARETERBERAR - ZHAIE Synergis Management Services Limited - Hiram's Villa
AREEREERAR - a5 Synergis Management Services Limited - Homestead Mansion
FEEERSER AR - B L Synergis Management Services Limited - Honley Court
AEBERBAERAR -HPEXRE Synergis Management Services Limited - Jonsim Place
AREERBERAR - 5250 Synergis Management Services Limited - Ka Shing Court
AREBREERLAR - RERE Synergis Management Services Limited - Kent Mansion
AREERBERAR - ZEXRE Synergis Management Services Limited - Kin Fai Building

AR EEREHRAR - BE Synergis Management Services Limited - King Hin Court
ARERRBEER AR - RIESE Synergis Management Services Limited - King Nga Court
AREBEREERAR - R Synergis Management Services Limited - King Shing Court
FREERGERAR - BHKE Synergis Management Services Limited - Kiu Yuen Mansion
AEEERGARAR - E/EMR Synergis Management Services Limited - Kwong Ming Court
AREERGERAR - FEE Synergis Management Services Limited - Linden Height
AREBRBEER AR - ML Synergis Management Services Limited - Lung Yan Court
AREERBERAR - FEIEE Synergis Management Services Limited - Marbella Garden
AREBERBERAR - 1HEERE Synergis Management Services Limited - Marina Habitat
AREBERBERAR - EEXRE Synergis Management Services Limited - Miami Mansion
AREBEREERART - EKE Synergis Management Services Limited - Mirror Marina
AEEERKARAR - 2EME Synergis Management Services Limited - Mountainville Court
ARBERGERAR - FERA 2% Synergis Management Services Limited - No 2 Comfort Terrace
AREBERBERAR - (X HE3%R Synergis Management Services Limited - No 3 Ho Man Tin Street

AEEERBERAR -

TR 725115 Synergis Management Services Limited - No 7 - 11 Cornwall Street

AREBRRBERAR - Synergis Management Services Limited -

KIEEIE 104 2106 5% No 104 - 106 Tin Hau Temple Road
AREBERBERAR -FHE Synergis Management Services Limited - Palm Beach
ARERRBERAT - AREE Synergis Management Services Limited - Parkview Garden
AREBEREERAR -AKE Synergis Management Services Limited - Pearl Gardens

SRR AR A S - RS T2 Synergis Management Services Limited -

Pearl Island Villas Eastern Block

AREBREERAR - ERAE Synergis Management Services Limited - Pico Tower
AREERBERAR - IRER/NE Synergis Management Services Limited - Pine Villa
AREEREHERAR - B Synergis Management Services Limited - Po Ming Court
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AREERBEERAR - B ERIZE
AREEREERAR - L6/ &
AREERKERNR - RIEHE
AREERBEERAR - BHILEE
ARTERBERAR] - IBEXE
AREERBERAR] - REE
AREERBEBERAA -
ERERERERERES
AREERBEBERAR - XEE

AREERBEERAR - ENE

AREEREERADF - #EEE
ARBERBERRQR - BIER
AREERBERRR -EFE
AREEREBERAR - KIHEE
AREEREER AR - KM
ARBERBERAR] - HZEEE
AREERFERAR - CEEE
AREERBERAR - RE
AREERGEBRAR] - KB
AEEERGERAR - XFU
ARBERBERIR] - EE
AEEERBERAR -ERIFXKE

AREEREERAR - REIEAE

AREERGBR AR - FBAZE
AREEREERAF - BHTRP L
AREEREERAR - 18 EEE
AREEREERAR - 2% KXE
AREERBBERAR - ERTT

AREERBERAR -CEIXRKE

AREBZRARAT
e - BENEERERAR
L EEEDEST

2

RETRARAR

Synergis Management Services Limited - Rise Park Villas
Synergis Management Services Limited - Rosary Villas
Synergis Management Services Limited - Royal Knoll
Synergis Management Services Limited - Serene Garden
Synergis Management Services Limited - Shun Fung Building

Synergis Management Services Limited - Sliver Crest
Synergis Management Services Limited - SSQ HK Baptist University

Synergis Management Services Limited - Star Court

Synergis Management Services Limited -
Summit Industrial Building

Synergis Management Services Limited - Sun Hing Garden
Synergis Management Services Limited - Symphony Garden
Synergis Management Services Limited - T Plus

Synergis Management Services Limited - Tai Po Garden
Synergis Management Services Limited - Tai Wo Estate
Synergis Management Services Limited - Tanner Garden
Synergis Management Services Limited - The Crescent
Synergis Management Services Limited - The Green Villa
Synergis Management Services Limited - Tin Fu Court
Synergis Management Services Limited - Tin Ping Estate
Synergis Management Services Limited - Wah Kwai Estate
Synergis Management Services Limited - Wah Tai Industrial Building

Synergis Management Services Limited -
Wang Lung Industrial Building

Synergis Management Services Limited - Wo Ming Court
Synergis Management Services Limited - Yale Industrial Centre
Synergis Management Services Limited - Yee Fung Garden
Synergis Management Services Limited - Yik Fat Building
Synergis Management Services Limited - Yuk Ming Court

Synergis Management Services Limited -
Zung Fu Industrial Building

Tai Hing Group Holdings Limited

The Coronation Estates Management Limited
The Incorporated Owners of Chermain Heights
The Metroplex

Tong Kee Engineering Limited
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REVHEEEBRAR - FEB 11158 Tylfull Realty Management Company Limited - 111 Lee Nam Road
28 = (R AR IR EE U.S. Dacos Bowling Centre (Tsuen Wan)
EWMYEERBR AR -

S S . Urban P ty M t Limited - 8 - 10 Caldecott Road
3 8 25 105 rban Property Management Limite aldecott Roa

EWMEEEBR AT - AIXHILE235  Urban Property Management Limited - 23 Homantin Hill Road
EHEEIEERAT -
E#EiE 87 & 91 5%

EMMEERBR AR - HEEE 1185 Urban Property Management Limited - 118 Tung Lo Wan Road

Urban Property Management Limited - 87 - 91 Broadcast Drive

ERMEEEREBRAR - HEKRE Urban Property Management Limited - A. Kun Lock Building
ERYMEERBRRARF - BLEEFES Urban Property Management Limited - Academic Terrace (Car Park)
ERMEERBRAR - ZEAEEERERE  Urban Property Management Limited - Allway Gardens
EWMEEEBERAR - NEBXE Urban Property Management Limited - Attilio Building
EWMEEERBER AR - BARITAE Urban Property Management Limited - Bangkok Bank Building
ERMEERBR AR - E5HE Urban Property Management Limited - Beverley Heights
BERMEERABRAAF - KH TR Urban Property Management Limited - Bodynits Building

SRS EERAS - ESERFAE Urban Property Management L|m|.ted -
Cheung Sha Wan Government Offices

BERYEEEBRAR - TR Urban Property Management Limited - Ching Wang Court
ERMMEERBR AR - AAEEZEF L Urban Property Management Limited - Chow Tai Fook Centre
EWMEEEBRAR - ZEEM Urban Property Management Limited - Clovelly Court
ERMEEEBRAR - Urban Property Management Limited -
HEpKERITRE CMB Wing Lung Bank Building
EWMEBTEBR AR - RER Urban Property Management Limited - Deep Bay Grove
EWMEEEERART - RERNE Urban Property Management Limited - Dragon Court
ERMEERBR AR - FAMEXRE Urban Property Management Limited - Elizabethan Court
LS EERAS - MED BEE Urban Property Managemeht Limited -

Ex-Cheung Sha Wan Abattoir
ERYEEEER AR - BER Urban Property Management Limited - Fung Lai Court
BERMYEEEER AR - BIEE Urban Property Management Limited - Handsome Court
EWMEEEBR AR - EEW Urban Property Management Limited - Hang Chun Court

ERMYEEIRBR AR - FREEESE—F  Urban Property Management Limited - Harmony Garden Block 1

SRS EARAS AN AREAS Urban Pr.operty Manageme.nt Limited -
Homantin Government Offices

EMYEEIRBR AR - ENE Urban Property Management Limited - Hong Lee Court
BERYMEERBRAR - REXNE Urban Property Management Limited - Hong Lok Mansion
BERMYEEEERAR - KBE Urban Property Management Limited - lllumination Terrace
ERYEEEBRAR - Urban Property Management Limited -
ANREBRETHBESERBERES Immigration Department Lei Cheng Uk Rank and File Staff Quarters
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ERMEEEBRAGF] - Urban Property Management Limited -
NREBEBEES Immigration Department Officers Quarters
TS EAR A - B Urban Property Management L|m|ted =

Ka Lung Court Management Office
EWYEEEFRAR - FZHE Urban Property Management Limited - Ka Tin Court

ERYEEEBRAA] - gl TEF L

(B— . —B=H) Urban Property Management Limited - Kaiser Estate (Phase 1,2 & 3)

EWYEBEERBRAR - R %Kw Urban Property Management Limited - Kam Tai Court
ERMEEEER AT - BER Urban Property Management Limited - Kent Court
EWYEEEERAR -REE Urban Property Management Limited - Kingsford Terrace
TSR ERAS - LKA Urban Property Managem.ent Limited -

Kowloon Government Offices
TR TR A T - SRR 0, Urba?n Property !\/\ana?gement Limited -

Kwai Fong Commercial Centre
ENMEEEER AT - BEM Urban Property Management Limited - Kwun Fai Court
EWYEEEERAR -WBERL Urban Property Management Limited - Kwun Hei Court

SRS AR AT - ERARGAS Ur'ban'Property Managemer']t Limited -
Lai Chi Kok Government Offices

ERMEEEERAR - EEEE Urban Property Management Limited - Lung Fung Garden

RS TR AR A T — BEAE S (AZSFEE) Urban Property Management Limited -
Lung Poon Court (Blocks A-F)

EWYEBEERAR - RBEE Urban Property Management Limited - Lyttelton Garden
EWMEEREBERAR - BFRE Urban Property Management Limited - Manning House
ERYMEBEEERAR - 85H Urban Property Management Limited - Manrich Court
EWMEERBER AR - BEFEANE Urban Property Management Limited - Methodist House
TSR E R AT - AKTAS Urban Property !\/\anageme.nt Limited -

Mong Kok Government Offices
EWMEEREBER AT - RERE Urban Property Management Limited - Monte Carlton
ERYEEEERAR -HMEKE Urban Property Management Limited - Nairn House
EWMEEEBR AR - AKE Urban Property Management Limited - New World Tower
EMYEEEBR AR - EE L% Urban Property Management Limited - One Beacon Hill
EWMEEEBR AT - BEEE Urban Property Management Limited - Parc Palais
EWMEEEBRAR] - - Urban Property Management Limited - Park Reach
EWHEEBRER AR - BRI Urban Property Management Limited - Pearl City Plaza
EWYEBEEERAR - RIER Urban Property Management Limited - Pine Court
ENMEEEBR AT - EEMN Urban Property Management Limited - Po Lai Court
EWYEBTEBER AR - HEELH Urban Property Management Limited - Pok Hong Estate
EWMEEEBER AR - RETEE Urban Property Management Limited - Prime View Garden
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EUMYEREEBRLAR - ERAZAE
ERMEEERERAA BRAEE

~IE
ERYEEEBRAR - BRERE
ERMEERBRAR - BEE
BRMEEERBRAR - XELEE
BUMEERBRAR - EELEE
EUYEEEBRAA - 2 UEE
BUMEEEBRAR -HRE
EUYEREEBRAR] - FEWHR

ESMEERARAT RS HTAE

BEMYEERERLR - REBEES
BRMEERBRAR - BRLE
ERYEREEBRAR - FEBE
BRUMEEEBRAR -AEHE

ERNEERERAT - EEEERL

ERMEEEBRAR - MR
BUMYEEERERDR - BHRFO
EUYEREEBRARA - NEES
EMYEREEBR DR - BAE
BUMEEEBRAR - TRE
ERYEREEBRAR] - KXEBL
BUYEEEBRAR] - KA
EHMEEEAERAA -
FMNEBEAEES
BUMYEREEBRLR - HPIIGEER

EWMEEEBR AT - R
ERMEEEERAD - BEERE
BERMEERBR AT - ER TR
EWYMEEEBERAT - ERIEPL
ERMEERBRAR - REXRE
EWMEERFR AR -
FENBELEBERES

ERNEERARAR - EARKNAE

%

Urban Property Management Limited - Prosperity Tower

Urban Property Management Limited -
Pui Ching Road Government Offices

Urban Property Management Limited - Queen'’s Terrace
Urban Property Management Limited - Rhine Terrace

Urban Property Management Limited - Rhythm Garden
Urban Property Management Limited - Ronsdale Garden
Urban Property Management Limited - San Francisco Towers
Urban Property Management Limited - Scenic Rise

Urban Property Management Limited - Severn Hill

Urban Property Management Limited -
Sham Shui Po Government Offices

Urban Property Management Limited - Shek Kip Mei Staff Quarters
Urban Property Management Limited - Silvercrest

Urban Property Management Limited - South Hillcrest

Urban Property Management Limited - South Wave Court

Urban Property Management Limited -
Southgate Commercial Centre

Urban Property Management Limited - Sui Wo Court
Urban Property Management Limited - Technology Plaza
Urban Property Management Limited - Tern Plaza

Urban Property Management Limited - The Merton
Urban Property Management Limited - The Royal Court
Urban Property Management Limited - Tin Lai Court
Urban Property Management Limited - Tin Yau Court

Urban Property Management Limited -
Tsing Chau Street Customs Staff Quarters

Urban Property Management Limited -
Tuen Mun Elegance Gardens

Urban Property Management Limited - Tung Chun Court

Urban Property Management Limited - Villa Carlton

Urban Property Management Limited - Wah Luen Industrial Centre
Urban Property Management Limited - Wah Shing Centre

Urban Property Management Limited - Wang Cheong Building

Urban Property Management Limited -
West Kowloon Disciplined Services Quarters
Urban Property Management Limited -
West Kowloon Government Offices
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EWMEEEBR AR - KEEE Urban Property Management Limited - Wing Fai Garden
EWYEEEARAR - AP Urban Property Management Limited - World Peace Centre
ERYEEEBRAR - Urban Property Management Limited -

M= IS K E Yaumatei Carpark Building (Carpark Floors Excluded)
ENMEEERBR AT - BEMN Urban Property Management Limited - Yin Lai Court
EAMFXEEERAR - FERg Urban-Wellborn Property Management Limited - Sereno Verde
ERMMERS (BE) BRAT] Vanke Service (Hong Kong) Company Limited

&d ZBRAT] VTL-Solutions Limited

Waihong Environmental Services Limited -
Express Rail Link West Kowloon Station

BEREREERAR - S#ANES

BREBRERBERAT - W HES Waihong Environmental Services Limited - New Town Plaza
BREBEEREERAR - KEE Waihong Environmental Services Limited - Tai Kwun
BEeREEGRAT Welcome Construction Company Limited
HerRBEERRAR] Western Harbour Tunnel Company Limited
HHRYMEERER AR - BANE 2858 Whampoa Property Management Limited - 28 Barker Road
HEMEEEAR AT - RIEEK 99 Whampoa Property Management Limited - 99 Cheung Fai Road

Whampoa Property Management Limited -
Aberdeen Centre Residential

HEYEERARAGR - BEFTLEE

EEMEEEBRAR -ac Whampoa Property Management Limited - ac
ERYEEEBRAR - 2450 Whampoa Property Management Limited - Cameron House
HHMEERER AR - EBM Whampoa Property Management Limited - Provident Villas
EHRMEERBRAR - EREES Whampoa Property Management Limited - Rambler Plaza
ERYMEETRBRBRAR - 8BRS Whampoa Property Management Limited - The Harbourfront
EEYMEEBRAERAR -EERERF O Whampoa Property Management Limited - Watson Centre
=HEES Whampoa Sports Club

MEELEFR AT Wo Hing Construction Company Limited
EEVXEEERAR Yoshiya Property Management Limited

177



178

Fft4% Appendices

BEBEEG 2RSS

==

==
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2.
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ER(RE(RREE) GO & (ER
2k (RIETR) 15&1)) BB IRIZIEEE
ZHITIER °
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EETH -

BB FIEARTT R R EEE
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1.

2.

MABRLITEAAE ARG ERE
BRI 2 R E R AL RS HEE
EETNZER -

RELAHA 2 HREEEE) - A
E{REMEBREIEES °

C.

Executive Committee

1. To advise COSH on the strategic planning of COSH
programmes and initiatives.

2. To consider and endorse the budget of COSH projects
and activities.

3. To oversee the functioning of COSH Secretariat, in
particular staffing and financial matters.

4. To oversee the information security management of
COSH.

Legislation Committee

1. To monitor the implementation of various tobacco
control measures stipulated in the Smoking (Public
Health) Ordinance and the Fixed Penalty (Smoking
Offences) Ordinance.

2. To review and recommend to COSH appropriate
action on legislative matters.

3. To consider ways and means to promote public
awareness of the legislative requirements and
encourage their compliance.

Education and Publicity Committee

1. To consider ways and means that can best educate the
general public on the harm of smoking and passive
smoking, and to promote a smoke-free lifestyle in the
community.

2. To plan and organize territory-wide publicity
campaigns to de-normalize smoking and promote
smoking cessation.
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3. To plan and implement education projects to prevent
children and youth from taking up the habit of
smoking.

4. To oversee the production of publicity materials such
as TV Commercials, posters, leaflets, souvenirs and
annual reports.

5. To evaluate the education and publicity campaigns
and to initiate improvements where appropriate.

Community Liaison Committee

1. To communicate with district and community groups
on COSH'’s tobacco control works and initiatives.

2. To serve as a focal point for community liaison on
matters related to COSH and tobacco control.

3. To partner with various community groups in the
planning and implementation of tobacco control
programmes and activities.

Information and Research Committee

1. To collect and collate all information related to
smoking and health and to disseminate such
information through appropriate means and networks.

2. Toidentify appropriate themes of research and survey
projects to be carried out.

3. To provide advice for the design of research and
surveys and the subsequent presentation of results.

4. To commission out research projects; and to invite
submission of research proposals on targeted research
topics; to examine research proposals and recommend
projects for funding to COSH.

5 To publicize the research/survey results and
recommend follow-up actions having regard to such
results.

6. To initiate and organize scientific conference, seminars
or workshops on smoking and health research.
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1. Introduction

Despite a falling smoking prevalence, Hong Kong still had
about 615,000 daily cigarette smokers (10.0%) in 2017"; at least
half of whom would die prematurely because of smoking®.
Every year, nearly 7,000 people succumb to diseases caused
by active and passive smoking, with a substantial economic
burden of about HK$5.6 billion in Hong Kong (0.3% of
GDP)’. Smoking is highly addictive, and many smokers fail
to quit unaided, especially those with high level of nicotine
dependence. Engaging smokers who are not ready to quit
smoking is a challenge—about 68.8% daily smokers in
Hong Kong had no previous quit attempt and no interest
in quitting'. Developing novel and brief interventions to
motivate and assist smokers to quit is essential for public
health implications.

Smoking cessation (SC) competitions or “Quit and Win”
Contests encourage smokers from the community to quit
smoking by offering opportunities to win prizes (e.g. by
lottery) after making a successful quit attempt*. The “Quit to
Win (QTW)” Contest cum Smoke-free Community Campaign
is an annual event organized by The Hong Kong Council on
Smoking and Health (COSH) in collaboration with School of
Nursing and the School of Public Health, The University of
Hong Kong (HKU). The goals include (1) motivating smokers to
get rid of their smoking habit; (2) encouraging non-smokers
to support their family members and friends to quit; (3)
raising public awareness on smoking hazards and community
participation in tobacco control; and (4) strengthening the
promotion of smoke-free community and to strive for a
smoke-free Hong Kong. Seven QTW Contests have been
conducted since 2009 (except in 2011), which have engaged
over 8,000 smokers from the community to quit smoking.

The QTW Contests provided a unique platform to design
and conduct RCTs to develop, evaluate and refine novel
interventions for promoting quitting in community smokers *.

Applying mobile technologies to provide SC support
is an emerging area in SC treatment®. A 2016 Cochrane
review found that mobile phone-based SC interventions
(predominantly via SMS messaging) increased abstinence
by about 70%°. Mobile instant messaging apps, such as
WhatsApp or WeChat, have gradually surpassed SMS as the
most widely used mobile messaging tool’. They provide a
platform for exchange of text, emojis, voice messages and
multimedia freely through internet in real time. A population-
based study in Hong Kong has found adults exposed
to health information through instant messaging were
associated with reduced smoking ®. WhatsApp online support
group has also been found effective in preventing relapse
among participants who have recently quit smoking among
service users of Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Integrated
Centre on Smoking Cessation”. It remains unknown if more
personalized and interactive messaging support provided by
using instant messaging apps could further improve cessation
outcomes.

SC services are effective in increasing quit rate but are
severely underused in Hong Kong—only 2.3% current
smokers had ever sought professional help from SC services in
2017". The 6™ QTW Contest in 2015 provided strong evidence
that actively referring participants to a SC service could
increase SC service use and quit rate'’. The results were also
replicated by the 7" QTW Contest in 2016, which evaluated



active referral interventions of different intensities'". Active
referral presents an important intervention to promote SC
service use and quitting in the community.

In 2017, COSH collaborated with HKU, 18 District Councils, 17
district partners and 15 supporting organizations to organize
the 8" QTW Contest. A two-arm randomized controlled
trial (RCT) was conducted to examine the effectiveness of a
combined intervention of face-to-face brief cessation advice
(AWARD model), instant messaging SC support plus active
referral to SC services (AIR) in promoting quitting.

2. Methods

2.1 Recruitment

From 18 June to 30 September 2017, participants were
recruited in 68 recruitment sessions in shopping malls
and public areas in all 18 districts in Hong Kong. Trained
SC ambassadors were deployed to approach smokers in
the community, screen for their eligibility, recruit eligible
smokers into the QTW contest and RCT, and deliver assigned
interventions to participants. Details of the research method
of the RCT has been published in an international peer-
refereed journal.

Eligibility criteria for RCT participation included:

1. Hong Kong residents aged 18 years or above;

2. Daily smokers who smoked at least 1 cigarette per day in
the past 3 months;

3. Able to communicate in Cantonese and read Chinese;

4. Exhaled carbon monoxide (CO) of 4 parts per million (ppm)
or above;

5. Intended to quit/ reduce smoking;

6. Using a cell phone with an instant messaging app (e.g.
WhatsApp) installed; and

7. Able to use an instant messaging app for communication.

Written informed consents were obtained from all eligible
participants who enrolled in the QTW Contest prior to
delivery of the assigned treatment to the participants.

Recruitment sessions were randomized into either the
intervention or control groups (1:1). All participants recruited
in the same session were assigned the same interventions to
prevent intervention contamination. Random permuted block
size of two, four or six were used to ensure similar number of
recruitment sessions in both groups of the RCT. The allocation
sequence was generated by an investigator not involved
in the recruitment using Microsoft Excel. The allocations
were not disclosed to the SC ambassadors until immediately

before the start of each recruitment session. Blinding of the
participants and the ambassadors were not possible, but
outcome assessors were blinded to the group assignment.

During recruitment, participants were given the options
of participating in either the Lucky Draw group or SC
Ambassador group. Five biochemically validated quitters
at 3-month in the Lucky Draw group won a lottery prize
of HK$10,000 supermarket coupon each. Three validated
quitters at 3-month in the SC Ambassador group were chosen
from interviews by a selection committee formed by COSH to
win travelling vouchers of HK$25,000 to Australia (Champion),
HK$15,000 to Singapore (1 runner-up) and HK$10,000 to
Thailand (2™ runner-up).

2.2 Interventions and Follow-up

Intervention group: Participants received brief SC advice
guided by the AWARD model'™ *, which comprised the
following components: Asking about the participants’
smoking history, Warning about the harm of smoking
using the result of the CO test and a health warning leaflet,
Advising them to quit as soon as possible, Referring them
to SC services using a referral card, and Doing-it-again —
repeat the AWARD advice through instant messaging. The
health warning leaflet covered information about the burden
of smoking in the world and in Hong Kong, a list of diseases
with pictures attributable to active and passive smoking,
and the Department of Health Integrated Smoking Cessation
Hotline 1833 183. The leaflet also contained three statements
of (1) “The World Health Organization warns that 1 in 2
smokers will die prematurely due to smoking”; (2) “Emerging
evidence suggests that 2 in 3 smokers who began smoking at
a younger age, smoke more, or have greater number of years
of smoking will die prematurely because of smoking”; and (3)
“The life expectancy of smokers is on average 10 years shorter
than non-smokers”.

Participants in the intervention group also received SC
support through instant messaging (WhatsApp) for 3 months
from baseline. The design and content of the intervention was
informed by a formative focus group study in current smokers
in Hong Kong'. The intervention allowed an SC counselor to
interact with a participant and provide personalized SC advice
and information in real time. The counselor personalized the
intervention according to the characteristics (surname, age
and sex) and smoking behaviors (number of cigarettes per
day and readiness to quit) of the participants. The counselors
also monitored their quit or reduction progress and tailored
the intervention content accordingly. Details of successfully
booked SC service appointment (e.g. contacts and address
of the SC service, appointment date and time) were also
delivered to the participants. The participants could send a
message to the counselor anytime and the counselor would
respond during office hours (0930 to 1830 from Monday to
Friday).
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To initiate and facilitate the interaction between the SC
counselors and the participants, 16 generic messages were
sent to the participants via WhatsApp on a tapering schedule:

« Baseline to 1-month follow-up: 2 messages per week
« 1-to 2-month follow-up: 3 messages every fortnight
2- to 3-month follow-up: T message per week

The regular messages were developed based on the
messages used in 7" QTW Contest and the findings from
the formative qualitative study'. The messages covered
motivational messages, strategies to quit and reduce
smoking, strategies to prevent and manage craving, benefits
of quitting, and encouragement to use SC services through
the Department of Health Integrated Smoking Cessation
Hotline (1833 183). A reminder to participate in each follow-
up at 1-, 2-, 3- and 6-month were also sent, making up a total
of 20 messages.

Participants in the intervention group also received active
referral to SC services. Similar to the 6™ QTW Contest, SC
counselors used a 3-fold referral card to introduce the
existing SC services in Hong Kong at baseline, which included
(1) Integrated Smoking Cessation Hotline of Department of
Health, (2) Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Integrated Centre
on Smoking Cessation, (3) Hospital Authority Smoking
Counseling and Cessation Centres, (4) Pok Oi Hospital
Smoking Cessation Service, (5) Youth Quitline and Women
Quitline of HKU. Participants were encouraged to select
a service and complete an active referral form. With the
consent of the participants, their contacts were then sent to
the respective SC service for further actions.

Control group: Participants received general brief SC advice
and one SMS reminder to participate in the telephone
follow-ups at 1-, 2-, 3- and 6-month. Participants in all groups
received a 12-page self-help SC booklet “Be Smart, Quit
Smoking!” designed by COSH.

Non-trial group: Participants of the SC ambassador group,
or those who did not own a smartphone with an instant
messaging app installed, or those who were unable to read
or communicate in Chinese, or recruited from a specific
workplace, were assigned to the non-trial group. Participants
in the non-trial group received the same treatment as their
RCT counterparts recruited from the same recruitment
session, including the same small cash incentives if they
passed biochemical validation of their abstinence at 3- and
6-month follow-ups.

Telephone follow-ups were conducted to all participants at
1-, 2- ,3- and 6-month after randomization. To enhance the
retention rate, an incentive of $100 was given to participants
who completed all follow-ups. Those who could not be
reached after a maximum of seven telephone calls and a
voice message at the scheduled follow-up time points were
considered lost to follow-up. Self-reported quitters (did not
smoke even a puff for 7 days or longer) at the 3- and 6-month

were invited to participate in the biochemical validations
(exhaled CO and salivary cotinine tests). Those who passed
the validations could receive a cash incentive of HK$500 each
at 3-and 6- month.

The primary outcomes were self-reported 7-day point
prevalence abstinence (PPA) at 3- and 6-month follow-
ups after recruitment. Secondary outcomes included (1)
biochemically validated abstinence, (2) smoking reduction
by at least half of the baseline number of cigarette consumed
per day, (3) self-reported quit attempt (abstinence for 24
hours or longer) and (4) SC service use at 3- and 6-month.

The baseline socio-demographic and smoking profile
of all participants at baseline (N=1,311) were presented
descriptively. The primary and secondary outcomes were
compared between the two study groups by chi-square
tests. Analyses were by intention-to-treat (ITT), such that
participants with missing data were assumed to have no
change in their smoking behavior, and by complete case (CC),
in which participants with missing outcomes were excluded.
We also assessed participants’ use of SC services, change
in perception of quitting, quit attempt with reasons and
withdrawal symptoms experienced, perceived social support
for quitting, perceptions and use of SC aids provided, and
perception of follow-up calls.

3. Results

A total of 68 recruitment sessions were held with about
155,000 people passers-by. Over 9,400 people enquired
about SC and the QTW Contest, visited the recruitment
booth or participated in the anti-smoking game. 48 trained
SC ambassadors were involved in promotional activities and
recruitment sessions. They have approached nearly 2,700
smokers and 9,000 non-smokers.

Of 1,347 smokers screened for inclusion, 12 (0.9%) did not
meet the eligibility criteria and were excluded. After excluding
24 (1.8%) eligible smokers who declined to participate in the
QTW Contest, 1,311 (97.3%) smokers joined the QTW Contest.
Of all participants, 1,185 (90.4%) participated in the RCT and
were randomized to either the intervention (n=591) or control
groups (n=594). The non-trial group, which was analyzed
separately, consisted of 72 (5.5%) participants who joined the
SC ambassador group and 54 (4.1%) participants who did not
own a smartphone with an instant messaging app installed,
or were unable to communicate in Chinese, or recruited from
a specific workplace.

Most participants reported recruitment booths as the primary
source from which they learnt about the 8" QTW Contest
(91.3%) (Figure 1). This was followed by websites (3.4%),
leaflets or posters (2.2%), and colleagues or friends (2.0%).



Figure 1

Figure 3

Sources of knowing the 8" “Quit to Win” Contest
(N=1,311) "?

Recruitment booths 91.3%
Websites 3.4%

Leaflets/posters [l 2.2%

Colleagues/friends I 2.0%
Family members i 1.2%
Radio i 0.7%

TV ’ 0.5%

Community centres 0.5%

Newspapers/magazines 0.5%

Others 0.3%

'Missing data were not shown.
*Participants could choose more than one option.

3.1 Socio-demographic characteristics

The mean age of the participants was 42.1 (SD=14.6) years
(ranged from 18 to 94) and most were male (78.1%). After
excluding participants with missing information, 60.2% were
married and 39.6% were living with at least a child; nearly
half attained senior secondary education or above (67.3%),
resided in rented public housing (48.2%) and had monthly
household income below HK$20,000 (44.6%); and most were
self-employed or employed (81.4%) (Table 1).

3.2 Smoking profile

The participants’ mean age of smoking initiation was
18.2 (SD=5.7) years, and 45.1% (591) participants began
smoking weekly before the age of 18 years (Figure 2). The
mean duration of smoking was 24.0 (SD=14.6) years. The
participants smoked on average 13.9 (SD=8.8) cigarettes per
day. Over half of the participants (52.6%) smoked less than 10
cigarettes daily (Figure 3).

Daily cigarette consumption at bqseline
in all participants (N=1,311)
Total Intervention = Control B Non-trial
60% —
536
526 522 492
50% —
394 393 397
0% — 389
30% —
20% —
10% — a4 a4 37 T 36 55 44 40
0% ‘ T
1-10 11-20 21-30 >30

Figure 2
Age of starting weekly smokir1|g in all participants
(N=1,311)
Total Intervention M Control M Non-trial
60% —
524
50% - 451 452
B4 404 407 46
40% —
325
30% —
20% —
10% — 11 B 79
0% : .
<17 18-25 >26

'Missing data were not shown.

'Missing data were not shown.

About a third of participants (33.0%) smoked their first
cigarette of the day within 5 minutes after waking up. Nearly
half had moderate to heavy nicotine dependence assessed by
Heaviness of Smoking Index (HSI) (45.7%) (Figure 4), had no
previous quit attempt (47.4%) (Figure 5), and had no intention
to quit within 30 days at baseline (61.3%) (Figure 6). The non-
trial group had significantly more participants with intention
to quit within 7 days after baseline than the RCT group
(P<0.001).

Figure 4

Nicotine dependence at baseline in all participants
(N=1,311)"

Total Intervention & Control B Non-trial
60%
475 481 485

50% —
44
405 398 399 387

40% —
30%
20%

10% — 59 55 66 64

0%

Light (HSI = 0-2) Moderate (HSI = 3-4) Heavy (HSI = 5-6)

'Missing data were not shown.
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Table 1. Socio-demographic characteristics of all participants (N=1,311)

0 %) Total Non-trial Intervention Control
(N=1,311) (N=126) (N=591) (N=594)
Age, mean = SD, years 421 £14.6 471 £18.5 40.6 £ 13.4 42.5+14.5
Gender
Male 1,024 (78.1) 106 (84.1) 450 (76.1) 468 (78.8)
Female 287 (21.9) 20 (15.9) 141 (23.9) 126 (21.2)
Marital status
Single 327 (24.9) 43 (34.1) 154 (26.1) 130 (21.9)
Married/ Cohabited 553 (42.2) 54 (42.9) 243 (41.1) 256 (43.1)
Others 39 (3.0) 7 (5.6) 13(2.2) 19 (3.2)
Missing 392 (29.9) 22 (17.5) 181 (30.6) 189 (31.8)
Living with a child aged below 18 years old
Yes 328 (25.0) 28 (22.2) 140 (23.7) 160 (26.9)
No 501 (38.2) 66 (52.4) 223 (37.7) 212 (35.7)
Missing 482 (36.8) 32 (25.4) 228 (38.6) 222 (37.4)
Education level
No formal education 19 (1.5) 8(6.3) 6 (1.0) 5(0.8)
Elementary education 72 (5.5) 17 (13.5) 19 (3.2) 36 (6.1)
Junior secondary education 179 (13.7) 14 (11.1) 74 (12.5) 91 (15.3)
Senior secondary education 379 (28.9) 27 (21.4) 191 (32.3) 161 (27.1)
Post-secondary or above 176 (13.4) 32 (25.4) 75 (12.7) 69 (11.6)
Missing 486 (37.1) 28 (22.2) 226 (38.2) 232 (39.1)
Employment status
Student 22(1.7) 6 (4.8) 7 (1.2) 9(1.5)
Self-employed/ employed 753 (57.4) 58 (46.0) 356 (60.2) 339 (57.1)
Unemployed 39 (3.0) 9(7.1) 14 (2.4) 16 (2.7)
Housewife 23(1.8) 4(3.2) 12 (2.0) 7(1.2)
Retired 88 (6.7) 25(19.8) 26 (4.4) 37 (6.2)
Missing 386 (29.4) 24 (19.0) 176 (29.8) 186 (31.3)
Monthly household income (HKS$)
Less than 10,000 110 (8.4) 26 (20.6) 42 (7.) 42 (7.1)
10,000-19,999 233 (17.8) 26 (20.6) 114 (19.3) 93 (15.7)
20,000-29,999 177 (13.5) 7 (5.6) 80 (13.5) 90 (15.2)
30,000-39,999 108 (8.2) 5(4.0) 48 (8.1) 55(9.3)
40,000 or more 141 (10.8) 22 (17.5) 59 (10.0) 60 (10.1)
Missing 542 (41.3) 40 (31.7) 248 (42.0) 254 (42.8)
Housing condition
Public housing (rental) 408 (31.1) 50 (39.7) 170 (28.8) 188 (31.6)
Public housing (purchased) 42 (3.2) 4(3.2) 16 (2.7) 22 (3.7)
Home Ownership Scheme 101 (7.7) 14 (11.1) 41 (6.9) 46 (7.7)
Private housing (rental) 124 (9.5) 14 (11.1) 55(9.3) 55(9.3)
Private housing (purchased) 132 (10.1) 15 (11.9) 65 (11.0) 52(8.8)
Others 39(3.0) 4(3.2) 22 (3.7) 13(2.2)
Missing 465 (35.5) 25(19.8) 222 (37.6) 218 (36.7)
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Figure 5

Figure 7

Past quit attempt at baseline in all participants Retention rate of 1-, 2-, 3- and 6-month follow-ups
1
(N=1,311) (N=1,311)
Total Intervention & Control B Non-trial Total Intervention H  Control B Non-trial
60% — 90% — 841
50% a4 = 80% — 763 748 761 706 9 027 00 o 605 718 776 795 453 794
o . g 7
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40% —| mM o w B 60% —
30% —| 50% —
40% —
20% — 30% —
20%
10% = 64 48 46 45 I
2625 19 3131 24 10% —
o0p | el ﬂ -l B , o ,
Within past ~ Within past Within past More than Never 1-month 2-month 3-month 6-month
month 6 months year 1 yearago

'Missing data were not shown.

Figure 6
Intention to quit at basellne in all participants
(N=1,311)"
Total Intervention I Control B Non-trial
70% —
0% — 565 587 596
508
50% —
40% —
3% 07 23 00
20% g
° 119 17 ng 133
10% —| 48 42 59
0% . :
Within 7 days Within 30 days Within 60 days Undetermined

'Missing data were not shown.

3.3 1-,2-, 3- and 6-month follow-ups results

Retention rate

The overall retention rates were 76.3%, 70.6%, 70.0% and
77.6% at 1-, 2-, 3- and 6-month follow-ups, respectively. The
retention rates were similar between the intervention and
control groups at 1-month (74.8% vs 76.1%; P=0.60), 2-month
(69.9% vs 70.2%; P=0.91), 3-month (68.5% vs 69.9%; P=0.62)
and 6-month (79.5% vs 75.3%; P=0.079) follow-ups (Figure 7).

Primary outcome: Self-reported 7-day point
prevalence abstinence rate at 3- and 6-month
follow-ups

By ITT analysis, the overall self-reported 7-day PPA was 14.0%
at 3-month and 16.5% at 6-month follow-ups. Significantly
more participants in the intervention group reported
abstinence in the past 7 days than in the control group at
3- month (15.2% vs 10.1%; P=0.008) and 6-month (18.8% vs
11.4%; P<0.001), equivalent to about 50% to 65% increase in
quitting in the intervention than in the control group. The CC
analysis yielded similar results. (Figure 8).

Figure 8
Self-reported abstinence rates at 3- and 6-month
follow-ups, by ITT and CC analysis
Total Intervention W Control M Non-trial
40% —
35% —
30% —
25% —
T‘S"‘j 1o 152
10% —
5% —
0%
3-month ITT 3-month CC 6-month ITT 6-month CC
(N=1,311) (N=918) (N=1,311) (N=1,019)

ITT: Intention-to-treat analysis; CC: Complete-case analysis
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Biochemically validated abstinence rate at 3- and
6-month follow-ups

The overall biochemically validated quit rate was 6.9% at
3- month and 7.7% at 6-month follow-ups by ITT analysis.
The figures were significantly higher in the intervention
group than in the control group (7.6% vs 4.0%; P=0.009) at 3-
month and (8.1% vs 5.1%; P=0.033) at 6-month, which were
amounted to about 60% to 90% increase in the intervention
than in the control group. The results were supported by the
CC analysis (Figure 9).

Figure 9

Biochemically validated abstinence rates at 3- and
6-month follow-ups, by ITT and CC analysis

Total Intervention ® Control M Non-trial
25% —
20% —
15% —
99 102

10% 69 76 77 8.1
5% —
0%

3-month ITT 3-month CC 6-month ITT 6-month CC

(N=1,311) (N=918) (N=1,311) (N=1,019)

ITT: Intention-to-treat analysis; CC: Complete-case analysis

Smoking reduction rate at the 3- and 6-month
follow-ups

By ITT analysis, the proportion of participants who cut their
daily cigarette consumption by half or more after joining the
QTW Contest was 20.0% at 3-month and 27.2% at 6-month
among those who failed to quit (Figure 10). The smoking
reduction rates were higher in the intervention group than in
the control group at all follow-up time points, although the
differences were insignificant (all P>0.05).

Figure 10

Rate of smoking reduction by at least half in
continuing smokers at 3- and 6-month follow-ups,
by ITT and CC analysis

Total Intervention H Control B Non-trial
70% —
60% —
50% —
40% — 59 354356 382 375 363 357
W 72 211 355
192
20% —| 180
10% —
0%
3-month ITT 3-month CC 6-month ITT 6-month CC
(N=1,311) (N=635) (N=1,311) (N=795)

ITT: Intention-to-treat analysis; CC: Complete case analysis

By ITT analysis, the overall rate of smoking reduction
or cessation were 31.2% and 39.2% at 3- and 6-month,
respectively (Figure 11). The smoking reduction or quit rate
was significantly higher in the intervention group than in the
control group at 3-month (31.5% vs 26.3%; P=0.048) and at
6-month (40.8% vs 34.0%; P=0.016) follow-ups. CC analysis
yielded similar results.

Figure 11

Rate of smoking reduction by at least half or cessation
at 3- and 6-month follow-ups, by ITT analysis and

CC analysis
Total Intervention B Control B Non-trial
80% —
70% —
)0/
60% 3.2 499 517 508 514
50% — 5.6
20 392 408
40% — 340
312 315
30% —
20%
10% —
0%
3-month ITT 3-month CC 6-month ITT 6-month CC
(N=1,311) (N=819) (N=1,311) (N=1,011)

ITT: Intention-to-treat analysis; CC: Complete case analysis

Use of smoking cessation services at 1-, 2-, 3- and
6-month follow-ups

Participants only in the intervention group were actively
referred to SC services owing to the RCT study design.
Throughout the entire study period, there were 345 referral
requests to SC services made by 26.3% of all QTW Contest
participants (Table 2). The cumulative number of referral
requests were 292 in the intervention group, compared with
13 in the control group.

Table 2 Referral status for all participants
(N=1,311)

Total Intervention Control Non-trial
(N=1,311) (N=591) (N=594) (N=126)
Had made
areferral 345 (26.3) 292 (49.4) 13(2.2) 40(31.7)
request

The number of participants who ever used a SC service
increased through follow-up time points. Overall, 11.5% of
all participants had used a SC service at least once by the
6-month follow-up (Table 3). The cumulative prevalence of SC
service use was significantly higher in the intervention group
than in the control group at all follow-up time points (All
P<0.001).



Table 3 Use of SC service (N=1,311)

Total Intervention Control  Non-trial

(N=1,311) (N=591) (N=594) (N=126)

1-month 78 (6.0) 56 (9.5) 8(1.4) 14 (11.1)
2-month 108 (8.2) 76 (12.9) 119  21(16.7)
3-month 127 (9.7) 91 (15.4) 13(2.2) 23(18.3)
6-month 151 (11.5) 102 (17.3) 23(3.9) 26 (20.6)

Among 102 service users who reported the type of treatment
used in the intervention group, the most frequently received
treatment from the SC services were nicotine replacement
therapy (43.1%), followed by telephone counseling (27.5%)
and face-to-face counseling (23.5%) (Figure 12).

Figure 12

Types of smoking cessation services being used
among service users (N=102)

Nicotine replacement therapy

(e.g. NRT gum/patch/inhaler) 43.1%

Telephone counseling 27.5%

Face-to-face counseling 23.5%
Acupuncture

Prescription medication

Group counseling

'Participants could choose more than one option.

In the intervention group, 230 participants who did not use
SC service at 1 month provided a reason for not using the
SC services. The primary reasons were “too busy” (22.6%),
followed by “perceived SC services as not useful” (9.6%); “not
interested” (9.1%); “schedule conflict” (7.4%); “inconvenient
location” (1.3%) (Figure 13).

Figure 13

Reasons for not using smoking cessation services
among non-service users (N=230) !

Too busy 22.6%

Perceived SC services
as not useful

Not interested
Schedule conflict

Inconvenient location

'Participants could choose more than one option.

Self-efficacy of quitting
Perceived importance to quit smoking

Among participants with complete data at all time points, the
overall mean score of perceived importance to quit smoking
were similar between baseline and 3-month follow-up (7.34
vs 7.35; P=0.91), but significantly increased from 3-month to
6-month follow-up (from 7.35 to 8.38; P<0.001). The mean
score significantly increased from 3- to 6-month follow-up
and from baseline to 6-month follow-up in both study groups
(all P<0.001), and the increase was significantly greater in
the intervention group than in the control group from 3- to
6-month follow-up (P<0.001) (Figure 14).

Figure 14

Perceived importance to quit smoking (N=673)'

Total Intervention Control ==®= Non-trial
T 860
83 8.14 8.38
7.97
7.8
7.45 7.35
73 | 734 7.28
7.23
6s 5 ! I
Baseline 3-month 6-month
P value for within-group
comparisons P value for between-
- group comparisons
Intervention Control
Baseline to 0.24 0.054 0.029
Smonthto | 0,001 <0.001 <0.001
Baselineto | 0,001 <0.001 0.20

'From 0 (not important at all) to 10 (very important); missing data were
excluded.
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Perceived difficulty to quit smoking

In participants who responded to the questions, the mean
score of perceived difficulty to quit smoking were similar
between baseline and 3-month follow-up (from 6.96 to 6.94;
P=0.86), then increased from 3-month to 6-month follow-up
(6.94 to 7.49; P<0.001). The mean score significantly increased
from 3-month to 6-month and from baseline to 6-month
in both study groups (P<0.004). There was no significant
between-group difference in change in mean scores between
any time points (P=0.19 to 0.90) (Figure 15).

Figure 15

Perceived difficulty to quit smoking (N=665)'

Total Intervention Control =—®— Non-trial

76 7.56

7.49
7.48

7.4 743
7.2

7.0

6.8

| 6.77
6.6 | |
Baseline 3-month 6-month
P value for within-group
comparisons P value for betvyeen-
roup comparisons
Intervention Control group P
Baseline to 031 0.66 0.31
Smonthto | 29,001 <0.001 0.90
Baseline to 0.004 <0.001 0.19

'From 0 (not difficult at all) to 10 (very difficult); missing data were excluded.

Perceived confidence to quitting

In participants with complete data, there was no significant
change in the mean scores of perceived confidence to
quit smoking between baseline and 3-month (5.98 vs 6.14;
P=0.062) and baseline and 6-month (5.98 vs 5.96; P=0.84),
despite a small and significant decrease from 3-month to
6-month (6.14 vs 5.96; P=0.010). The decrease is significant
in participants in the control group (6.00 vs 5.74; P=0.049).
There was no significant difference in changes in mean scores
between any time points between both study groups (P=0.38
to 0.82) (Figure 16).

Figure 16

Perceived confidence to quit smoking (N=662)’

Total Intervention Control ==®=— Non-trial

7.06
7.1
6.9 6.74
6.7
65 6.58
6.3 6.18
6.1 6.05 6.14 6.02
5.9 I’ 5.98 6.00 596
57 |' 5.72 5.74
55 L )
Baseline 3-month 6-month
P value for within-group
comparisons P value for between-
- group comparisons
Intervention |  Control
Baseline to 061 0.08 0.38
3-month to 037 0.049 041
Baseline to 0.84 09 0.82

'From 0 (not confident at all) to 10 (very confident); missing data were
excluded.

Quit attempt at 3- and 6-month follow-ups

By ITT analysis, the proportion of participants with at least
one quit attempt was 34.8% by 3-month and 40.4% by 6
-month (Figure 17). Excluding those participated who quitted
successfully, the corresponding figures were 24.5% and
29.5% respectively. Although the proportion of participants
with at least a quit attempt by 3- and 6-month were slightly
greater in the intervention group than in the control group
with or without inclusion of quitters, there was no significant
differences (P=0.063 to 0.82).

Figure 17

Quit attempt rates at 3- and 6-month follow-ups

Total Intervention Control B Non-trial

60% — 548
500
50% —
204 415
40% — 348 34 26 36.2 371
320 5 295
30% — > B2 55
° %5 30 45

20% —
10% —
0%

3-month 3-month 6-month 6-month

(included quitters; (excluded quitters; (included quitters; (excluded quitters;
N=1,311) N=1,127) N=1,311) N=1,095)



Among participants who made at least one quit attempt
during the study period, the leading reasons for making
the quit attempts were “smoking-related illness prevention
(87.1%), followed by “cigarettes are expensive” (43.9%) and
“concern about family’s health” (26.3%) (Figure 18). There was
no significant difference in the proportion of participants
reporting each reason for quit attempt between the
intervention and control groups (all P>0.05).

Figure 18

Reasons for quit attempts in participants who had at
least one quit attempt during the study period (N=529)"?

Smoking-related illness prevention 87.1%

43.9%

Cigarettes are expensive
Concern about family’s health 26.3%
Becoming role model of children
Encouragement/ pressure from others
Receiving medical treatment due to illness
Commitment to the QTW Contest 4.2%

Pregnancy Ml 2.3%

Appearance/ image 1.5%

Bonus/ prize of the QTW Contest 0.6%

The self-help booklet 0.6%

Useful quit advice from SC counselors 0.4%

Inconvenient to smoke due to 0.2%
less smoking area .

'Participants who were lost to follow-up were excluded.
*Participants could choose more than one option.

All participants who made at least a quit attempt used
specific methods when making the quit attempts. The
most common methods to quit smoking were “stop buying
cigarettes” (82.6%), “drinking water/ eating snacks” (15.7%)
and “using Nicotine Replacement Therapy” (9.6%) (Figure 19).

Figure 19

Methods of quitting in participants who had at least one
quit attempt during the study period (N=529)"*

Stopping buying cigarettes 82.6%

15.7%

Drinking water/eating snacks

Using Nicotine Replacement Therapy 9.6%
Joining other SC programmes
Receiving counseling through SC clinics I 1.3%
Asking for other’s opinions 0.9%

Using self-help booklet 0.9%

Receiving counseling through quitline | 0.6%

Searching for SC information online | 0.4%

'Participants who were lost to follow-up were excluded.
*Participants could choose more than one option.

Withdrawal symptoms were assessed in 1-, 2- and 3-month
follow-ups. Among the participants who had at least one quit
attempt up to the 3-month follow-up, 60.1% reported having
experienced withdrawal symptoms during the quit attempt.
The most common withdrawal symptoms were “irritated/
lose temper/angry” (27.4%), followed by “craving for tobacco”
(22.1%) and “cannot sleep well” (22.1%) (Figure 20).

Figure 20

Withdrawal symptoms experienced by participants
who had at least one quit attemPt by 3-month follow-up
(N=456)

Irritated/lose temper/angry 27.4%
Craving for tobacco 22.1%
Cannot sleep well 22.1%

Insomnia

Anxiety

Depression 15.8%

Difficult to concentrate 13.8%

Increased appetite

'Participants who were lost to follow-up were excluded.
*Participants could choose more than one option.
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Perceived social support for quitting

Among the participants who responded to follow-ups in
the study period, 79.4% perceived having received support
from other persons. The most common sources of perceived
support were from “spouse/partner” (51.8%), followed by
“children” (25.3%) and “friends” (18.9%) (Figure 21). However,
about one-fifth (20.6%) of participants did not perceive any
social support.

Figure 21

Perceived social support for quitting in all
participants who responded to follow-ups in
the study period (N=1,081) "?

Spouse/partner 51.8%

Children 25.3%

Friends 18.9%

Parents 15.1%

QTW SC counselors
Colleagues

Other relatives

Siblings

Healthcare professionals

None 20.6%

'Participants who were lost to follow-up were excluded.
*Participants could choose more than one option.

Use and satisfaction of smoking cessation aids
provided

“Be smart, Quit Smoking!” booklet

Over half (51.4%) of the participants at 6 months reported
having read the 12-page “Be smart, Quit Smoking” SC booklet
(Figure 22). The proportions of participants who read the
booklet were similar between the intervention and control
groups (49.4% vs 52.6%; P=0.78). Most participants who read
the booklet perceived the booklet to be useful in motivating
them to quit (84.1%) and in increasing their quit attempt
(83.2%). More participants in the intervention group than
in the control group thought the booklet could motivate
them to quit (97.0% vs 70.6%; P<0.001) and increase their quit
attempt (96.6% vs 68.9%; P<0.001).

Figure 22

Experience of reading “Be smart, Quit Smoking!” SC
booklet at 6-month follow-up (N=1,017) "

Total Intervention B Control M Non-trial
100% 97.0 96.6
-
841 875 832 875
80% 706 689
56.0
60% —| 514 494 526
40% —
20% —
0%
Read the booklet The booklet could The booklet could
motivate him/her to quit  increase his/her quit attempt
(N=523) (N=523)

'Participants who were lost to follow-up at 6 months were excluded.
’Missing data were not shown.

Among the participants who had never read the booklet, “too
busy” was the most frequently reported reason (61.4%), which
was followed by “put aside” (10.8%) and “lost the booklet”
(7.3%) (Figure 23).

Figure 23

Reasons for not reading the booklet of participants
(N=381) "?

Too busy 61.4%

Put aside 10.8%

Lost the booklet 7.3%

No interest

Perceived it as not useful

! Participants could choose more than one option.

? Participants who were lost to follow-up at 6-month or with missing data
were excluded.

Tangle

24.4% of the participants reported having used a tangle at
6-month follow-up. On a scale of 1 (not helpful at all) to 5
(very helpful), the mean (SD) score of perceived helpfulness
of “Tangle” for SC was 1.27 (0.55) in participants who had ever
used the “Tangle” at the 6-month follow-up. The score was
significantly lower among participants in the intervention
group than in the control group (1.19 vs 1.32; P=0.014) (Figure
24).



Figure 24

Proportion of use of “Tangle” in all participants at
6-month follow-up (N=1,017) '

295 29.0
244
I 187

Total

50%

40% —

30%

20%

10% —

0%

Intervention Control Non-trial

! Participants who were lost to follow-up at 6-month were excluded;
missing data were not shown

Instant messaging support via WhatsApp

Of all participants in the intervention group followed at
3 months, 13.4% reported having ever interacted with a
counselor through WhatsApp instant messaging. On a
scale of 0 (not satisfied/ useful at all) to 10 (very satisfied/
useful), those who had ever interacted with a counselor
via WhatsApp gave a mean (SD) score of 8.1(1.2) for level
of satisfaction with the WhatsApp instant messaging
support. The corresponding mean (SD) scores for perceived
helpfulness of the interaction to increase motivation to
quit and number of quit attempts were 7.4(1.6) and 7.5(1.6),
respectively. “Too busy” was reported as the leading reason
among participants for not interacting with a counselor via
WhatsApp (87.3%) (Figure 25).

Figure 25

Reasons for not using instant messaging support in
the intervention group (N=275) "?

Too busy

87.3%

Don’'t know how to
send message

2.5%

No interest 1.8%

Don't want to talk about

0y
smoking in instant messaging 0.7%

! Participants could choose more than one option.

? Participants who were lost to follow-up at 3-month or with missing data
were excluded.

Perception on the frequency of follow-up calls

The frequency of the follow-up calls was considered
appropriate by most participants responding to the 6-month
follow-up (97.3%). Slightly more participants in the control
group considered the frequency to be “too few” than the
intervention group (2.9% vs 0.51%; P=0.014) (Figure 26).

Figure 26

Perception of the follow-up call frequency in all
participants at 6-month follow-up (N=1,017)’

Too many B Too few M Others

-0.3
18 05 29

¥ Appropriate
100% [~

80% [~

60% [~

97.3 95.8

20% [~

06 05 0.7

/ 1 /

0%

Non-trial

Total Intervention Control

! Participants who were lost to follow-up at 6 months were excluded;
missing data were not shown.
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4. Discussion

Through 68 promotion and recruitment activities held in all
18 districts in Hong Kong, the 8" “Quit to Win” Contest cum
Smoke-free Community Campaign spread the smoke-free
messages to over 50,000 members of public and engaged
over 1,300 smokers in SC. By intention-to-treat analysis, the
self-reported past 7-day PPA was 16.5% at 6 months, which
was higher than those reported in QTW 2013 (9.4%), 2014
(10.9%), 2015 (13.0%) and 2016 (16.0%).

A cluster RCT was nested within the 8" QTW Contest to
examine the effectiveness of an innovative, integrated AIR
(brief advice, instant messaging intervention via WhatsApp
and active referral) intervention for increasing quit rate
in proactively recruited smokers in the community. By
intention-to-treat analyses, the AIR intervention was found
to be effective in increasing self-reported past 7-day PPA and
biochemically validated abstinence and use of SC service
at 3 and 6 months after baseline. The effect sizes of about
50% to 65% increase in self-reported abstinence and 60%
to 90% increase in biochemically validated abstinence in
the intervention group relative to the control group were
moderate. The results were confirmed in sensitivity analyses
(complete case analysis). The full trial results have been
published in an international, peer-referred journal .

The RCT has provided the first evidence on the utility of
instant messaging support via WhatsApp for SC, which
was the major component of the AIR intervention being
examined in the 8" QTW Contest. Consistent with the
law of attrition, which purported that a large proportion
of participants in any trials of digital health intervention
do not use the intervention'®, few participants in the
intervention group had ever interacted with a SC counselors
via WhatsApp (13.4% at 3 months). Time constraint or busy
schedule appeared to be the major barriers. However,
participants who had ever interacted with a SC counselor
reported a high level of satisfaction (mean score=8.1
on a scale of 0 to 10), supporting the acceptability of
the intervention. This suggested the instant messaging
intervention could be an important component of the AIR
intervention model. Future studies to explore methods to
increase the utilization of the WhatsApp interaction, such as
extending the intervention duration to non-office hours and
non-working days, and to examine WhatsApp intervention
as a stand-alone intervention are warranted.

Since active referral was not the major component being
examined in 8" QTW Contest, the intensity of the active
referral intervention was less than those used in intervention
groups of the 7" QTW Contest (High intensity active
referral) and the 6" QTW Contest (AWARD advice plus
active referral)’®. This could explain the lower cumulative
proportion of participants who used an SC service (17.3%) in
the 8" than those of the 7™ (36.2%) and the 6™ (25.8%) QTW
Contests. Nevertheless, the proportion of participants using
a SC service was significantly greater in the intervention
group than in the control group.

The proportions of participants who had ever read the
12-page “Be smart, Quit Smoking!” SC booklet were
similar in both study groups. However, significantly more
participants in the intervention group perceived it as
useful in motivating them to quit and increasing their quit
attempt. Whether there is synergistic effect between the
AIR intervention and print-based materials on SC outcomes
requires further investigation. We also noted a significantly
greater increase in the perceived level of importance to quit
in the intervention than control groups. All these may be
the underlying mechanisms of the AIR intervention on SC
outcomes, which warrant further studies.

5. Conclusions

To conclude, the 8" QTW Contest cum Smoke-free
Community Campaign, encompassing SC counseling
training, the QTW Contest, community-based promotion
and a RCT, successfully delivered smoke-free messages to
a large number of non-smokers and smokers in the Hong
Kong community. The AIR intervention was found to be
effective in increasing quit rate and use of SC services.
Instant messaging support via WhatsApp could be a
promising platform for delivering SC support to smokers.
Future studies to examine and refine the instant messaging
intervention in different settings and populations and with
longer follow-up (e.g., 12 months) are warranted.

6. Clinical trial Registration

Trial registry: ClinicalTrials.gov, number NCT03182790.
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FR2007ES| NEEBRER - EBEVERREEE
SERPN—ABEBEEMERARENEDS0%E - BH]
—E2BUMRERE  EEERETNFELTREAE
BARFMPASE - BEEREHRIEE FIRNE o

EUEEBRERTERELEEN - EEHERIENR
NABEEARRSS o BBFRAITRIEINEAEN20174F68
BBY (RE (AREE) (%) (BFT) ©2017)
(T8 (BsI2) ) > BIYHEEERETHER -
(BEI2) EXEBMERAREHNESBS%EMEAR
NRERFTAREEERERTN—RAEE (BRRRE
FEIEMAL ~ fhE - BMEMERE - BEPZANER &
WENTENBE - FAEKSENEA - BEBENYK
A~ AT ~ BEOMNRE - FRITHREER
HINE ) 10 (i) - BB EBRBARNGAREREER
(1833 183) ° (1BE]<) RECEAMMEER (2017
F12H21HZE2018F6820H ) @ EEHFEEEEE
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AEEZERETNNWEEESR - B2018FE6H21HE » H
ENEEERVERTNTIABEBRER -

BLEFRLERTNWEREREREREHENRAR
B R EERASRNBNEEEM - BEBRIDEREH
7T o RBE RS A B UE E B RE R MR IAEERY
TETTR - EEBRETANMEED - ALt - HE
FERERNABMREENTETRERT °

ERAREHBEEZEESH2013FEERETNLEER
Kasd (T8 "T#E, ) R EHEHERAT  KWEEA
OREXRMENRERBESENARHEERRCER - B
20154 #E - BRAEHMAS5,1008FHE » EFIR
BREENEREERBRE - TEHBKRAE20189
RS DRARFREEERENBESR (T8 "$—
Wy ) R2EERE (T8 "E1&H, ) £17 - ER
AR EEBRERERBIETNIEEBUERAE2017 -
BT ET TIREEERERNEAR c EIXH - 2E
BERFAE2017 ~ FBEBERFAET2018F — N E BV
D RIEEAERER - @EHLEMEHE o

2.75%

2.1 MERTNZTHE
FAEREBREREEMR:TE (BASBEEWNRAT)
MUEFFEMAL RN EIT o B—BER3IXIEEB R
FAENMTREEBRERNEMNRER  2017F48E
108 (EMaET) ~2018F28 %68 (@EH ) &£2018



FIORE201943R (2EERR ) - AETHM15mAK
DE-BERFNHALT XTJTERBRRERND H=
e (1) REREES (EREN > SRIBEBRE)
(2) EEE (BEBRE  BEAERELSHKE) ;
(3) RAREE -~ E2017FWAETH - REFIEERE
& MAE2018FNMEMmAT T - REFREREMEEN
BEER SEEZZRETEMFERRERNALLLE -
BN FAMERTF2EER L10R300 2 EE
17 LBEARFABENTRBENXHE - SEE®R
B BREFB SN AREGEN B TE - SREARD
REEEBNENEERBIREER T ReEME, -
FrEXTEREREFRSIHEZAYERHEOBERE - I
AT LABBR IR 55 R 0 R (F AR AR R © SBIRAT SRR 79
- BRXFERS  ABRERFLBELSE  EE
BEERE/BEREEREENMPEMARERZE ST
JE o

_
AREERRAERE T NEEERERNRER

2017FERE 2018FHAEE "in
20174E48-20174E108 2018F9H-2019438
L] N e
2018FHBE

201852 8-2018468

BiEHMIEZEERE R
20174512 821HAI

EHERTREEERER
20186 H21HES
BEFTREEERERHBIEE
2017412H21H-2018%6H20H

L 1 1 1
20174 20184 20194 20204

2.2 MBIENERRSHE

BB R T EE BT LM REPEHME -
BT REETEFERBERAIGE - SR TNIF1/2
NEEES—HEBERRE - BREVENEERBR - H
PREVSEAS LUBOR FPFT H o B Ah B R 2 — B B IR EF
®ERTTELA ) MEEEMEEERNESK
ERE RN —(RZanH -

2.3 MERE

20174 (Ejepl) ~2018FEE—tn (BEH) RE_
W (2EERE ) ZEBRASHERANMNS2REL
BIAETHMBBERMEK  SER0EELEEEE - b
HEERN T TRERER OB RATSHE - 4t
e ANOE - Bl ~ F8 - HERE - RESA K
ANBEBREESHFENXOBEE - 1201 7FAE

(BHEAl) B RBPEFTBEREFNHERRERRNE
EHIFEKRE - 22018F £~ (BEH ) RE_&H
(2HERER) RED  KREPEEBRETNEER
O FE - EREERSINMEEZEREE - AR
RN HIBE I DR AR e B M

2.4 BERKDW

20174 AE (BRI ) i Y5, 131 uRE - B
171200 RNRIEE ~ 1,715 EFIEE K1, 7044037 BRIl
fEE - 2018FFE—mmfAE (AEH ) 35 Y5,132411
XTE - BELTIBURARESE 1,707 EREE KX
1,712(REREE - 2018FEE _HAZT (2EEHE)
SR Y 5,1560 =50 - BIE, 714 ARIEE ~ 1,739
MUEREER1,703MRFRESE - AFHEAORKE
NETE T  SRATEBRYREASTEEHEENSS
AOME L~ FR L RRIER D MHETINEERE - &
WEBRNAEE D LA SRR AONMBETET -

ARERELUTHER - (1) XTENLEAODSE
(2) HEFERKERNRBA (EAE30BERAB) -
(3) ETERERYREMEBERRRBISATRHIZE
(4) REREERBLEIETERKERMERNNE
T (5) WESHEERIIMBH (TRE30HFR
#B) c B=RAERAMEMUNRAELRT DN TE

HHERERRETHWESEESIMERARTAIRR - H
HER (relative risk ) HIBAMEESHT (Poisson
regression ) E4 » AL EN R EZTEREREBE
BRE2EEMREN (8% ) MR - Fr2 LHBEEMEKX
FERp<0.05 o st A MTEAStata (15.1hRA& » TX -
StataCorp LLC ) #4T

3. AEHER

3.1 XABENEEAORNE

RX—BERBEMRHEML2017ERAET (B ) B
45.2% ~ 2018 FF—twAE (1BEH ) #945.1%H12018
FE_HAST (2EEME ) 944.9% c = RFAER
HEREZHEFREISTL49m 2R (2017FEAEAE
54.0% ~ 2018FFE— AT /53.1% 201855 iR
BFR53.3% ) c LHXBEEEELHEER (20174
FAE/88.1% ~ 2018F £ —#HFAET /88.6% ~ 20184
E_WMATREEI% ) c RE—EMNTHEREBAL
(201 7B A49.0% ~ 2018F — A& A54.9%
20185 _#mAE/50.0% ) °

h=1113
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R— 20174 (EHERT) ~ 2018FE— (AEM) KEZHK (ZEEREZ) HERZHENHLEA
mESTE

2017 E (EiEAl) 2018FEF—HmAS (BEH) 2018FEFHAE (2EBHE)
SZHEBA (N=5,131) (N=5,132) (N=5,156)
MR (%)
B 45.2 45.1 449
2% 54.8 54.9 55.1
FH 0 & (%)
15-29 19.2 18.5 18.6
30-39 17.5 17.4 17.5
40-49 17.3 17.2 17.2
50-59 19.1 18.6 18.7
e 26.4 27.3 27.4
RHBEABROZE 0.5 1.0 0.6
BERE (%)
INEBELIT 11.6 10.7 11.1
& 43.7 431 46.0
REHLE 44 .4 455 42.9
RNEE/ABEE 0.3 0.7 0.0
BEBER (%)
TEH 49.0 54.9 50.0
T2 10.6 8.7 9.6
I RSB /1S5 . S P
IRIK
RHEAEREZ 0.9 0.8 0.3

BRAE (N) HEBRZHAR: FIEED R 2017502018F & B A MR 8 RIIERR A IR ERE
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3.2 HIEEERERMNBA

B R~ HEBITRESTERETRZR > 39.0%H
FIESTHE (77.6%MNBERREE - 27.1%NWEKES
K35 3%MHARIEE ) RE (FEBE30HERA)
EEERER EEERR  REMAREIMNEAL.8%
(88.3%MIRAFRIESE ~ 34.6%MEMIESE 36.4%H
WAREE ) o

—
785300 - FERBEREZEERER
e [} [ J e
R IEE ERES WRRIEZ FrEXeh&
100% —
90% — 88.3% @ 88.6%
80% _ 776%/
70% —
60% —
500 36.5%
o 41.8% J 4 45.2%
o 0 40.3%
0% 32:%7 — 37.4%
30% — 27.1% 34.6%
20% —
10% —
0% Yy I SES T Py ]
=il AR 2EERE
(201763585 ) (20186 BEE—4) (2018FHEE &)
BRABN)RERZIAS - IEEALLIRE2017HX2018FEFBA LN
R s FRERER R MINERE - st LNERBEZMKHFAR
SRATERE - FTAXEE © p<0.001 ;s RIFREE © p<0.001 ; BHRES :
p<0.001 ; WARRIEE : p<0.001
20176 AE - TERHE=1,546 A #ARRWEE=839A ; ERESE
=420 ; BEREE=287 A
2018FMEE— - FIERHE=S,132A ; RAREE=1,713A; EHE
FH=1,707 A ; WEEREE=1,712A
2018 FAESE " : FTASE= 5,156 A ; BRAREE=1,714A ; EFIE
E=1,739 A ; BEREE=1,703A

B /R E2REEME » 45 2% HEREES
BRER (88.6%MIRKNIEE  37.4%NEREEK
40. 3% MIMARIEE ) o

BI=27~  IBEHRANI1.3%MNATE X HE N45.6%H
RRNKEEAEBREIOHRNREFTREZTERE R © {1
%ﬂmtum@%@$’ﬁ REFEBRERFTEA T
R A80% (MDA A50%-100% @ RERRE
) e

B=

HEBEPRA - BEIVAEERBEFNEEERER
(2018FFAEFE—H)

BESRES EHEE RARREE
50% —

FrE%aomE

45.6%
45% —

40% —
35% —
30% —
25% —
20% —

15% —

11.3%

10% 7.7% 7.2%
0% | .
BEREE  BEREE ?ﬁET”&ﬁE% FrE~shE
(N=1,712)  (N=1.707)  (N=1,713)  (N=5,132)

BAN A BRI AR - A2 HRE2018FFH AOMMR  F8 R
EARSD INFEREE

K- RpEHESERETHR - w8t - BRBALEEEHRZILER
FEH R (95% =18 EME)
FrEXaE BRREE EMESE REARREE

BERRE L E R 1.06 (0.97-1.17)

1.14 (1.06-1.23) ***

1.26 (1.05-1.51) ** | 1.03(0.91-1.16)

2EEMBHLLEWE | 1.14 (1.04-1.26) **

1.15(1.07-1.23) **=*

1.37 (1.14-1.63) ***| 1.13 (0.99-1.27)

2HEHEMEELEER | 1.08(1.01-1.16) *

1.00 (0.98-1.03)

1.08 (0.99-1.19) 1.10 (1.00-1.21)

1R¥#E2017302018FFHBALMIER ~ FH KR E R IR o
*p<0.05 ; **p<0.01 ; ***p<0.001

211




BRREMESHEPERESERERRAR P » HIE
%a%%ﬁa@ﬂaﬁﬁﬁtt&_/ EHEZFE.?E’JE%@EJQ
SErEEEEM (FTAp<0.001) o XX - BB MEE
b BEARRNEEREREEEEoHS RIBES
BRER - H2HEBNE > IEXHERRERREERB
EEERE R L BRI B S 14% (95%(SEE
R14%-26% ) F15% (95%(=SHBIEMET7%-23% ) o LB
HAMELE > E2MERE - FIEXHERBEEERERN

AEEME=E8% (95%ERBE™E1%-16% ) °©

33 FINEEERERHEE
MR E

BUER EEETAEETERERE © 75.2%MF7

EZE (51.0%MREREE > 63.2%NEREE K

81.7%HMWARIES ) HBELI30ERBEEERER

BEEIRENEE - LWEDLEBREHRARBEE

(73.9%MFTEZHE ) > BAEZABHEEIEZETI9%

RERBEERBANNITR

(62.5%MIRBEREE » 75.5%NEMEE 84.8%
MIREAREE) - E-ABAECENEREMERS
E (p<0.05) ~J\WEKEE (p<0.001) - EXREHR
(p<0.05) FEEMTEBEM - XK=FT~ 2@
Bk RNRKEEZERAEEFEREREREKE
HEENAREMELEREIE23% (95% =B ERE6%-
43% ) o EREHAMALL H2HEEBRE  TEXTE
LBRRREEERBEETFERETERIKRENBEN

AIREME D B N8 % (95%ERIEE3%-13% ) X15%
(95%(=FB[EME7%-23% ) °

BhBER  EERNNETBRERA » 32.8%1EK
REEEREI0ARBER FNEEBRERNKEREM
o LA DHIEBEHARE27.8%  EE2EERE
BE31.0% c ZWMATERPILARBRIBAEEE - X
MR E2EEME @ B EHNEHERIML - R
REERBER LNETERERKEBARENA M
ARSI

LY il
HE300 - RBES HEEEREREEE #5300 REFREERBES LIEEERERE
IEHREREE ZEMENER
e [
N R M v 48
RRREE  DREE  {RREE  FERDE ——— B e L e Y
100% — 40% —
73.9%
90% — 81.7%
’ __o 79.9% | e® 84.8% 35% —
80% — - —— ____—8 79.9% 31.9%
75.2% @ 75.5% 30% — 31.0%
70% — GBV/‘ o
60% ‘713%/. 62.5% 25% — 26.3%
24.1%
>0% 51.0% 54.8% 20%
40% — 15%
30% —
10% —
20% —
10% — 5%
0% preyymon T =T T =7 1 0% = T YERY T =i ]
BiEa IEEH 2HEHEE Ehtoal IEEER 2HEME
(20174385 ) (2018FAEHE—#) (2018FHEE M) (20174385 ) (2018 AEE—W) (2018FHEFE M)

BRABN)ABEZHAR - FIEEDHIRIE2017X2018FF B AOHN
MR~ FRRRERTAEIMERIE  fiet CMERBEEUHLAFHR
BITRE c TASHE : p<0.05; MIEFWEE : p<0.001 ; EMESE :
p<0.05 ; R E=0.31

2017FERAE  FTEZHE=607A ; “AREE=268A ; EFEE=115
A BRREE=224 A

2018 RMEE—h - FTESHE=2,598A ; ARREE=564A ; EREE
=565A ; HESIRIEE=1,469 A

2018EAESE _ : FTES3E= 2,633A ; RAREE=550A ; ERE
E=608A ; BIFEEE=1,475A

RAZNREBEZH AR - FTEBE S HRIK201730201 8RR IREH A
BIRFEDMHINERE o Hist ENERBEEMLHEHGBITRE - 1A
REE : p=0.29 ; BUIRFFREE : p=0.06 ; WHIRFFWIEE : p=0.56
gw&iﬁﬁ CIREIREE=224 A ; BUHBRRRES=183A ; ZHRRRE
=41

2018 FAEE— : WEREE=1,469A ; BUERBREE=1,231A; K
IR IR IEE =238 A

2018FAEE " : MFWIEE=1,475A s BURBEREE=1,257A; X
IERRREE =218 A
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K= Hita - BEHEAEEERR - BE300REES LEEEREREREREHFCENLLER

HEEER (95% (=8 H)
BXTE REREE EmEE AR EE
1B EEAE L E R RT 0.99 (0.92-1.06) 1.08 (0.93-1.25) 1.11(0.95-1.31) 0.98 (0.91-1.06)
2EEMEELLEER] | 1.06 (1.00-1.14) 1.23(1.06-1.43) ** | 1.20 (1.03-1.40) * 1.04 (0.97-1.12)
2EEMEEIEES | 1.08(1.03-1.13) ** | 1.15(1.07-1.23) *** | 1.08 (1.00-1.16) 1.06 (1.00-1.12) *

FTE B2 LRIR201 720201 8 MIE B ALMER]  Fid RIRER LD MR -
*p<0.05 ; **p<0.01 ; ***p<0.001

=M Figa - BEALZEEERE - BE30HRKREERBES HEEEREREZEMENLLER

HEH R (95% =B EMA)
FTERRRES SHRRRES IR R S E
EEERH L E R 0.86 (0.68-1.08) 0.80 (0.62-1.02) 1.30(0.72-2.34)
2HEMEH BRI 0.96 (0.76-1.21) 0.94 (0.73-1.20) 1.12 (0.60-2.03)
2HEMEHEE R 1.12 (0.98-1.27) 1.18 (1.02-1.36) * 0.85(0.61-1.19)

FrE B2 LR #R201730201 8 IR BFIRIE A AU 14 BI R SR 88 D o hn R AR 32 o
*p<0.05 ; **p<0.01 ; ***p<0.001

BRNER RHAREEERERERBIZEEHRR - SIvAY
BEIOHEERERERAEDEEERE RME LR
BRIHEBREEAEZTI 1%  BE2EEREREINE #5308 > RERESTERRERREE
10.8% ° A ZAPHELMREREEDHNS.5% B8 FEEERERMELERENER
KRIEEZE13.4% o E- R AECBENEENEATZEE
£ o RS  EREEHE - R A E TSR e R e Al
b MR REEEERREREREINEEBRER 15% 7
iffe LE R BRI AT AEME D B 138% ( 95% (S 1BIE f-30%- 13.4%
714% ) K47% (95%(=HEEAE-20%-170% ) ° FLE 10.8%
WRENITR LB RRELHRRFRES PN A 10% 3-2322 10.3%
HAESIE  BUERLTFZEEN  KEA2/NAER '
BYNERNETERRA -

50, — 5.5%

0% Bem | BEE | 2nEmE |

(201747 ) (2018FAESE—H) (2018FAESE &)

BABNAEEZHAR - FrEE A LLIRIE201730201 84 IR BN EH A
BIRFEWDMHINEERE - Hist FNERBEEMLHEHKRBTRE - B
WIEE : p=0.58 ; BIIEFIRIEE : p=0.86 ; LHHEEWIES : p=0.16
%ﬂﬁfﬁﬁ CIREIREE=224 A ; BHRRRES=183A ; ZIHIRRRE
=41

2018 AEE— : WBREE=1,469A ; BEMIRBRESE=1231A: K
MHIRRFIRIEE=238A

20184FFHEE i WEHREE=1,475A ; BUERBREE=1,257A;
TMREIREE=218
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xh
{F LEIR B LB

Bl - BEHAEZEERZ - BE30REBRESEEHRRERREREE LEEBRERM

EERER (95% =B @)

FrERERES

SURRRES

T RRRES

BRI L E R

1.00 (0.63-1.58)

0.93(0.57-1.52)

1.62 (0.47-5.58)

4B
EEERERE LB

1.18 (0.75-1.86)

1.05 (0.64-1.70)

2.38 (0.70-8.14)

EEEE Y LEER

1.18 (0.92-1.51)

1.12 (0.86-1.46)

1.47 (0.80-2.70)

FIE B2 LR 20178201 84EIR B IR B 25 10 1 B R AR B0 D M A R 38 o
*p<0.05 ; **p<0.01 ; ***p<0.001

3.4 BRRESEARBAEIETERERMEIANMN
E1TR

2017F#AT (Bhenl) ~2018%—i (BEH) KRE—

W (2EERE) ATHAR Y RRREERUESE

EEERELRNNIBEARENNETE  81F: (1) #

ZEa - (2) BREAREEATNS ~ (3) BHAHE

=t

BE30H - BRREEFEHEEERET
FRIERRETR*
e 17|t

e s LR (4) BREESEERERRLNIEE - N .
BLET  AEEFREEEKETE - 6.7%HEER | o ] - o
B30 WET Y D ERIETARNED — 0% . — 3534
o e EA BRI ANE20.5%  WERAEME | ey T8.7%
HE—FIBE22.3% c E-RAECEEMBRERES 10% - 10.7%

AR BB A BEE (p<0.001) - ALIAVEEE s, | 7%

IRERBEM (p<0.001) K&t (p<0.05) HIFRIE 0% B T T
= RAET BHREE (ERBURLN) HEE neR)  (enmanw) (oerReEw)

HALLERRIEAJREEHINIET R - E2EEHRE » 1]
BREEEITYZEL—ENETANAENE » REER]
1IN231% (95%5RBIEME104%-437% ) ° EBMERLK
MIRRFREESR > BEMNTEEMEDBIEIMN235% (95%
EBEE8I%-507% ) 5204% (95%(ZRBIBRE32%-

*ERNIIEITRIIREN « B~ B+RE+—

BABNRERSZHAR - FTEED LIREE201734201 8 F IR R RIEE HIIE
BIRFE D MIMERE o st CNERBEMLHRHEBATRE - B
TEE 1 p<0.001 ; BUIREREE : p<0.001 ; IHIRERIESE : p<0.05

2%9175}:5)%@ CIRRREE=224N ; BUHERRREE=183A ; IERFFRE
=41

2018 AEE —b : IRREE=1,469A ; BEMRBREE=1231A; &

599% ) o PR FIREE =238 A
2018FAEE T : WMIFWIEE=1,475A s BUHRBREE=1,257A; X
MEIRERIEE=218 A

Fxx Bitel - BEPNAZEEREZ - BE30HRERESFHEEEREREINEMRIEITAMLLE

MR (95% 58 ERH)

FTBERERES

SHRFRES

LERRRES

BEHIH L E R

3.06 (1.89-4.96) ***

3.17 (1.77-5.68) ***

2.74 (1.20-6.26) *

EHEREE LB

3.31(2.04-5.37) ***

3.35(1.89-6.07) ***

3.04 (1.32-6.99) **

EEERE LEER

1.08 (0.92-1.27)

1.07 (0.89-1.28)

1.11(0.81-1.52)

FT B B2 LR 1R 201730201 84F IR M IR (& 5 (9 14 Bl S FE B D R N R 38 o

*p<0.05 ; **p<0.01 ; ***p<0.001
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BN\ER  EERFRETERERA - B1.0%HR
RIREETEBEIOHEAEZEBUEREIETERE
o WA HEEERIEES 9% WS HEREER
EREMKT (6.0%) - E=RAEZEEMERK
REEFNEREBMRAZEEN (p<0.05) - Kt
™ BERREEEEEIAREAERRESESNK
SHERASEsE BEHRANELEEHRRNERE
I o

AN

#BE308 - RHREEFERERENEEERER
miEE=ES

——o— i e 17|

15%
10.8%
10% — 9.4%
e 6.0%
® 5.3%
5%
1.2%
0% 1.0%'
? BioE ' B N
(20175:8% ) (2018FREE—) (2018FAEE @)

BRABNABRZHAR - FIEBEALIRIE201732018F R EFRIEE I
BIRFEDMINERE o Hist ENERBEEMLHEHRBATRE - 1A
WfEE 1 p<0.05 ; BURIFREE  p=0.06 ; WHIREFWEE : p=0.27
zﬁpw&iﬁ@ CIREIREE=224 A ; BHIRRRESZ=183A ; ZIMRFRE
=41

2018FHEE—i  MBREE=1,469A ; BEMEBRESE=1231A: LK
IR EE =238 A

2018 FAEE i - WEBREE=1,475A ; BUHIBRBEREE=1257A: &
MHEIRFFRIEF=218A

BN EERFIKEETBRERA - B4.7%HNERE
KEELEBREEAINM S UELESETERE
o WEAEBEREE11.5%  MEE2HERERE
REMEENKF (109%) - BE=RAEZHAEMAR
RREETNERBEEMABEENM (p <0.05) < RN
Br o BRREEERESAMEAERRICERRE
BRI TS L EHRISA1.5(F - BEHAES
HEEMBRAIGERBIL

BN

#BE308 - ARREEEEREREEEERER
MmLERREEFRAT

20%
16.2%
15% — — 15.5%
11.5%
= e 1005
o, — e . ('}
10% 10.6%
5.0%
5% — 4.7%
3.3%
0% —— e preyymy,
° EifeaT T mEH T 2mEfRE |
(2017487 ) (2018 ABHE 1)  (2018FRHEE )

AN ABREZHAZ - FTEE2LLIRIE2017302018F IR B E SR
BIRFEDMHINERE - Hist FNERBEEMLHEHRBITRE - 1
EE : p<0.05 ; BWREERES  p=0.13 ; WHIRBHFWES : p=0.36
gnmfﬁﬁ CIREIREE=224 A ; BHBRRES=183A ; ZIHRRRE
=41

2018FAEE—  WBFREE=1,469A ; BEMRBRESE=1231A: K
IR AR EE =238 A

2018FAEE b WEIREE=1,475A ; EMBBREE=1257A: K
IR EE =218 A

*t Eite] BEHENMAERHERE  BE30HRKREESHBERENEEERETMES/EEMELE
MHE R (95% 58 ERH)
AR R EE SURRRES IR R #
ENEAES B =] 6.14 (1.89-19.97) ** 4.32 (1.31-14.20) * NER
2HEMEH BRI 6.19 (1.90-20.21) ** 4.59 (1.40-15.09) * TEA
2HEMEHEE R 1.01(0.72-1.41) 1.06 (0.72-1.58) 0.88 (0.46-1.68)

FrE B thREE2017302018FRIMERI ~ SRt S R AR 2 o hn R R 32 o

#MR R REE AR ERENE - ARE2017FIRA RN RESTRRI0ARBLERETERERESZES

*p<0.05 ; **p<0.01 ; ***p<0.001
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1. Introduction

Under Article 11 of the Framework Convention on Tobacco
Control (FCTC), the World Health Organization (WHO)
highly recommends its signatories to adopt pictorial health
warnings that large, visible, clear and legible messages on
harms of tobacco use should be displayed on the principal
areas of each tobacco pack’. Pictorial health warnings are a
cost-effective channel to disseminate knowledge of harms
of smoking. Previous studies have shown that pictorial
health warnings effectively arouse negative emotional
reactions (e.g. fears and worries), preventing smoking
initiation in never smokers and promoting intention to quit
in smokers®>. As of 11 February 2020, 109 countries and
jurisdictions have finalized pictorial health warnings that
cover at least 50% of the principal areas of each tobacco
product pack, with 8 having the warnings covering at least
85%?°.

Pictorial health warnings on tobacco packages were first
introduced in Hong Kong in 2007, after the adoption of
text health warnings in 1983’. Each package was required
to bear one of 6 pictorial health warnings that covered at
least 50% of the area of the 2 largest surfaces®. A territory-
wide study in Hong Kong found pictorial health warnings
might have made the social environment less favourable for
smoking, even in hardcore smokers®.
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Remaining unchanged for a decade, these pictorial
health warnings might have become less effective in
discouraging smoking. The Smoking (Public Health) (Notices)
(Amendment) Order 2017 (the Amendment Order), which
aimed to amend the requirements on the pictorial health
warnings, was passed in June 2017. The Amendment
Order requires at least 85% of the 2 largest surfaces of
each cigarette pack to be covered by one of the 12 new
pictorial health warnings (including damaged toes, lung
cancer, a body at mortuary, a funeral with a portrait of the
deceased young lady, burning banknotes, a downward
curving cigarette, a man using oxygen mask, a woman
using nasogastric tube in hospital, a wrinkled woman,
throat with hole, use of walker and an ill child)'%(Appendix).
The Integrated Smoking Cessation Hotline (1833 183)
must also be shown. A 6-month transitional period (from
21 December 2017 to 20 June 2018) was granted, during
which it was still legal to sell tobacco products with the old
warnings. Tobacco products must be covered by the new
pictorial health warnings from 21 June 2018.

The new and enlarged warnings with stronger images and
warning messages aim to reduce tobacco use in Hong
Kong, but the effectiveness has not been studied. Smokers
may have counteractions in response to the new pictorial



health warnings, which were understudied. Effects of the
new pictorial health warnings and the counteractions of
smokers should be examined.

The Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health (COSH)
has commissioned the Tobacco Control Policy-related
Survey (TCPS), a regular cross-sectional survey, to collect
population-representative information on smoking and
related public opinions since 2013. Since 2015, each survey
recruits around 5,100 respondents, with oversampling
of current smokers and ex-smokers. TCPS 2018 included
2 waves of surveys, conducted during the transitional
period of the Amendment Order (Wave 1) and after full
implementation (Wave 2). Together with TCPS 2017, effects
of the new pictorial health warnings can be evaluated. The
periods of TCPS 2017, TCPS 2018 Wave 1 and TCPS 2018
Wave 2 are hereafter referred to as pre-implementation,
transitional period and post-full implementation,
respectively.

2. Methods
2.1 Study design and participants

Anonymous computer-assisted telephone interviews
were conducted by the Public Opinion Programme, The
University of Hong Kong (currently known as Hong Kong
Public Opinion Research Institute Limited). Figure 1 shows
the 3 survey periods of TCPSs in relation to the schedule
of implementation of the new health warnings: April to
October 2017 (pre-implementation), February to June 2018
(transitional period) and September 2018 to March 2019
(post-full implementation). Respondents aged 15 years or
above and spoke Cantonese were recruited. They were
divided into 3 groups: (a) current smokers, who smoked
daily or occasionally at the time of survey; (b) ex-smokers,
who smoked previously but did not smoke any at the
time of the survey; and (c) never smokers, who had never
smoked in their lifetime. Smoking referred only to using
cigarettes in 2017, and using all types of tobacco products
in the 2 waves of surveys in 2018. This renders the results
between 2017 and 2018 less comparable. Telephone
calls took place between 2:00 pm and 10:30 pm on
weekdays and weekends to cover respondents of different
occupations and working hours. Each randomly selected
telephone number was called 5 times, at different hours
and days of the week, before being considered as “non-
contact”. All respondents provided oral consent before

the interview and could withdraw from the interview at
any time. The protocol of this study, including respondent
recruitment, oral informed consent procedures and data
collection, was approved by the Institutional Review Board
of The University of Hong Kong/Hospital Authority Hong
Kong West Cluster.

Figure 1

Timeline of conducting TCPSs and
implementation of new pictorial health warnings

TCPS 2017
Apr 2017-Oct 2017
a—

TCPS 2018 Wave 2
Sep 2018-Mar 2019
aE—

a—
TCPS 2018 Wave 1
Feb 2018-Jun 2018

Before the Implementation of
New Warnings
Before 21 Dec 2017

Full Implementation of New Warnings
21 Jun 2018-Present

Transitional Period of
Implementing New Warnings
21 Dec 2017-20 Jun 2018

1 , 1 , 1 , 1
2017 2018 2019 2020

2.2 Sampling methods and respondent selection

Telephone numbers were randomly selected from a
sampling frame originated from the residential telephone
directories. To capture unlisted numbers, another set of
numbers was generated by a computer programme using
the “plus/minus one/two” method and appended to the
sampled numbers. After eliminating duplicated numbers,
the remaining numbers were dialled in random order. When
a telephone contact was successfully established with a
target household, one eligible person would be selected
from all eligible family members who were at home at the
time of the interview, using the “next birthday” procedure.

2.3 Questionnaire development

The questionnaires used in TCPS 2017 (pre-implementation),
TCPS 2018 Wave 1 (transitional period) and TCPS 2018
Wave 2 (post-full implementation) were modified from
those in previous rounds of surveys, including core
questions and random questions. Random question sets
were designed for random subsamples of respondents with
certain smoking status. Socio-demographic characteristics,
such as sex, age, education attainment, monthly household
income, and employment status were core questions for all
respondents. Questions on pictorial health warnings in TCPS
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2017 (pre-implementation) were mostly random questions
for current smokers, and in TCPS 2018 Wave 1 (transitional
period) and TCPS 2018 Wave 2 (post-full implementation)
were mostly core questions for current smokers. Questions
on point-of-sale tobacco displays were covered in various
random subsets for all smoking status.

2.4 Weighting and statistical analysis

TCPS 2017 (pre-implementation) recruited 5,131
respondents, including 1,712 never smokers, 1,715 ex-
smokers and 1,704 current smokers. TCPS 2018 Wave 1
(transitional period) recruited 5,132 respondents, including
1,713 never smokers, 1,707 ex-smokers and 1,712 current
smokers. TCPS 2018 Wave 2 (post-full implementation)
recruited 5,156 respondents, including 1,714 never
smokers, 1,739 ex-smokers and 1,703 current smokers.
Data of each survey wave were weighted against the
projected sex and age distribution of the Hong Kong
population and smoking status in the corresponding
year to produce population-representative estimates. All
percentages shown in this report are estimates for the
general population.

Results presented in this report include: (a) socio-
demographic characteristics of respondents, (b) awareness
of pictorial health warnings (i.e. saw in the past 30 days), (¢)
impacts of new pictorial health warnings on smoking-related
risk perceptions and behaviours, (d) counteractions of current
smokers to avoid seeing pictorial health warnings, and (e)
awareness of point-of-sale tobacco displays (i.e. saw in the
past 30 days). The survey methods and statistical analysis
used in these 3 surveys were similar.

Univariate analysis of variables of interest by smoking status
was conducted using Chi-square tests. Poisson regression
yielded relative risks (RRs) to estimate the effect size of the
impacts of new pictorial health warnings (relative change)
during the transitional period and post-full implementation.
Statistical significance was set at p<0.05. Statistical analysis
was conducted using Stata (Version 15.1, TX: StataCorp
LLC).

3. Results

3.1 Socio-demographic characteristics of respondents

Table 1 shows that males constituted 45.2% of TCPS 2017
(pre-implementation) sample, 45.1% of TCPS 2018 Wave
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1 (transitional period) sample, and 44.9% of TCPS 2018
Wave 2 (post-full implementation) sample. Over half the
respondents were aged 15-49 years in all waves (54.0%
in TCPS 2017, 53.1% in TCPS 2018 Wave 1 and 53.3%
in TCPS 2018 Wave 2). Most attained at least secondary
education (88.1% in TCPS 2017, 88.6% in TCPS 2018
Wave 1 and 88.9% in TCPS 2018 Wave 2). About half were
employed (49.0% in TCPS 2017, 54.9% in TCPS 2018
Wave 1 and 50.0% in TCPS 2018 Wave 2).

3.2 Awareness of pictorial health warnings

Figure 2 shows that before implementation of the new
warnings, 39.0% of all respondents (77.6% of current
smokers, 27.1% of ex-smokers and 35.3% of never
smokers) were aware of (i.e. saw in the past 30 days)
pictorial health warnings. The awareness increased to
41.8% (88.3% of current smokers, 34.6% of ex-smokers
and 36.5% of never smokers) during the transitional
period.

Figure 2 also shows that the awareness of the new pictorial
health warnings further increased to 45.2% (88.6% of
current smokers, 37.4% of ex-smokers and 40.3% of never
smokers) after full implementation.

Figure 3 shows that 11.3% of all respondents and 45.6%
of current smokers saw new pictorial health warnings in
the past 30-days during the transitional period. Out of 100
cigarette packs they saw, the median proportion of new
health warnings was 80% (IQR 50%-100%, not shown in
the figure).

The difference among these 3 surveys was statistically
significant for all respondents (p<0.001) and for each
smoking status group (all p<0.001). Table 2 shows that
current smokers and ex-smokers in the transitional period
were more likely to be aware of pictorial health warnings
than before implementation. After full implementation, all
respondents were 14% (95% Cl 4%-26%) and current
smokers were 15% (95% Cl 7%-23%) more likely to be
aware of pictorial health warnings than those in the pre-
implementation period. Compared with the population
in the transitional period, respondents were 8% (95% Cl
1%-16%) more likely to be aware of the pictorial health
warnings after full implementation.



Table 1

TCPS 2018 Wave 1 (Transitional period) and TCPS 2018 Wave 2 (Post-full implementation)

Socio-demographic characteristics of respondents in TCPS 2017 (Pre-implementation),

TCPS 2017 TCPS 2018 Wave 1 TCPS 2018 Wave 2
(Pre-implementation) (Transitional period) (Post-full implementation)
Number of all respondents (N=5,131) (N=5,132) (N=5,156)
Sex (%)
Male 452 451 44.9
Female 54.8 54.9 55.1
Age group, years(%)
15-29 19.2 18.5 18.6
30-39 17.5 17.4 17.5
40-49 17.3 17.2 17.2
50-59 19.1 18.6 18.7
60 or above 26.4 27.3 27.4
DK/RTA 0.5 1.0 0.6
Education attainment (%)
Primary or below 11.6 10.7 11.1
Secondary 43.7 43.1 46.0
Tertiary 44 .4 45.5 42.9
DK/RTA 0.3 0.7 0.0
Employment status (%)
Employed 49.0 54.9 50.0
Student 10.6 8.7 9.6
Homemaker/Unemployed/Retired 39.5 35.6 40.1
DK/RTA 0.9 0.8 0.3

DK/RTA: Didn't know or refused to answer. Sample sizes (N) refer to the actual number of respondents. Percentages were weighted by sex, age and smoking status to the 2017

or 2018 Hong Kong population.
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Figure 2

Figure 3

Seeing pictorial health warnings on
cigarette packs in the past 30 days

e Y e
Current smokers  Ex-smokers  Never smokers All
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& Pre- I Transitional ' Post-full '
implementation Period implememtation
(TCPS 2017) (TCPS 2018 Wave 1) (TCPS 2018 Wave 2)

Sample sizes (N) refer to the actual number of respondents. Percentages were
weighted by sex, age and smoking status to the 2017 or 2018 Hong Kong
population. Statistical significance was tested by chi-square test. All: p<0.001;
CS: p<0.001; ES: p<0.001; NS: p<0.001

TCPS 2017: All=1,546; NS=839; ES=420; CS=287

TCPS 2018 Wave 1: All=5,132; NS=1,713; ES=1,707; CS=1,712

TCPS 2018 Wave 2: All=5,156; NS=1,714; ES=1,739; CS=1,703

All: All respondents; NS: Never smokers; ES: Ex-smokers; CS: Current smokers.

Seeing the new pictorial health warnings on
cigarette packs in the past 30 days during
the transitional period (TCPS 2018 Wave 1)

Current smokers ~ Ex-smokers ~ Never smokers All

50% —
45% 45.6%
40% —
35% —
30% —
25% —
20% —
15% —

11.3%
10% 7.7% 7.2%
5%

0% —

Never ' All
(N=5,132)

Current | Ex-smokers !
smokers (N=1,707) smokers
(N=1,712) (N=1,713)

Sample sizes (N) refer to the actual number of respondents. Percentages were
weighted by sex, age and smoking status to the 2018 Hong Kong population.

Table 2 Changes in awareness of pictorial health warnings on cigarette packs, from pre-
implementation to the transitional period and post-full implementation

Relative Risk [RR] (95% Confidence Interval)

All Current smokers

Ex-smokers Never smokers

Transitional period vs.

Pre-implementation 1.06{0.97-1.17)

1.14 (1.06-1.23) *** | 1.26 (1.05-1.51) **

1.03(0.91-1.16)

Post-full implementation vs.

. * %
Pre-implementation 1.14(1.04-1.26)

1.15(1.07-1.23) *** | 1.37 (1.14-1.63) *** | 1.13(0.99-1.27)

Post-full implementation vs.

- *
Transitional period 1.08 (1.01-1.16)

1.00 (0.98-1.03)

1.08 (0.99-1.19) 1.10 (1.00-1.21)

Weighted by sex, age and smoking status to the 2017 or 2018 Hong Kong population.

* p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001
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3.3 Impacts of new pictorial health warnings on Figure 4
smoking-related risk perceptions and behaviours
Thought about the harms of smoking after
seeing pictorial health warnings on cigarette packs
in the past 30 days

Figure 4 shows that 75.2% of all respondents (51.0%
of current smokers, 63.2% of ex-smokers and 81.7%
of never smokers) thought about the harms of smoking
after seeing pictorial health warnings on cigarette packs

in the past 30 days before implementation of the new Current smokers  Ex-smokers  Never smokers Al
warnings. The prevalence remained similar (73.9% of all 100% —

respondents) during the transitional period but increased to 90% — 73.9%

79.9% (62.5% of current smokers, 75.5% of ex-smokers 80% —| 81.7% o= 733% | “gg:gzﬁ

and 84.8% of never smokers) after full implementation. 75.2% ® ° 75.5%
The difference among these 3 surveys was statistically 70% 70.3%
63.2% = 62.5%

significant for all respondents (p<0.05), current smokers 60% /
(p<0.001) and ex-smokers (p<0.05). Table 3 shows that 50% — °1.0% e== 54.8%
current smokers were 23% (95% Cl 6%-43%) more 40% -

likely to think about the harms of smoking after seeing

30% —
pictorial health warnings post-full implementation than pre- .
implementation. Compared with the transitional period, 20% 7
all respondents were 8% (95% Cl 3%-13%) and current 10% —
smokers were 15% (95% Cl 7%-23%) more likely to think 0% 5 I — I |
i ) s re- Transitional Post-full
about the harms of smoking post-full implementation. implementation Period implememtation
(TCPS 2017) (TCPS 2018 Wave 1) (TCPS 2018 Wave 2)

Sample sizes (N) refer to the actual number of respondents. Percentages were
weighted by sex, age and smoking status to the 2017 or 2018 Hong Kong
population. Statistical significance was tested by chi-square test. All: p<0.05;
CS: p<0.001; ES: p<0.05; NS: p=0.31

TCPS 2017: All=607; NS=268; ES=115; CS=224

TCPS 2018 Wave 1: All=2,598; NS=564; ES=565; CS=1,469

TCPS 2018 Wave 2: All= 2,633 NS=550; ES=608; CS=1,475

All: All respondents; NS: Never smokers; ES: Ex-smokers; CS: Current smokers.

Table 3 Thought about the harms of smoking after seeing the pictorial health warnings
in the past 30 days, from pre-implementation to the transitional period and post-full
implementation

Relative Risk [RR] (95% Confidence Interval)

All Current smokers Ex-smokers Never smokers
Transitional period vs. 0.99 (0.92-1.06) 1.08 (0.93-1.25) 1.11 (0.95-1.31) 0.98 (0.91-1.06)
Pre-implementation
Post-full implementation vs. | | o1 001 14) 1.23(1.06-1.43) ** | 1.20(1.03-1.40) * | 1.04 (0.97-1.12)
Pre-implementation
Post-full implementation vs. | 4o 1 931 13y %% | 1.15(1.07-1.23) *** | 1.08 (1.00-1.16) 1.06 (1.00-1.12) *
Transitional period

Weighted by sex, age and smoking status to the 2017 or 2018 Hong Kong population.
* p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001
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Figure 5 shows that, before implementation, 32.8% of
current smokers thought about quitting after seeing the
pictorial health warnings on cigarette packs in the past
30 days. The prevalence decreased to 27.8% during the
transitional period but then increased to 31.0% post-full
implementation. The difference among these 3 surveys
was not statistically significant. Table 4 also shows no
significant change across surveys, except that male current
smokers were more likely to think about quitting after full
implementation than during the transitional period.

Figure 5

Thought about quitting after
seeing pictorial health warnings on cigarette packs
in the past 30 days in current smokers
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Sample sizes (N) refer to the actual number of respondents. Percentages were
weighted by sex and age distribution of current smokers in Hong Kong in 2017
or 2018. Statistical significance was tested by chi-square test. CS: p=0.29; M:
p=0.06; F: p=0.56

TCPS 2017: CS=224; M=183; F=41

TCPS 2018 Wave 1: CS=1,469; M=1,231; F=238

TCPS 2018 Wave 2: CS=1,475; M=1,257; F=218

CS: Current smokers; M: Male current smokers; F: Female current smokers.
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Figure 6 shows that the prevalence of current smokers
holding back from smoking after noticing pictorial
health warnings remained unchanged as 9.1% before
implementation and during the transitional period, but
increased to 10.8% after full implementation. A sharp
increase was observed in female current smokers that the
prevalence increased from 5.5% to 13.4% over the same
period. The difference among these 3 surveys was not
statistically significant. Table 5 shows that female current
smokers were 138% (95% Cl -30%-720%) and 47% (95%
Cl -20%-170%) more likely to hold back from smoking
after full implementation of new pictorial health warnings
than pre-implementation and during the transitional period,
respectively. The difference in prevalence and RRs for female
current smokers were remarkable but not significant,
possibly due to the small number of them in the surveys.

Figure 6

Holding back from smoking after
seeing pictorial health warnings on cigarette packs
in the past 30 days in current smokers
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Sample sizes (N) refer to the actual number of respondents. Percentages were
weighted by sex and age distribution of current smokers in Hong Kong in 2017
or 2018. Statistical significance was tested by chi-square test. CS: p=0.58; M:
p=0.86; F: p=0.16

TCPS 2017: CS=224, M=183; F=41

TCPS 2018 Wave 1: CS=1,469; M=1,231; F=238

TCPS 2018 Wave 2: CS=1,475; M=1,257; F=218

CS: Current smokers; M: Male current smokers; F: Female current smokers.



Table 4 Thought about quitting after seeing pictorial health warnings in the past 30
days in current smokers, from pre-implementation to the transitional period and post-full

implementation

Relative Risk [RR] (95% Confidence Interval)

Female current smokers

Transitional period vs.
Pre-implementation

1.30(0.72-2.34)

Post-full implementation vs.
Pre-implementation

1.12 (0.60-2.03)

Post-full implementation vs.
Transitional period

All current smokers Male current smokers
0.86 (0.68-1.08) 0.80(0.62-1.02)
0.96 (0.76-1.21) 0.94 (0.73-1.20)
1.12(0.98-1.27) 1.18 (1.02-1.36) *

0.85(0.61-1.19)

Weighted by sex and age distribution of current smokers in Hong Kong in 2017 or 2018.

* p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001

Table 5 Holding back from smoking after seeing pictorial health warnings on cigarette
packs in the past 30 days in current smokers, from pre-implementation to the transitional
period and post-full implementation

Relative Risk [RR] (95% Confidence Interval)

Female current smokers

Transitional period vs.
Pre-implementation

1.62 (0.47-5.58)

Post-full implementation vs.
Pre-implementation

2.38(0.70-8.14)

Post-full implementation vs.
Transitional period

All current smokers Male current smokers
1.00 (0.63-1.58) 0.93(0.57-1.52)
1.18 (0.75-1.86) 1.05 (0.64-1.70)
1.18 (0.92-1.51) 1.12 (0.86-1.46)

1.47 (0.80-2.70)

Weighted by sex and age distribution of current smokers in Hong Kong in 2017 or 2018.

* p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001
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3.4 Counteractions of current smokers to avoid
seeing pictorial health warnings

TCPS 2017 (pre-implementation), TCPS 2018 Wave 1
(transitional period) and TCPS 2018 Wave 2 (post-full
implementation) explored 4 possible counteractions of
current smokers to avoid seeing pictorial health warnings:
(a) covering cigarette packs, (b) keeping cigarette packs
somewhere out of sight, (c) changing to another cigarette
package, and (d) avoiding buying specific cigarette packs.

Figure 7 shows that 6.7% of current smokers took at
least one of these 4 counteractions in the past 30 days
before implementation of new pictorial health warnings.
The prevalence increased to 20.5% during the transitional
period, and slightly further increased to 22.3% after full
implementation. The difference among these 3 surveys was
statistically significant for all current smokers (p<0.001).
A similar significant increase was observed in both male
(p<0.001) and female (p<0.05) current smokers. Table

Figure 7

Any counteractions* to avoid seeing pictorial
health warnings in the past 30 days
in current smokers
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* See Figure 8, 9, 10 and 11 for specific actions.

Sample sizes (N) refer to the actual number of respondents. Percentages were
weighted by sex and age distribution of current smokers in Hong Kong in 2017
or 2018. Statistical significance was tested by chi-square test. CS: p<0.001; M:
p<0.001; F: p<0.05

TCPS 2017: CS=224; M=183; F=41

TCPS 2018 Wave 1: CS=1,469; M=1,231; F=238

TCPS 2018 Wave 2: CS=1,475; M=1,257; F=218

CS: Current smokers; M: Male current smokers; F: Female current smokers.

6 shows that current smokers (including both male and
female) were more likely to take counteractions during
the transitional period than before implementation.
After full implementation, current smokers were 231%
(95% Cl 104%-437%) more likely to take at least one
counteractions to avoid seeing pictorial warnings than those
before implementation. A similar increase in likelihood
was observed in both male (235%, 95% Cl 89%-507%)
and female (204%, 95% Cl 32%-599%) current smokers.
The results during the transitional period and post-full
implementation were similar.

Figure 8 shows that 1.0% of current smokers covered the
cigarette packs in the past 30 days before implementation
of new pictorial health warnings. The prevalence increased
to 5.9% during the transitional period and remained similar
(6.0%) after full implementation. The difference among
these 3 surveys was statistically significant for all current
smokers (p<0.05). Table 7 shows that current smokers were
around 5 times more likely to cover cigarette packs during
the transitional period and after full implementation, than
before implementation. The results during the transitional
period and post-full implementation were similar.

Figure 8

Covering the cigarette packs in the past 30 days
in current smokers
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Sample sizes (N) refer to the actual number of respondents. Percentages
were weighted by sex and age distribution of current smokers in Hong Kong
in 2017 or 2018. Statistical significance was tested by chi-square test. CS:
p<0.05; M:p=0.06; F: p=0.27

TCPS 2017: CS=224, M=183; F=41

TCPS 2018 Wave 1: CS=1,469; M=1,231; F=238

TCPS 2018 Wave 2: CS=1,475; M=1,257; F=218

CS: Current smokers; M: Male current smokers; F: Female current smokers.



Table 6 Any counteractions to avoid seeing pictorial health warnings in the past 30 days
in current smokers, from pre-implementation to the transitional period and post-full

implementation

Relative Risk [RR] (95% Confidence Interval)

Female current smokers

Transitional period vs.
Pre-implementation

2.74 (1.20-6.26) *

Post-full implementation vs.
Pre-implementation

3.04 (1.32-6.99) **

Post-full implementation vs.
Transitional period

All current smokers Male current smokers
3.06 (1.89-4.96) *** 3.17 (1.77-5.68) ***
3.31(2.04-5.37) *** 3.35(1.89-6.07) ***
1.08 (0.92-1.27) 1.07 (0.89-1.28)

1.11(0.81-1.52)

Weighted by sex and age distribution of current smokers in Hong Kong in 2017 or 2018.

* p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001

Table 7 Covering cigarette packs in the past 30 days in current smokers, from pre-
implementation to the transitional period and post-full implementation

Relative Risk [RR] (95% Confidence Interval)

All current smokers Male current smokers Female current smokers*

Transitional period vs. 6.14 (1.89-19.97) ** 4.32 (1.31-14.20) * N/A
Pre-implementation
Post-full implementation vs.

. . 6.19 (1.90-20.21) ** 4.59 (1.40-15.09) * N/A
Pre-implementation
Post-full implementation vs. | 4 51 (5 75 4 41) 1.06 (0.72-1.58) 0.88 (0.46-1.68)
Transitional period

Weighted by sex and age distribution of current smokers in Hong Kong in 2017 or 2018.
# RR cannot be calculated as no female current smokers covered the cigarette packs in the past 30 days in 2017

* p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001

233




Figure 9 shows that 4.7% of current smokers kept cigarette
packs out of sight before implementation of new pictorial
health warnings. The prevalence increased to 11.5% during
the transitional period and remained similar (10.9%) after
full implementation. The difference among 3 surveys was
statistically significant for all current smokers (p<0.05). Table
8 shows that current smokers were nearly 1.5 times more
likely to keep cigarette packs out of their sights during the
transitional period and after full implementation of new
pictorial health warnings, than before implementation.
The results during the transitional period and post-full
implementation were similar.

Figure 9

Figure 10 shows that 1.7% of current smokers changed
to another cigarette package in the past 30 days before
implementation of new pictorial health warnings. The
prevalence increased to 6.3% during the transitional period
and remained similar (6.6%) after full implementation. The
difference among these 3 surveys was marginally significant
for all current smokers (p=0.07). Table 9 shows that current
smokers were more than 2.5 times more likely to change
to another cigarette package during the transitional period
and after full implementation of new pictorial health
warnings, than before implementation. The results during
the transitional period and post-full implementation were
similar.

Figure 10

Keeping cigarette packs out of sights in the past
30 days in current smokers

Changing to another cigarette package in the past
30 days in current smokers
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Table 8 Keeping cigarette packs out of sight in the past 30 days in current smokers, from
pre-implementation to the transitional period and post-full implementation

Relative Risk [RR] (95% Confidence Interval)

Female current smokers

Transitional period vs.
Pre-implementation

4.94 (1.20-20.38) *

Post-full implementation vs.
Pre-implementation

4.73(1.13-19.83) *

Post-full implementation vs.
Transitional period

All current smokers Male current smokers
2.48 (1.34-4.58) ** 2.16(1.10-4.22) *
2.35(1.27-4.36) ** 2.03 (1.04-3.99) *
0.95 (0.75-1.20) 0.94 (0.72-1.23)

0.96 (0.59-1.56)

Weighted by sex and age distribution of current smokers in Hong Kong in 2017 or 2018.

* p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001

Table 9 Changing to another cigarette package in the past 30 days in current smokers, from
pre-implementation to the transitional period and post-full implementation

Relative Risk [RR] (95% Confidence Interval)

Female current smokers

Transitional period vs.
Pre-implementation

5.46 (0.75-39.85)

Post-full implementation vs.
Pre-implementation

5.75(0.78-42.40)

Post-full implementation vs.
Transitional period

All current smokers Male current smokers
3.69(1.28-10.63) * 3.22(0.94-10.99)
3.83(1.33-11.03) * 3.30(0.97-11.24)
1.04 (0.75-1.43) 1.02 (0.69-1.51)

1.05 (0.60-1.86)

Weighted by sex and age distribution of current smokers in Hong Kong in 2017 or 2018.

* p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001
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Figure 11 shows that 2.5% of current smokers avoided
buying cigarette packs with specific pictorial health
warnings in the past 30 days before implementation of new
pictorial health warnings. The prevalence increased to 7.5%
during the transitional period and further increased to 9.8%
after full implementation. The difference among these 3
surveys was statistically significant for all current smokers
(p<0.001). Table 10 shows that current smokers were
about 2 to 3 times more likely to avoid buying cigarette
packs with specific pictorial health warnings during the
transitional period and post-full implementation than
pre-implementation. The difference between transitional
period and post-full implementation was not statistically
significant.

Figure 11

3.5 Awareness of point-of-sale tobacco displays

Figure 12 shows that before implementation of the new
pictorial health warnings, 64.0% of all respondents (76.4%
of current smokers, 58.4% of ex-smokers and 62.9% of
never smokers) were aware of point-of-sale tobacco displays
(i.e. saw in the past 30 days). The awareness increased to
69.2% during the transitional period and remained similar
(69.3%) after full implementation. A greater increase
was observed in current smokers and ex-smokers than in
never smokers since the transitional period. The difference
among these 3 surveys was statistically significant for all
respondents (p<0.001) and for each smoking status group
(all p<0.05). Table 11 shows that all respondents were 10%
(95% Cl 4%-17%) and current smokers were 19% (95% ClI
10%-28%) more likely to be aware of point-of-sale tobacco
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Table 10 Avoid buying cigarette packs with specific pictorial health warnings in the past
30 days in current smokers, from pre-implementation to the transitional period and post-full

implementation

Relative Risk [RR] (95% Confidence Interval)

All current smokers

Male current smokers Female current smokers

Transitional period vs.

_ * %
Pre-implementation 3.00(1.43-6.29)

3.38(1.34-8.52) * 2.23(0.65-7.61)

Post-full implementation vs.

_ * % %
Pre-implementation 3.88(1.86-8.11)

4.36 (1.74-10.92) ** 2.88(0.84-9.88)

Post-full implementation vs.

Transitional period 1.29(0.99-1.70)

1.29(0.94-1.77) 1.29(0.75-2.22)

Weighted by sex and age distribution of current smokers in Hong Kong in 2017 or 2018.

* p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001

Table 11

Change in awareness of point-of-sale tobacco displays in the past 30 days from

pre-implementation to the transitional period and post-full implementation

Relative Risk [RR] (95% Confidence Interval)

All Current smokers

Ex-smokers Never smokers

Transitional period vs.

Pre-implementation 1.06 (0.99-1.13)

1.05 (0.96-1.15)

1.02 (0.91-1.14) 1.07 (0.99-1.15)

Post-full implementation vs.

_ * %
Pre-implementation 1.10(1.04-1.17)

1.19(1.10-1.28) ***

1.15(1.04-1.28) ** | 1.08 (1.01-1.16) *

Post-full implementation vs.

Transitional period 1.04(0.98-1.10)

1.14 (1.06-1.22) ***

1.13(1.02-1.26) * 1.02 (0.95-1.09)

Weighted by sex, age and smoking status to the 2017 or 2018 Hong Kong population.
* p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001

displays post-full implementation than pre-implementation.
Current smokers were 14% (95% Cl 6%-22%) more likely
to be aware of point-of-sale tobacco displays post-full
implementation than during the transitional period.

4. Discussion

Over one-tenth of respondents had already seen the
new pictorial health warnings during the transitional
period, soon after the new warnings were implemented
in December 2017. These respondents reported that the
majority of the pictorial health warnings they saw were
the new ones. Public awareness of the pictorial health
warnings, regardless of smoking status, increased during
the transitional period (TCPS 2018 Wave 1) and further
increased after full implementation (TCPS 2018 Wave 2).

Pictorial health warnings efficiently disseminate the harms
of smoking to not only smokers but also non-smokers.

Compared with pre-implementation, the proportion of
respondents who thought about the harms of smoking
increased after full implementation. Such an increase was
more prominent in current smokers and ex-smokers. The
results of TCPS 2018 Wave 1 (transitional period) and
Wave 2 (post-full implementation) indicated the short-term
effects of enlarged pictorial health warnings with stronger
images and warning messages. Future TCPSs should
continue to evaluate the longer-term effects. The present
results shall also support other countries and jurisdictions
where proposals on enlarging pictorial health warnings on
cigarette packs are under consideration.

Although more current smokers thought about harms of
smoking after full implementation of new pictorial health
warnings, no substantial increase in thinking about quitting
or holding back from smoking after noticing pictorial health
warnings was observed. This suggests the effectiveness of
new pictorial health warnings in promoting quitting is not
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conclusive. The small sample size might explain. Another
possible reason was that many smokers in Hong Kong, with
the smoking prevalence among the lowest in the developed
world, were hardcore smokers and were reluctant to quit,
even they had thought more about the harms of smoking
after implementation. Further evaluations with a greater
sample size are warranted to assess the effects of new
pictorial health warnings on current smokers.

There was a sharp increase in counteractions of current
smokers to avoid seeing the warnings during the
transitional period (TCPS 2018 Wave 1), followed by a
small increase post-full implementation (TCPS 2018 Wave
2). A possible reason was that nearly half the current
smokers had already seen the new pictorial health warnings
and might have reacted during the transitional period.
The increase in counteractions post-full implementation
was less obvious. A previous study suggested these
counteractions often have the opposite effect of increasing
“unwanted” thoughts, such as thinking about the harms
of smoking, and can increase motivation to quit smoking'".
Investigations on the association of these counteractions
with subsequent quitting behaviours are warranted.

To further reduce the attractiveness of cigarette packs, plain
packaging should also be introduced as recommended by
WHO FCTC Article 11'. At present, nearly 20 countries
have implemented plain packaging (e.g. Australia, France,
Ireland, Thailand, Canada, Singapore and Uruguay) or
passed the law (e.g. Romania)'? 3. Plain packaging means
that all distinctive tobacco brand characteristics including
slogan, logo, colour and promotional elements are not
allowed while only brand names in standardized typeface,
unattractive colour and large health warnings can be used.
Apart from reducing the attractiveness of cigarette packs,
plain packaging may also reduce smokers’ misperceptions
that some cigarette brands are less harmful and increase
the effectiveness of health warnings as the warnings
without the distraction of the logos, etc., would be more
noticeable' 14,

Since the impacts of the same pictorial health warnings will
decrease over time'™ ¢, the HKSAR Government should
consider rotation in due course. FCTC Article 11 suggests
rotation of pictorial health warnings to maintain the effects
of pictorial health warnings'. Rotation every 1 to 2 years
is highly recommended'’. The HKSAR government should
prepare another set of pictorial health warnings and
implement rotation as soon as possible. We also strongly
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recommend that the warnings should include “smoking
kills at least one out of two smokers” to further emphasize
the harms of smoking.

Awareness of point-of-sale tobacco displays in current
smokers remained similar during the transitional period
(TCPS 2018 Wave 1 vs. TCPS 2017), and started to increase
after full implementation (TCPS 2018 Wave 2 vs. TCPS 2018
Wave 1). This might be due to counterbalance measures by
the tobacco industry to reduce smokers’ exposure to the
new pictorial health warnings at point-of-sale of cigarettes.
For example, some shops only display the bottom or top
side of the cigarette packs, which is not covered by the
pictorial health warnings but clearly shows the logos,
colours and designs of the cigarette brands. Glamourous
boxes are also used to display tobacco products. These
measures can attract smokers to use these products'’.
Previous studies found that the removal of point-of-sale
tobacco displays reduces the use of tobacco products
and promotes quitting'® '°. We advocate the HKSAR
Government to consider banning point-of-sale tobacco
displays in accordance with Article 13 of FCTC?, which
has been implemented in Macau since January 2018%'. The
Article affirms that a comprehensive ban on advertising,
promotion and sponsorship, which includes point-of-
sale tobacco displays as a type of sale and distribution
arrangement, would reduce the consumption of tobacco
products??.

To encourage quitting, more effective tobacco control
measures such as a substantial and annual tobacco tax
increase, and further expansion of smoke-free areas
should be implemented. More funding should be allocated
to public education, free smoking cessation services,
development of more effective interventions, and rigorous
evaluation of all tobacco control measures.

5. Limitations

This study had several limitations. First, the term “current
smokers” included both daily and occasional smokers, and
“ex-smokers” included both ex-daily and ex-occasional
smokers. Smoking-related behaviours, perceptions, and
opinions may be different between daily and occasional
users, but distinguishing the two is not an objective of
the current study. Second, all information was collected
by telephone interviews without verification of smoking
status by the interviewer. However, this method can ensure
anonymity that more truthful data might be collected. Third,



the cross-sectional design limited our ability to measure
changes over time in the same group of respondents. A
cohort study or panel survey with longitudinal data would
be better in measuring changes within the same individuals
over time. Finally, all data were self-reported, which may be
subjected to recall bias.

6. Conclusions

Public awareness of pictorial health warnings progressively
increased when the new pictorial health warnings gradually
replaced the old ones. After full implementation, more
current smokers had thought about the harms of smoking,
but the evidence of more current smokers thinking about
quitting or holding back from smoking was not conclusive.
These results show some short-term effects of the new
pictorial health warnings, but also suggest that continuous
evaluation on longer term effects is warranted. To maintain
the effects of pictorial health warnings, the HKSAR
government should prepare a new set of pictorial health
warnings for rotation as soon as possible. The increased
awareness of point-of-sale tobacco displays after full
implementation of new pictorial health warnings might
indicate the tactics of the tobacco industry to counteract
the new warnings and encourage smoking. Hence, a total
ban on the displays is warranted.

7. Other key results of
TCPS 2018 Wave 1 and Wave 2

7.1 Awareness (i.e. had heard of or seen) and ever
use of electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes) and
heat-not-burn (HNB) tobacco products

e Maijority (81.3%) of all respondents (86.9% of current
smokers, 83.2% of ex-smokers and 80.5% of never
smokers) in Wave 1 were aware of e-cigarettes. The
awareness was not assessed in Wave 2.

e Ever e-cigarette use was reported by 3.6% of all
respondents in Wave 1 and 2.9% in Wave 2. In current
smokers, the prevalence of ever use was 25.9% and
27.0%, respectively (in Wave 1 and 2). In ex-smokers,
it was 2.9% and 2.3%, respectively (in Wave 1 and 2).

e Current e-cigarette use (past 30-day use) was reported
by 0.7% of all respondents in both Wave 1 Wave 2.
In current smokers, the prevalence of current use was
5.2% and 6.5%, respectively (in Wave 1 and 2).

7.2

7.3

A quarter (24.5%) of all respondents (43.6% of
current smokers, 23.4% of ex-smokers and 22.3% of
never smokers) in Wave 1 were aware of HNB tobacco
products. The awareness increased to 27.4% in Wave
2 (53.1% of current smokers, 23.3 of ex-smokers and
24.5% of never smokers).

Ever HNB tobacco product use was reported by 1.7%
of all respondents in Wave 1 and 2.5% in Wave 2.
In current smokers, the prevalence of ever use was
14.5% and 24.1%, respectively (in Wave 1 and 2). In
ex-smokers, it was 1.6% and 0.4%, respectively (in
Wave 1 and 2).

Current HNB tobacco product use (past 30-day
use) was reported by 0.7% of all respondents in
Wave 1 and 1.0% in Wave 2. In current smokers
the prevalence of current use was 6.4% and 9.8%,
respectively (in Wave 1 and 2).

Single and multiple tobacco product use in
current smokers in the past 4 weeks

Majority (81.5%) of current smokers in Wave 2
reported they had used only 1 tobacco product in the
past 4 weeks (conventional cigarettes: 76.0%, HNB
tobacco products: 2.3%, e-cigarettes: 1.2% and other
tobacco products: 2.1%). Multiple use in the past 4
weeks was not assessed in Wave 1.

About 13.7% reported they had ever used 2 or more
tobacco products in the past 4 weeks.

The most common combination of use of multiple
tobacco products included “conventional cigarettes
and HNB tobacco products” (4.5%), “conventional
cigarettes and e-cigarettes” (2.8%), “conventional
cigarettes, HNB tobacco products, and e-cigarettes”
(1.6%), and "HNB tobacco products and e-cigarettes”
(0.2%).

Smoking and quitting characteristics of current
smokers

In Wave 1 and Wave 2, current smokers consumed
12.4 (SD 8.3) and 12.7 (SD 8.3) cigarettes per day in
the past 7 days on average, respectively.

Nearly half (46.7% in Wave 1 and 44.9% in Wave 2)
the current smokers smoked the first cigarette within
30 minutes after waking up.
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Half (50.9% in Wave 1 and 54.7% in Wave 2) the
current smokers had no intention to quit using all
forms of tobacco products. Few (18.7% and 15.7% in
Wave 1 and Wave 2) planned to quit within 6 months.

About 13.1% and 13.2% of current smokers
in Wave 1 and Wave 2 had ever used smoking
cessation services. About 20.5% and 19.2% of them,
respectively (in Wave 1 and 2), had ever used smoking
cessation products.

Secondhand smoke (SHS) exposure at home

In all respondents in Wave 1 and Wave 2, about 14.0%
and 14.2% reported SHS exposure at home in the
past 7 days, respectively. Excluding respondents who
reported no SHS exposure at home in the past 7 days,
the average number of days with SHS exposure at
home in the past 7 days was 4.4 and 4.5, respectively (in
Wave 1 and 2).

Raising tobacco tax

Most (81.4% in Wave 1 and 79.6% in Wave 2)
respondents supported the Government to raise
tobacco tax next year, in which 51.6% and 54.2%,
respectively, thought that the increment should be
equivalent to or higher than inflation.

Most (75.6% in Wave 1 and 70.9% in Wave 2)
respondents supported the Government to raise
tobacco tax annually, in which 51.0% and 47.5%,
respectively, thought that the increment should be
equivalent to or higher than inflation.

Tobacco promotion, advertising and sponsorship

More than two-thirds (67.8% in Wave 1 and 70.6%
in Wave 2) thought that point-of-sale tobacco displays
were cigarette advertisements and promotions. Around
two-thirds (66.8% in Wave 1 and 65.0% in Wave 2)
supported a ban on point-of-sale tobacco displays.

Expansion of smoke-free areas

More than 90% of respondents (93.7% in Wave 1 and
96.0% in Wave 2) supported to extend the statutory
smoke-free areas to all public transport stops such
as taxi stands, public light bus stops, bus stops and
tramways stops.

7.8

More than 90% of respondents (94.7% in Wave
1 and 93.7% in Wave 2) supported to totally ban
smoking from queueing lines in public areas.

More than 80% of respondents supported to extend
statutory smoke-free areas to pedestrian walkways
(82.5% in Wave 1 and 83.4% in Wave 2) and busy
streets (84.0% in Wave 1 and 83.1% in Wave 2).

In addition, more than 80% of respondents (85.5% in
Wave 1 and 84.8% in Wave 2) supported to increase
the fines of smoking at smoking-free areas.

Opinion on future tobacco control policies

Majority of all respondents (83.3% in Wave 1 and
79.5% in Wave 2) and current smokers (67.3% in
Wave 1 and 69.3% in Wave 2) supported to increase
the legal age of buying cigarettes from 18 to 21.

Over 90% of all respondents (90.1% in Wave 1 and
92.7% in Wave 2) and over 3 quarters of current
smokers (75.6% in Wave 1 and 83.6% in Wave 2)
supported that only shops with a licence can sell
tobacco products.

Nearly 80% of all respondents (79.0% in Wave 1
and 79.4% in Wave 2) supported to set a cigarette
sale quota that decreased year by year. This measure
was also supported by 47.9% and 39.7% of current
smokers, respectively (in Wave 1 and 2).

Majority (65.9% in Wave 1 and 68.0% in Wave 2) of
all respondents agreed to totally ban smoking when
the smoking prevalence in Hong Kong decreases to 5%
or lower. This measure was also supported by 39.7%
and 34.8% of current smokers, respectively (in Wave
1 and 2).

Majority of all respondents (65.9% in Wave 1 and
70.8% in Wave 2) supported a total ban on the sale of
all forms of tobacco products. This measure was also
supported by 35.5% and 33.1% of current smokers,
respectively (in Wave 1 and 2).

Over two-thirds of all respondents (69.1% in Wave 1
and 72.7% in Wave 2) supported a total ban on using
all forms of tobacco products. This measure was also
supported by 31.8% and 33.6% of current smokers,
respectively (in Wave 1 and 2).
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Appendix: The 12 pictorial health warnings in Hong Kong first introduced on 21
December 2017 and fully implementated on 21 June 2018

Description: Description: Description: Description:
Damaged toes Lung cancer A body at a mortuary A funeral with a portrait of
the deceased young lady

Description: Description: Description: Description:
Burning banknotes A downward curving A man using an oxygen A woman using a
cigarette mask nasogastric tube in hospital
Description: Description: Description: Description:
A wrinkled woman Throat with hole Use of walker An il child
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